TITLE

THE EPISCOPATE OF THE RIGHT REVEREND DAVID ANDERSON,

D.D,y FIRST LORD BISHOP OF RUPERT 'S LAND 1849-18640

Being a thesis submitted to the University of Manitoba
in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of
Master of Arts,

by _
M, P, WILKINSON.

bpril 1950,




CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION
CHAPTER I
BRITISH MISSIONARY ENTERPRISE DURING THE FIRST HALF
OF THE NINETEENTH CENTURY.,
CHAPTER II
THE ESTABLISHMENT, GROWTH AND STATE OF RUPERTYS LAND
MISSIONS PRIOR TO 18L49. '

CHAPTER TIT
THE ESTABLTISHMENT OF THE DIOCESE

CHAPTER IV
THE WORK AT RED RIVER 1849 - 1856,

CHAPTER V ,
THE WORK AT RED RIVER 1856 =~ 186l.

CHAPTER VI
THE WORK OF EXTENSION AND EDUCATION

A - Extension
B = Education

CONCLUSTON

APPENDICES

A - DISTRIBUTION OF THE INDIAN TRIBES OF RUPERT'S
LAND 184k,

B - TABLE OF ORDINATIONS,
C - MAP SHOWING ACTIVITIES OF THE CHURCH OF ENGLAND IN

RUPERTSLAND 18L9 to 186k,



INTRODUCTION

The same year which saw brave men die at Seven
Oaks in one of the bloodiest incidents of the fur war,
marked the birth of the man who was to become the first
Lord Bishop of the new Church of England Diocese of
Rupert's Lend some thirty-five years later.

Dr, David Anderson was born on February 10th,
181/ at Hans Place, London, England. Educated at
Edinburgh Academy, Scotland%and Exeter College, Oxford,
he was ordained deacon in 1837 in the stronghold of
Evangelicalism at Clapham, Surrey, England, .A year
later the same Bishop, John Bird Sumner of the Diocesep
of Chester, ordained him as priest in Durham Cathedral,
Throughout his various appointments, from 1837 to 1849,
a close personal friendship grew up between the brilliant
young curate and his first Diocesan., Bishop Sumner be-
. came Priﬁate in 1848 and when he was ésked to select a
Bishop for the new Diocese of Rupertls Land, which was
about to be created, it was not surprising that he

should think of hig young Evangelical friend,



CHAPTER 1

BRITISH MISSIONARY ENTERPRISE DURING THE FIRST HALF OF

THE NINETEENTH CENTURY

When Dévid Anderson was consecrated in Canterbury Cathedral as
the first Lord Bishoﬁ of Rupert!s Land on the 20th of May 1849, the
sermon preached by the Rev, Henry Venn placed the event in its}true
perspective as one more evidence of the greatest surge of'Protestant

Missionary activity which the world had yet witnessed., The expansion

of Evangelical zeal had been progressing steadily throughout the first half.

of the nineteenth century., For example during the fifteen years from 1835
to 1850'no less than nineteen overseas biéhopri@s of the church of.England
were erécted. This figure contrasted strikingiy with the three overseas
bishopries created during the first fwentybfive years of the century, or
the two which existed when the century began, In 1849 the full tide of Bri-
tish Protestant missionary activity was flowing, In 1800 the world still
stood upon the threshold not only of a great period of colonial and in-
dustrial develdpment, but also of a great period of Protestant missionary
activity and expansion.

By contrast during the French regime Roman Catholic missions had
been_conductedvviéorously in New France'by the missionary orders such as
Franciscans, Jesuits and Recollets, The Jesuits in particular, carried
on their work with extraordinary zeal during the'seventeenth and eighteenth
‘centuries, Their anxiely for new fields carried them into the foremost
rank of explorers on this continent, One of their number, Father Charles-

Michel Mesaiger accompanied La Verendrye when he penetrated to the Red River
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- Valley. Their mediaeval heritage which regarded the Ro@én Catholic

; Churéh és a Wsupra=national' body had never‘experienced any difficulty with

Q respect to the appointment of missionary bishops and the necessary delega-

% tion of authority which must accompany such appointments. Gbnsequently

% when New Ffance fell into British hends in 1763 it did so with complete

i Roman Catholic Ecclesiastical machinery including a bishop at Quebec,

Thé Church Qf England at thiﬁmﬁime was both by law a nd disposition
a national church, The idea of autonoﬁous churches within the episcopal
commumion of the Church of Englaend had no more place in the religious
thought of the British people than had the idea of autonomous nations
within a British Commonwealth in their political thought. Yet §pghwwere
the political ideas which governed thought on religious expansion in the
eighteenth century, Missionary z eal was so non-existent that even the
colonies of the_transplanted Britishers had great difficulty in obtaining
the ministrations of their church, It was difficult to obtain clergy for
eolonial parishes and even where there were clergy, the situation was
unsatisfactory because of the lack of episcopai supervision,
By the nineteenth century ell parishes outside of the British

Isles were generally accepfed as being under the care and jurisdiciitn
of the Bishop of ﬁondon. The origin of this authority is cloaked in
obscurity and seems to have rested on precedent rather than decree,
Cross attributeés the origin of the tradition to "the Stuart policy in-
stigated by Lamdf seeking to extend the Church of England establish-

ments to every part of the known world where the English Government had
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a foothold," While he was Bishop of London, Iamd became aware of serious

rorem sty e,

AT

dgx?g#iong‘gg the part of Englishmen living abroad, from the doctrine and
use of the Church of England at home, His representatioﬁs on the subject
to the Privy Cbuncil resulted in an Order-in~Council dated the lst of
October 1633, which placed theAcommercial and military communities of English=-
men in France and the Netherlands under the jurisdiction of the Bishop of
London as their Diocesan., It was a logical arrangement for in London he would
be in contact with the headquarters of the government and the various com=
mercial companies who maintained these foreign establishments. Five years
lgter Lamd, who was now Archbishop of Canterbury, arranged "to send a

bishop to New England; but, owing to the outbreak of trouble in Scotland,

he was forced to gbandon the design.“2

After the Restoration the preéédent of extra diocesan authority
for the Bishop of London.seems ©o have been‘accepted,over a‘mgch broader
area than originally designated in the order of 1633, "But a precedent
had been established,and, although incomplete, it was probably tﬁe basis
of the tradition which came to connect the name of the Bishgp of Léndon
with the diocesan control of the English colonies in all parts of the

n3

world, in America as elsevhere. As the authority exercised by the

Bishop of London extended over such a vast area it was not surprising

that members of the Church of England living in the Thirteen Colonies

1. Cross, Arthur Lyons - The Anglican Episcopate and the American
Colonies p 12 - 13

2. Thid p 21

3. Tbid p 15



should consider themselves somewhat neglected by their Diocesan,

Théy cast envious glances towards the north where their Roman Cétholic
neighbors were able to make real progress by reason of their having a
bishop at Quebec,

From the Anglican point of view, "The prinecipal reason for
delay was the fear of many colonists that such an establishment would
bring undesirable political effects in its train., Even some Ameriecan
churchmen, particularly those in Virginia, were not in favour of the
project, while Protestant dissent was hotiy opposed to it. b

Though by the conquest of New France, the inclusion of the
colonial Roman Catholic bishoprie of Quebec provi@gqha strong argument
in favour of & similar estaﬁlishment for the Anglicens,in America it
was not until after the separation of the Thirteen Colonies that a
bishop was finally cbnsecrated for Amefica. The Archbishop of Canter-
bury and George 111 were ik favour of such an appointment, but amidst
changing ministries nothing was achieved. It was not wntil British
recognition of American independence by the treaty of September 3rd,
1783 that all cause for hesitation and delay was finally removed in
England, Even then, it was over a year later, November 14th, 1784,
‘before Samuel Seabury was consecrated‘by.non-juring Scottish bishops
in Aberdeen, és Bishop of Connecticut, Three years later "Samuel
Provoost and William White were consecratéd in Lambgth Ghapel,

February 4, 1787, as Bishops of New York and Penné&nyénia respectively.,

Jie Millman, Thomas R. .- Jacob Mountain, First Lord Bigop of
Quebec. p 7-8




Thus the impasse arising from cglonial.dependency upon the bishopric
6f London, aﬁa from other caus;s, was overcom.e."5 Within the year,
~the first colonial bishopric was established and on August 12, 1787,
the R;;efend Charles Inglis was consecrated in Lambeth Chapel as
Bighop of Nova Scotia. The unwieldy size of Bishop Inglis! diocese
soon became apparent and in response to his pleas,on the 28th of
June 1793, the portion of his dioccese kndwn as Quebéc was erected
into a separate See and Jacob Mountain.was désignated as its first
* bishop. |

. Apart €rom the political danger of the near preseﬁce of'reg-
ularly consecrated Anglican bishops in the United States of Americg;
the main reason for the appointment of the first colonial bishop
" seems 1o have been not miséiqgggy but expedigpgy. ‘White society
had reached such a stage of civilized develpment in the new world
as to warrant the necessity of a bishop, This seems to have conw
~ tinued to be,‘apileast pgrtly, the basis for éubsequent appointments,
At the insistence of the Societies and some of the colonial bishops
such as the second Bishop Mountain 6f Quebec, more purely Missionary
bishops came to be appointed,

The Colonial Bishoprics Fund was ‘the chief instrument in

this expa nsion of the conception of the role of the episcopate,
Its origin in 1841 was due mainly to the efforts of Bishop Blomfield
of London. “He,might well do so, as he had received lately a letter
from the far side of British North America complaining of the_little

attention which his Lordship paid to 'this part of his diocgéﬁf;

54 Tbid p 10
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Everything not‘included in'the few existing Colonial dioceses was
part of the diocese of London."6

Meanwhile missionary enterprise in the Church of England was
developing,but largely from sources other ‘than episcopal initiative.
The middle years of the 18th century witnessed the phenomenal rise
and spread of the Wesleyen révival and it was‘9pt qf’Methodism
that the Evangelicals of the Church of Engdand were born, Their
philenthropic zeal lead them into the struggle for the abolition of
slavery. By the time of Wesley's death in 1791; Wilberforce already
was well identified with the anti-slavery campaign. From concern
for the slave and his freedom, interest moved onward to concern for
the spiritual welfaré of the slave in his native land." On April
12th, 1799, there was founded in the Castle and Falcon Hotel,
Aldersgate Street, the Society for Missions to Africa and the Fast,
afterwards known as the Church Missionary Society."7 This society
was thé instrument through which "the Evangelicals taught the
Church of England to be mis'sionary."8

Although the original field for missionary activity was
considered to be Afriga the interests of the Evéngelicals'sdoaﬁéx-
tended to other areas, They coveted the preserves of the East
Ig@ia Company as a field of operations but failed in their initial
attempts to overcome the Company's opposition to missionaries,

.. Nothing daunted,they contrived to have Evangelicadls appointed to

6. Carpenter, S.G. = Church and People 1789-1889 p 431

8, Ibid p 425



the Company's chaplaincies., The chaplains so appointed discharged
theif éfficial duties faithfully;but they also exploited their pogition
to engage in missionary activity among the natives of the country,

When thé Company's charter came up for renewal in 1812 the Evangel-
icals succeeded in having itvamended'so as to provide facilities for
missionaries., By 1814 the Bishopric of Calcutta was founded and the
India mission was farly launchgd. The Baptists were at work in

India also and the name and work of William Carey9 will be honoured
always, by Protestants, as marking the beginhing of the modern era

of Protestant missions,

From Indis the work spread until by the half-way mark in the
century the missions of the Church Missionary Society circled the
globe, "They had revived the missionary spirit in the Church and
persuaded some bishops to risk what seemed a daring innovation and
ordain priests not to officiate in their diocese, but to pfeach
“the Word of God in every part of the globe,"C

The Church Missionary Society ﬁas not alone in British Miss=-
ionary enterprise during the first half of the 19th Century. Wes-
ieyan missions began as early as 1769, though it was not until
1817 that the Wesleyan Missionary Society was founded. The Baptist
Missionary Society had its beginning in 1792 while 1795 gaw the
foundation of the London Missidnary Society, In considering the

difficulty experienced by the Scottish settlers at Red River in

9, William Carey landed in India in 1793.

10. Halevy, Elie - The Age of Peel and Cobden A History of
the English People 1841-1852 p 303




obtaining the services of a clergyman, it is interesting to note that
Aa Scottish Missionary Society was actually founded in 1595,

‘ In addition to these specifically missionary sociefies,the
Society for the Propagation of the Gospel (founded 1701) and the
Society for the Promotion of Christian Knowledge (founded in 1698)
had long been active in colonial areas,although by their charters
they were limited to work among white people., TUnder the stimulus
of the new missionary zeal these older societies showed new life,
and in company with the Religious Tract Society (1799),and the
British and Foreign Bible Society (lSOA),they did great service in
supplying the missionaries with religious literature and translations
of the scriptures. It is interestinglto note that one of the most
expensive‘éifficulties encountered by the Baptists in India was
%héi;‘need of supplying their own special translations of the
scripturés;

"It is certaino.,,.othat the commencement of the §

19th)

B et

century witnessed such an outburst of Missionary z eal as was unlmown
before, quickening into new energy the few Institutions already es?
tablished, and initiating many more whose growth and expansion have
far outstripped the most sanguine anticipations of their founders,

In 1799 the whole amount of English contributions for Foreign Mgssions
did not exceed £10,000 so great was then the general apathy onlthé
subject, Now (1873) the annual receipts in the United Kingdom for

the same object do not fall short of £9OO,OOO."11

11, Church Missionary Society = Church Missionary Atlas 1873 p 7



- "The organizing of the missionary work of the Church of England
"/éuring the whole of the n&neteenth century was performed by the two
gfeat missionary societies, the Soéiety for the Propagation of the
Gospel in Foreign Parta and the Church Missionary Society, and other:
~ smaller associations, For this reason no record of overseas episcopal
‘appointments can desgribe the whole missionary work of the Church.
The labours of the C.M.S. in particular are imperfectly represented
by a catalogue of sees founded and bishops consecra‘bed."l2

During its early days the Church Missionary Society not only
had difficulty in finding men to send as missionaries but also had
even greater difficulty in getlting them ordained. The supply and
training of candidgtes soon resolved itself and resulted in the
founding of the Church Missionary College at Islington in 1825, The
difficulty about ordination was temporarily solved when Bishop Ryder
and Bishop Bathurst joined the Society, They agreed to ordain men
~ at the Committee's request, "accepting as a title the Committee's
‘agreement to employ themo"l3 The Archbishop of York occasionally
ordained under similar arrangem;nts, but strictly speaking neither
he nor any other bishop had any legal sanction for doing so, Finally
on the 2nd of July 1819>aﬁb Act (59G.3.C.60)was passed "bo permit
the Archibshops of Canterbury and York, and the Bishop of TLondon,
for the time being, to admit Persons into Holy Orders specially for
the Colonies." Such an arrangement considerably eased the problem

of supplying men for the Society'!s missions,

12, Carpenter - Ghuréh and People p 427-8

13, Stock, Eugene ~ History of the Church Missionary Society
vele D 245

%
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The Church Missionary Society began its actuwal mission work in

1804 with the sending of two missionaries to West Africa., Ten years

later the Society began éperations in South Indian and New Zealand,

The following year the Society was at work in North India and‘the Med-

iterranean, Ceylon, Western India,and North West America, that is the

Hudsonls Bay Company?®s territory of Rupert's Land, were successiﬁely

occupied in 1818, 1820 and 1822, Work began in the West Indies in 1826,
and in South Africa in 1837, at which time missionary zeal felt the pinch
of financial reality, "The result, especially of the West Indies Mission,
was speedy finaneial embarrassment; and this culminated in a serious crisis
in l81;1—-'2—-------—------.."l’4 The necessary retrenchment to aveid complete ruin
involved abandonment of much of the most recent works

»By drastic measures the debt was soon paid and a sound financial

policy placed the future work on a firm footing., Many of the stationms,
which it was at first thought necessary to abandon, did net have to be
given up, and by 18Ll the work was again extended to new fields, In that
year the Society began work in East India, Yoruba, and China. Various
attempts had been made previcusly to establish missions in China but it was not
until the treaty which ended the Opium War in 1842, that the doors were opened
to Christian missionaries. Japan's doors remained closed even longer and
more tightly until Commodore Perrj's famous treaty of 1854 pried them open
to intercourse bgtweeﬁ Europe and Japan. It was not until 1869 that the
Church Missionary Society began opérating in Japan., The restored financial

position also enabled the Church Missionary Society to confirm the missionary

1h, Ibid v.ls p LB2



work already begun in North West America by aiding in the establish~
ment of the Bishopric of Rupert!s Land in 1849,

The new See comprised ali of that portion of the North American
Continent contained in the original grant of Rupert'!s Land to the
Honorable Hudson's Bay Company. The t%%ms of reference in the Patent
as to the size of the new diocese were quoted more or less directly
from the original charter of the Hudson!s Bay Company. The new diocese
was defined as comprising "all the Lands and Territories upon the
Countries, Coast and Confines of the Seas, Bays, Lakes, Rivers, Creeks

and Sounds in Whatsoever Latitude they shall be that lie within the
entrance of the Straits commonly called Hudsonls Straits that were not
élready actually possessed by the subjects of any other Christian
prince or state."l5

The origihal grant of Rupert?!s Land had since been limited
on its southern extremity by the Convention of 1818 which established
the Lj9th parallel of latitude as the international boundary from the
south-west tip of the Lake of the Woods to the Rocky Mountains, Even
with this limitation, if the definition of the diocese was interpreted
strictly it is a vast territory. But in point of fact it was inter-
prreted rather loosely. Indeed we shall find Bishop Anderson apparently
thinking of his diccese not only in terms of its geographical definition
but also in terms of all those areas into which the fur trade had pen-

etrated. This added to his diocese

15 Patent Rolls 12 Victoria part 26 number 3
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practically the whole of what are now known as the Yukon and the
North-West Territories and pushed its boundaries to within the Arctic
circle. Such an extension of the diocese was justified on the'grounds
of legitimate responsibility to the servants of the fur company which
maintained one Church of Englaﬁd clergymen at Red River as its Chaplain
and wﬁich also baid almost half of the salary of the new Bishop, as
well as giving allowances to several other clergj who acted as part
time chaplains in other parts of the territory.
The Bishop's eyes also turned westward to the shores of the
Pacific whither the fur trade had reached dﬁring the turbulent years
of the fur trade wars. When Bighop Anderson delivered his first
Episcopal Charge in his own diocese in 1851 there was already one
Church of Englandvclergyman located at Vancouver. In 1857 the Church
Missionary Society sent out a new miésionary who began work among
the Indians in the neighbofhood of Fort Simpson on the Pacific Coast,
Bishop Anderson's uneasy sénse of respoﬁsibility was finélly relieved
when the.new Diocese of Columbia was set up in 1859, In his charge
of 1860 he said, "The uncertainty regarding the extent of our juris-
diction has been removed, our boundary is now marked and definite
aﬁd ‘the Rocky'Mountaiqs would limit our view in looking towards the
Pacific,m0
Rupertt!s Land was divided geographically into three‘fairly
distinct areas, each with its own characﬁeristics which governed the
lives of the inhabitants. Since the whcle'area used to be known as

North-West America, A.S. Morton has very aptly called this sub-division

16. Bishop David Anderson = Fourth Triennial Charge
6 January 1860.
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' tthe three North-Wests."

The most familiar of these areas is the prairie North-West
bounded by the International Boundary, the Rocky Mountains, and the
forest belt which ran in a north-west direction from the Lake of the
Woods to the Rocky Mountains, This triangle possesses a climate
which varies but little from the forest belt to the north of it.
But however slight these differences in wind and moisture may be
they afe the reasons why it is‘an area where ﬁrees do not grow nat-.
urally, while the grasses thrive,

As already indicated, the next North-West is a broad forest
belt "running north of the Laurentians and from Lake Superior and
the Lake of the Woods Nprthrwestward glong the upper edge of the
valley of the Assiniboine to Mackenzie River and the Rockies, Its
ground formation is mostly rockyﬁ17 In climatd it is blessed with
less persistent winds, and slightly higher and much more evenly
distributed precipitation, all of which is conducive to forest,

To the north the forest belt gradually tapers off into
stﬁnted trees, leaving bare first the hilltops, then the hillsides
and finally the river banks until the true Barren Grounds are
reached. This thinning out begins roughly on a line following
the watershed of the Churchill and Mackenzie Rivers., It is so
far north,and the warm period is so short,that the ground thaws
to too little depth to enable trees to grow, For a short period
it is covered with flowers, grasses, and herbs, but for a much

longer period it is a frozen waste, blanketed with snow and ice,

17, Morton, A. S. - A History of the Canadian West to 1870-71. p.R2
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, The tﬁ}ee NorthJWéS£é, have qui?eﬂ?i}ﬁinct climates. The
differences in predipitaidn ggsult in'distincﬁ plant 1life variations,
which ip turn support different-types of animal life upon which
depend‘the poss@bilities of human exlstence, The Barren Grounds,
for instance; were visited in the summer months byhmigratory birds
and animals such as the geese and cafibou, but were practically
deserted in winter. Since thése animals and birds provided man's
means of subsistence he adapted his habits to those of the animals
a nd birds and migrated with them, ‘ .

In the Forest Belt the moose prgvided the staple itém of
food snd by somewhat more stationary habits resulted in a more
stationary human population., Other animals were also hunted for
food and’pelts but in these northern regions the means of subsis-
tence were all such as dictated a highly individualistic type of
existence., It wgs only the occasional caribou hunt or the still
rarer Indian war that brought together any assembly larger than
the family unit., Larger groups simply could not be supported on
such a precarious food supply.

The introduction of the white man's guns and metal axes
and knives made the Indian's hunting much easier but coﬁld not
increase the supply of game, 'Though the actual killing of game
became easier the supply remained preearious and the population
scattered,

Compared +0 the uncertain existence of the inhabitants of

the Barren Grounds and the Forest Bely, the Plain Indians lived
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a life of comparative ease. Here the spacious grass lands supported
large herds of buffalo and red deer whidh»provided a plentiful
supply of food. By contrast with the solitary family life of
their northern neighbors the inhabitants.of the plains often formed
themselves into large damps, living and hunting together over a con-
siderable portion of the year., Tribal organizgtion with recognized
heads or chiefs naturally arose. The chiefs acted as leaders prim-
arily in matters of peace such as the buffalo hunt, although tribal
- wars were a frequent occurrence of the plains, The coming of the
white man with his weapons made 1ittle difference to the huntbfor
the Indian sooﬁ discovered that the noise of the weapons stampeded
the buffaioal As a result buffalo were stalked and killed by arrows,
long after guns were introduced. Butl guns did meke rather formidable
enemies out of the larger bands of the Plain Indians and it was not
without reason that the settlers feared the bands of marauding Sioux.
The white man's weapons in the North-West, as in Eaétern éanada,
resulted in a redistribution of the northern Indian tribes, Those
tribes which first contacted the fur traders and from them obtained
guns, subjugated and drove out their neighbors sometime during the
eighteenth ceﬁtury in order to obtain possession of the rich beaver
hunting grounds. The Crees were the original aggressors and were
’probably imitated 1ater by the Chipewyans driving the hapless Bénélg
tribes before then,

On the extreme northern fringe of the continent from Labrador

18, Also spelled Tinne', D'tinne etec., a branch of the
Athapaskan stock, o



to the Behrihg Straits were found the Eskimos. Thelr numbers were
small, probably about four thousand, but again the same factor of a
precarious food supply resulted in them being scattered over a very
wide area. Despite this dispersion their habits and language
varied but slightly and preéented quite a homogeneous picture by
comparison with the other aboriginal inhabitants of this continent.

The Indian population of the Diocese was variously estimated
at from sixty to eighty thousand. This pOpulation was divided into
two main families the:ﬁigonquins and the Dé@é@ or Athapascans., In
“general terms the Déﬁés comprising the Chipewyans, Nahenney, Slave,
Hare, Dog Rib and Loucheux (Squint Eyes) Indians were to be found
north of the English or Churchill River, while to the south were
mostly the Algonquins to which family bélohged the Crees, Saxlitewsy,
Ojibeways and Chippeways. |

” The difficulties of making contact and of ministering to

such a diverse and widely spread population were many., The difficulties
of climate and susténance applied equally to the native Indian and to
the missionaryﬁwith the balance probably in favor of the more exper-
ienced Indian., The noﬁadic existence led by all the tribes in Rupert's
Tand forced the missionaries either to cbnférm to such a habit‘or else
to attempt the task of civilizing and conﬁerting the Indian to a more
gedentary form of life., For the most part Protestant missionaries
chose the latter course and the tasks of civilizing and evangelizing
the Indian went hand in hand. This was a neceséary combination for
the task of civilizing the Indians was so tedious and discouraging

that it required not only all the prudence and energy of which the

16,



director was capable but also all the faith and devotion which kept
the missionary at his task, To add to the difficulties‘no relisble
cereal crops had as yetl been'develbped in Rupert'é Land; and the
necessary farm implements were both expensive and difficult to
obtain. Even when the Indians were willihg ﬁo learn the arts and
crafts of civilized life,the age old héritage of an improvident life
had to be overcome before they éould make real progress through the
proper use of those arté andvcrafts. After aimosttwenty years ex=
perience at the task Rev, William Cockran wrote, "The careless, ex-
travagant habit of the Indian race deprives them of the means of
providing for winter, or for sickness, or for the wants of an in-
creasing family, or for old age.......Even when the Ihdian has em-
braced Christianity, and adopted the same course of life with the
civilized man, as far asbhis capacilty enables him to do so, a
greater amount of evil falls upon him, through his negligence,
than happens to the White man."19

In addition to these difficulties there was the problem of
language., Bishop Mountain's summary gives some idea of the great
variety of dialects and actually different languages spoken in
Rupertts Land, Prior to the work of Evans on the Cree syllabics
at Norway House,the Indians of Rupertls Land werewwithout any liter-
sture of their own, AL other Linguistic studies such as Howse's

Cree Grammar, seem to have attempted to write the Indian languages

19. The Church Missionary Intelligencer, A Monthy Journal of
Missionary Intelligence = December 1849 p.34.
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with the English alphabet. Apart from the Cree, all the other native
languages of the diocese in 1849 appear to have still awaited re-
duction to writing. WhenAthis task was accomplished; books had to

be translated and printed., The Indians had then to be tauéht to read.
and write their own language, and also to value these accomplishments.
In his Primary Charge to his diocesé in December 1851 Bishop Anderson
said of the Indian that "He had to learn the value of é book.esssns

of any’book, and ‘then he will come to look as he ought on the book

of God.“zo

Apart from the scattered encampments of Indians the white and
half-breed population of Rupert!s Land was found here énd there, in
and around the Company's forts. The only community in the whole
area which could make any pretense of being a centre of civilization
was the straggling Red River Settlement, In 1849 this Settlement was
enjoying the greatest period of prosperity in its brief history, but
it was still virtually isolated from the rest of the world. It still
depended almost entirely for its contacts with the outside world upon
the Montreal packet and the Hudson's Bay Company's ships to York Fort.

The origin of this Settlement is too well lmown to require
detailéd description here, Lord Selkirk's conception of a colonization
scheme in the Red River Valley coineided with a scheme for the reorgan-
ization of the Hudson's Bay Company to meet the growing threat of the
North West Fur Gompany. ‘A.colpny on the Red River became part of the

scheme of reorganization. Its purpose from the Company's point of

20, Bishop David Anderson = Primary Charge December 1851  p.34




view was to provide a source of cheap supplies within the country
and also at a future date to provide a supply of labour. The colony
was first established in 1812 and launched upon its stormy career.
During its first eight years it was‘almost exterminated by the fierce
hostility of the North West Compeny, The #ltimate umion of the rival
companies in 1821 not only brought peace from that quarter but also

a great influx of fur traders, who were now retired ss unnecessary
to the profitable pursuit of the trade, and their families, Many of
these people with their half-breed families had already been gravita=
ting towards the colony as they retired from the fur trgdeo The
Hudson's Bay Company had made it one of the coﬁditions of the Sel=-
‘kirk grant that retiring servants of the Company should be able to
take up land and settle in the Colony, The Montreal influence was
seen in those traders who retired after service with the North West
Company and brqught with them their French language apd their Roman
Catholic faith.

The original Scottish Crofters of the Selkirk scheme were
industrious farmers whose principal aim was to achieve comfort and
security by farming. The newer influx of population was more accust-

“omed to the wandering life of theyfur trader and the mmter. Farming
was little suited to their tastes still less to the tastes of the
‘half-breeds, From their Indian ancestry the Metis, or half-breed,

inherited their love of the chase, the buffalo hunt, The Settlement

merely provided a home base for operations from which to sally forth
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to the hunt. Others of thenm reiied prineipally upon fishing being too
‘poor to be able to equip themselves to'take'part in the buffalo hunt.
g In general the Metis remained a semi-nomadic people until the buffalo
finally, in the 70's, disappeared from the plains. Such a group com=
prising about half of the population‘of the Settlement, constituted

a turbulent and disquieting influence for many years.
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APPENDIX TO CHAPTER 1.
Appendix A,

Bishop Mountain recorded the approximate distribution of

the Indian tribes at this time in his Journal of 1844:-

"Mackenq;e‘s'River District -
The Copper Indians: .
Inhabiting the country about this river.
ThevLouéheux or Quarrellers:
The Hare Indianst
The Dog-rib Indians:
The Strong~bow Indians:
Inhabiting Mackenzie's River, and its neighbourhood and
speaking different languages.

Athabasca and Isle a la Crosse Districts -

The Chipewyans, and a few of the Cree Tribe:
Inhabiting the Country surrounding this Lake and between
it and Isle a la Crosse District,

Peace River Digtrict =

The Beaver Indians and a few Samteux from the Rainy Lake:
Inhabiting both sides of this River and speaking a
langusge different from that of the Chipewyans of

Athabasca.

Lower Part of the Ssskatchewan Disﬁr;gi -
The Stone Indians, or Assiniboinss

The Crees:

The Santeux or Ogibwgs:

These three tribes are constantly at variance with

‘the Black-feet, and the whole eight depend upon the
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chase for subsistence. They - i.e. the three Tribes - extend
their habitations also to the upper part of the Red River and

of Swan River

Upper Part of the Saskatchewan District =-

The Black=feet propers:

The Blood Indians:

The Pieganss

The Fall Indianss

The Surcies:
All these five Tribes are generally termed Black-feet,
although they speak different languages,rand have

different customs and menners.

Lower part of Swan River District -

Mis=-Kee~-Goose or Swampy Indians:
These also extend along the sea~coast to James's Bay.,
They evidently spring from the Crees as thelir language
is only a dialect of the Cree, There is said to be a
mixture of theShﬁaﬂeux in their origin.

Churchill District -

Esquimauxs

Chipewyans, and a few Swamp Indians:

Inhabiting the country to the North of Churchill.®



CHAPTER II

ESTABLISHVENT, GROWTH AND STATE OF RUPERT'S LAND

MISSIONS BEFORE 1849,

Prior to the British conquest of New France, French explorers
and fur traders from Montreal had penetrated to the valleys of the
Red and Assiniboine Rivers while the Hudson's Bay Company contented
itself with the more northerly regions aﬁd the shores of the Bay, A4t
this period and for many yéars afterwards the Hudson's Bay_Company re=
ceived most of its supplies by water via the Bay from England. The
British conguest removed their French rivals from competition and also
removed, for a time, the necessity of doing anything about such an
enggi?ﬁe way of supplying the trade. :

| This period of umrivalled monopoly was destined to be short-

lived, A group of merchants, largely Scottish, in Montreal soon re-
opened ‘the over-land route and competition began again in earnest,
Opérating over a more‘expéns;ve supply route the North-West Fur
Company depended for its success upon a more closely knit organizatién
and a more economical source of supplies. _Ampng other things this
meant living off tﬁébéoﬁntry by means of pemmican supplied from the
buffalo hunt of the plains, Fort Gibraltar at the forks of the Red
and Assiniboipe Rivers became a control boint for the supply of this
aluable food,

In the course of fostering and organizing the Indian buffalo
hunt many unions were formed by the men of Montreal with the Indian

‘ custom of the

women, Such unions M“according to th%/country" were a common OCCurI=

ence in the fur tradéyand a considerable collection of half-breed off=
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spring ofbthese unions was to be found around most of the trading
establishments in the land. The Nor;Westers were more dependent
than their rivals upon the supply of pemgican, and to that end they‘
kept a larger establishment in the Red River area,

Prior to 1820 the majority of the Red River Metis, as they
were called, were of Montreal and hence Roman Catholic ancestry,
Even with the establishment of the Selklrk Settlement this earlier
group of Metis and freemen from Lower Cznada made up the majority of
the population.l Since most of them were Roman Catholic and meny of
them had been of real help to the ill-starred colonists, some of
whom were themselves Roman Gatholic,.it was natural that Lord Selkirk
should heed their wishes and arrange for Bishop Plessis to send a
priest to Red River in 1818,

| Negotiations for the establishment of this mission had begun

several years before. In a letter to Bishop Plessis of Quebec on
Apfil 4th, 1816, Lord Selkirk referred to a conversation between
Miles McDonnell and the Bishop in 1815 in which the fofmgr had ré—

- quested the services of a priest for the Red River Metis,2 Lord
Selkirk advised the Bishop that in order to achieve any good with
‘these nomadic semi-barbarous people, a resident priest was nedessary.
He was evidently concerned about the safety of his Scottish settlers

and thought that the services of the Church might be effective in

1. Giraud, Marcel - Le Metis Canadien, Son role damns l'hlst01re
’ -des prov1nces de 110uest, P 704 and ff.

2e Nute, Grace Lee - Documents Rélating to Northwest Missions
1815 - 1827. p 6,
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.controlling the turbulent Metis. After much urging b& John Pritchard,
the Metis requested him to draw up a petition to Bishop Plessis re=
‘questing "that a priest might be sent among them to give Instructions."3

The result was that in 1818 two priests, Father Provencher and
Father Dumoulin; together with a few French-Canadian families arrived
in-the Red River Valley and settled on the site of the present day
St, Boniface, The Metis, however, preferred Pembina as being closer
to the haunts of the buffalo, and thither the Church followed them,
Father Dumoulin extended the work there by esﬁablishing a station at
Rainy Lake until he was forced to give up Pembina by the decision of
the Hudson's Bay Company to witﬁdraw from‘ﬁhat area in 1821,

"In 1822 Provencher was consecrated Bishop of Juliopolis in
partibug infidelium, énd invesﬁed as auxiliary to the Bishop of
Qu.ebéc..;."A He continued as such until 1844 when the Holy See erect-
ed Rupert's Land as the separate See of the North-West and Provencher
became its first Bishop. 'buring the years 1822 to 1844 Provencher
‘was assisted at various times by no less than twelve different priests
varying in number from two to five present in any one year,

After the formal separation of the North-West from the
Diocese of Quebec the Roman Catﬁolics began their greatest practical
efforts to Ghristianize the mass of tbe_Indians in Rupert's Land,

Provencher was now thrown more than ewer on his own resources and

3 Ibid p L

Lo Hargrave, J.J, =~ Red River. p 128.



appealed for help to the order of the "Oblats de Marie 1fTmmaculeet
which had recently established itself in Canada, In 1845 they re~
sponded to Provencher's appeal and entered thé field of the Northe
West., One of the first two Oblates to arrive was Alexander Tache who
later succeeded Provencher in 1853 as ﬁighop of St. Boniface,

Mission stations were begun at St.-Anne on the Saskatchewan
River in 1843, and at Red Deer Lake and Ile a la Crosse in the English
River District in 1845. The Oblates built stations in various parts
of the country but their main work with the Indians was done by
travelling with them and living with them in their wigwans,

In the matter of ecclesiastical organization the Roman Catholics
kept pace with the spread éf their missionary activities, From 1844
to 1850 Provencher acted alone as Bishop of the NorthQWest. In the
year 1850 Father Tache was appointed as coadjutor with the title
of Bishop of Arath, A year later the name and title of the dioceée
was altered from that of the North;west to that of Saint Boniface,
Until the death of Provencher in 1853, Bishop Tache resided chiefly
at Ile a la Crosse and exercised supervision over the northern portion
of the diocese., Bishop Tache then moved to Saint Boniface and in
- 1857 Father Grahdip became coadjutor and moved from Portage la Loche
4o Ile a la Crosse. Shortly afterward Bishop Tache-appéaied for the
division of his diocese and in May11862 Rome agreed ‘o constitute
the Athabasca and Mackenzie River districts ag an Apostolic‘Vicaria'be°
Father Farand became its first Bishop and took up his residence at

4
Portage la Loche,
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Roman Catholic educational actiﬁity received a great impetus

. by the arrival of a party of Grey Nuns in 1844. They did much good
work in raising the conditions of the Melis women and girls in the
Settlement., The priests achieved great success among the Indians by
acconmpanying the Metis when they joined the buffalo hunt. The erratic
and individualistiq/gZ§22;rt made several attempts to found Indian
settlements but despite his not inconsiderable influence he was un-
successful and finally withdrew to the United States,

The Roman Catholic mission did prove to be a real ameliorating
influence in Rupert's Land and particularly among the Metis population
of the Red Rivér;?alley. Much of the Metis turbulence was curbed
undér the steadyiﬁg influence of Bishop Provencher and his successor
Bishop Taché; and Sir George Simpson frequently paid tribute to the
energy they displayed in their work. ’

According tokAlexander Ross’ neither the philanthropic Selkirk
nor his Scottish settlers were unmindful of ﬁhe claims of érotestant-
ism in the new land, but there seems to be considerable obscurity as
to the exact nature of the arrangements made in this regard., It is
authenticated from other sources that in 1815 James Sutherland came
out with the last party of Scoftish settlers as a Presbyterian elder,

legally appointed and authorized to perform marriages, baptisms and
funerals, It is interesting that in the papers and biography of the
young Presbyterian theologiéal student, Mr., Sage, mentioned by Ross as

having been engsged by Selkirk tougome4out to Red River, there is not

5e Ross, Alexander - The Red River Settlement. p 30.




the slightest mention of any such remarkable undertaking, It would
seem that Sage had gone backvqn his word and hence the lack of
reference to the arréngements@ |

The attention ofvﬁhe Society for Missions to Africa and the
East, better known as the Church Missionary Society, was first
directed towards Indian missions in North America by a certain
John Johnston of Upper Canada. In 1810 he urged the Society to send
out a man to be ordained by the Bishop of Quebec to work as a mission-
ary‘among the Ojibway tribe on Lake Superior., Upon inquiry it was
found thalt Bishop Jacob Mountain declined to take part in such a
scheme and the matter was dropped. & further proposal to the Society
came in 1819 from a member of the North-West Fur Company "to establish
anission'among the Indians beyond the Rocky Mountains, in what is
now British Golumbia."6 But after an undertaking by the Committee of
the Society to obtain further information nothing more was heérd of
the project,

Meanwhile the cause of Protestant missions in North-West America
was not without its advocates elsewhere, It was the genius of the
Wesleyan and Evangelical revivals that they brought a living religion
into the lives of the laity. Though they were led by a devoted and

vigorous body of clergy thelir real strength lay in their following
of equally devoted and vigorous laymen, It was not surprising there-

fore that their influence should be felt in all phases of society.

6. Stock, E, - History of the C.M.S. Vol po24b
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'I"he London Coﬁmﬁ.t‘bee of the Hudson's Bay Company was no exception,and
early in the nineteenth century it numbered among its membership
several men who were s’brongly imbued with the humanitarianism of the
age, Most prominent among these were Nicholas Garry, who was a
member of the British and Foreign Bible Society and became Deputy -
Governor of the Company in 1822; Andrew Colvile + Lord Selkirk!s
brother-in-law and founder of the Royal Mail Steamship Line, who was
the moving spirit of the London Commititee g end Benjamin Harrison, a
member of the Clapham Sect who had been on the Committee from 1809,7
& Minute of Council dated lst February 1815, records the first
suggestion in_Hudsqn's Bay Company circles of a Protestant mission in
Rupertl!s La.nd.8 This apparently was the attempt by Harrison "to inter-
est a missionary society devoted to work among the American Indians to
undertake a mission in Rupert!s Land."” The following year the
Committee made inquiries of Governor Semple as to his opinions on
the possibilities of civilizing and converting the native Indians to
Chris‘cia:ni‘by. He apparently urged the appointment of a Church of
England clergyman as less likely to come into conflict with the large

group of Roman Catholics in the Settlement,10

7o Morton, A.S. - Can, West. p 631
8 Giraud - Le Metis, p 705
%% Morton, A.S, - Can, West. p 631

10, Giraud - Le Metis. p 705
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Another Minute of Council dated 13th October 1819, reveals
that the London Committee finally followed Governor Semple's advice
| and appointed as its chaplain at Red River the Rev. John West, at the
time 3“ curate of Wh:_l’ce Roding Essex and an ac‘oive member of the Church
Missionary 'Sociefby,ll The concern of the Company was for ’che wel-
fare of its employees and theix_' numerous half-breed offspring to be
found around its various posts. But West trod in the footsteps of
that earlier generation of chaplains to ’th‘e‘ East India Company, and saw
the missionary possibilities of his new post, M"Desirous of bemefitting
the heathen also, he offered his services to the Church Missionary
Society, with a view of establishing schools for the Indians, and that
Society provided him with £100 to make a trial,nl2

In 1821,West wrote to the .Socie’by proposing that they establish
a regular Mission at Red River, Nicholas Garry and Benjamin Harrisqn
attended v’ohe meeting of the Committee in support of West's proposal,
The result was that 'the Society appointed West as its missionary in
01822, It was decided fo send out a schoolmaster, and_a.n assistant for
West, and the sum of £800 was voted to cover expenses, |

Upon his arrival at Tork Factory in 1820, West was struck with
the plight of the half-breed éhildren around the post. Probably at
the instigaﬁion of Henry Pelly, who became a -member of the Committee

in 1806, the Company had sent out seweral schoolmasters about that

11, Stock, E, - History of the C.M.8. V.l 1p.246

12, ﬁPascoe, C.F. - Classified Digest of the Records of the Society

for the Propagation of the Gospel in Forei
Parts 1701 - 1892, p 177
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time to seek to ameliorate the condition of these children by means
of education. Unfortunateiy the fur tradé‘was more remunerative than
‘teaching,and the schoolmasters sooﬁ became "diverted from their
original purpose.“l3 West therefore drew up a plan, for a resident-
ial school for these children, which he submitted to the Committee,
This particular scheme was probably shelved by the Company in view
of the establishment of a regular Mission by the Ghurdh Missionary
Socie@y, in whose methods of opefation schools occupied a prominent
place, vEeliy's interest in education continued to be felt in the
Company's policy of supporting schools, which Simpson opgply
attributes to him,4 |

With respect to his own responsibility to the Church Missionary
Society as regardé the native Indians, West felt it incumbent upon
him tq»prove his point as to the pragticability of a residential
schools "I had to establish the prineciple, that the North-American
Indian of ﬁhese regions would part with his children io be educated
inxﬂhite man's knowledge and religion.?15 He was so far success-
ful in his purpose that ere he left York Factory on his way to Red Riwer

in 1820 he had persuaded a Swampy Cree Indian named Withaweecapo to

13, West, Joln M,A. =~ The Substence of a Journal during a residence
at the Red River Golony, British North
America; and freguent excursions among the
North=West American Indians, in the _years
1820, 1821, 1822, 1823. P 13,

1. Morton, A.S. - Sir George Simpson. p 70.

15, West - Journsl, ©p lie
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entrust him with the care and education of one of his sons.- This

boy was later baptized by West with the neme of John Hope., In later
years, while in the service of the Hudson's Bey Company this ssme John
Hope was instrumental in inducihg the Church Missionary Society to
extend its work to Nepowewin,

A second Indian boy was “obtained“ on the same journey during
the stop at Norway House., After some two years of instruction this
boy became one of the first two fuli-blooded Indians to be baptized
by West in 1822, He was given the name of West's former rector, Henry
Budd., On leaving the school Budd entered the service of the Hudson's
Bay Company until 1837 when he returned to Red River intending to settle
at the rapids. Rev¢)?2£es promptly employed him as a school teacher at
the Upper Mission, Three years later in response to a call from the
Indians at Cumberland he was sent thither by the Church Missionary
Socigty as a missionary catechist and school teacher, He corresponded
with his nemesake in England and from him received the gift of various
religious books,l6 He evidently put these to good use for in 1851 he
became the first full-blooded Indian to be ordained by Bishop Anderson.

Two other Indian pupils belonging to West!s school contributed
to the later development of the Rupert's Land Mission, Charles Pratt

labored as a catechist at Fort Pelly, the most westerly point on the

plains to be reached by the Anglican missionaries during the period

16, Memoir of the Rev, Henry Budd, M.A., an autobiography. p 541




under consideration, James Settee also labored as a catechist at
Lac la Ronge and other points,and was later ordained by.Bishop
Anderson, ‘

While the Indian children were West!s particular charge and
careshe did noty himself,act as their school teacher. A certain Mr,
Harbidge, who came out with West, was schoolmaster. Soon after his
arrival in the Settlement, West "got a log-house repaired about three
miles below the Fort (Douglas) among the Scotch population, where the
schoolmaster took up his abode and began teaching from 20 to 25 of the
children L7 With the help of the Scotch population,West set about the
buldding of a large log house, in the summer of 1821, to act as a
combined school and church, as well as to provide living quarters for
the teacher and stﬁdents. Winter set in before the building was com-
pleted, and Harbridge spent the winter with the Indian boys at the
Post which formerly belonged to the North-West Company."18 These
buildings, located at the forks of the rivers; were evidently used
also as the Protestant places of worship during this winter for West
observed that the mmber of scholars and worshippers was reduced at this
time,owing to the distance from the Protestant settlements,!? The build-
ing was completed the following summer and the first of a long line of
schools and churches on the site of the present St. Johnié Cathedral

began operationy, Two houses were later added as residences for the

17. West - Journal, p 21
18, ibid. p 71

19,  Ibid.
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boys and girls,

West himself seems to have acted in a supervisory capacity with re-
éard to the school,although the Indian éhildren remained under his_personal
care and instruction, Several times he speaks of visiting the school and
questioning the pupils on various points to test their progress, Courses
- of instruction seem to have been necessarily rudimentary,consisting chiefly

of the three "R's® combined with a liberal portion of Bible and Church
teaching., On Sunday, May 20th 1821, West speaks of a church service at
which the children from the school were present for examination, The
nature of their instruction may be judged from the gquestions for the
examination,which were drawn from "Chief Truths of the Christian Religion®
and "Lewis! Catechism"g
Compared Wibﬁfhis ambitious plans,West!s achievements in education

Were modest. But they were real,and by the time he returned to England
in 1823,the Colony possessed a boy!s school, and a school for daughters
of Hudson's Bay Company employees, augmented by an establishment destined
for native girlsozo

In the realm of religion and morals West met with a cold reception
by the Scottish settlers, His hopes of willing co-operation in building
a church were disappointed’as he put iﬁ%"through their prejudices against
the English Liturgy, and the simple riteé of our communion."21 On the
other hand, West's uncompromising ihsitence upon the same Liturgy was

scarcely calculated to woo the sympathies of the Presbyterian members of

20. Giraud - Le Metis p. 706

2l. West - Journal p. 26



his flock, "He steadily adhered to the ritual of his church, and, in it,
the Scotch could see no spirituality, nor belive that they could receive
any edification from such forms; besides we must remember that the
English language was to them a foreign tongueo"22 Tt might also be
added that English was a foreign tongue to the“Swiss and Des Meurons
Settlers,as well as tovmany of the Metis, who usually preferred the
maternal,rather than the paternal language. Nevertheless West did not
allow any lack of_éo-operation to prevent him from completing his
building program,

In 1822 thé Company tried to help West by soliciting the aid
of the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel in "furnishing them
with a missionary or in a donation for the erection of a church at
the settlement on the Red River, but no help could be spared."23
Finally with the money from the Company and labour from the colonists,
a church building was completed and opened on June 10th, 1823, the
last Sunday spent by West at Red River, beque his departure for
England, 35

West interpreted his instructions reéarding his responsibilities
to those "in the active employment of theEHudson!s Bay Company, as
well as to the Company's retired servants and other inhabitants of
the se’otlemen‘t,,"zLL as extending his duties to all the Company's posts
within a summerfs travelling distence of Red River. His summer
months were spent,therefore, in visiting such places as Brandon House

and Qu'appelle. During the summer of 1821 he followed Selkirks

22, Gunn, Donald and Tuttle, C.R ~ History of Manitoba from the
Earliest Settlements. P. 213

23. Pascoe - S.P.G, Digest P.177

2, TWest - Journal P.30

35.
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suggégﬁidnthat the minister could profitably visit Norway House and
York Fort aﬁ such a time "és a great nﬁmber of their (H.B.Co,) serv=-
ants are assembled at these places for a few weeks in summer and have
no other opportunity for any public religious instructioﬁ."25 It was
on this trip, at Norwéy House, that he fell in with Nicholés Garry
and Simon McGillivray on their journey from Montreal to York Fort
in connection with the union of the two fur companies. At York, he
vrevailed upon Garry to preside at a meeting for the formation of a
branch of the British and Foreign Bible Society.,

During these summer travels West found evidence of the moral
interest of the London Committee in the W@lfare of its servants at
the various posts of the fur trade. "I found the Scriptures at some
of the Company'!s Posts I visited, most of the copies of which had
been sent into the countrj, together with the Book of Common Prayer,
by one of the Directors, wﬁ@égvéfexpreSSed to me a lively interest for
its moral improvement:"?én..This was doubtless the work of Benjamin
Harrison whose "speciai interest lay in the Company'!'s religious
policyo"27

Everywhere he went,West spoke out bluntly against the prevailing
evils as he saw them, He insisted to all upon the observance of relig-
ious duties and the regularization of White = Indian marriages, "Mar-

rigee T would enforce upon all, who are living with, and have children by

, . 28
half-caste, or Indian women"." Tn similar authoritative tones he con-

25, Ibid p. 64
26,  Ibid p. 72

27, Morton - Simpson p. 68

28, West - Journal p. 51



demned all disorder and inveighed against giving liquor to the natives,
But however timely and in accord with the aeknowledged sentiments of
the London Committee these opinions may have been, it is not surprising
that West!s excessive zeal in preaching them soon excited the fears of
the actual fur traders and provoked the reproof of Sim.psona29

"It was now hinted to me, that the interest I was taking in the
education of the native children, had>e1ready excited the fears of
some of the chief factors and traders....who were apprehensive that
the exteﬁsion of knowledge among the natives, and the locating them
in agricultural pursuits where practicable, would operate as an’injury
to the fur trade."BO

Thisﬂ@;yt was a very real fear on the part of not only the chief
facters and traders but also on the part of Governor Simpson., But
Westls opinions aﬁd policies had the support of the London Committee
and it is a mark of Simpson's devotion to the Company that however
little enthusiasm he had for the religious and educational policies
of the Committee,he faithfully carried them out. WHis attitude fo the
clergy in public was respectful; in private he considered them meddle~
some, and he referred to some of their doings with what may be described
as little short of scorn,"

As the years wore on,the chief factors and traders, including
Governor Simpeon,actually proved to be of great help to the missionaries
in their work. Bub the fur trade did in fact present a serious ob-

stacle to the effective prosecution of the missgiochary task, Effective

29, Giraud - Le Metis  p. 708
30, West - Journal p. 92

3l. ~ Morton - Simpson p. 70
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missionary work demanded regular and consistent contact between the
missionary and his flock, But so long as that flock gained its living
prinecipally from the fur trade such year round contact was impossible,
West and his successors as a resulﬁbsought to promote agriculﬁural
settlement as a means of giving security to the natives themselves,
and a greater degree of permanence to the missionary work, Here again
they were hampered by the lack of proper equipment, methods, and types
of grain suitable to the country, to say nothing of the grasshopper
plagues and the oceasional floods, In this early period in the Red
River valley, crop failures frequently forced the unfortunate settlers
to go to Pembina and join the Metis buffalo hunt as a means of sure
vival, West remarked that ™bhis rambling and uncertain mode of obe
taining subsistence in their necessity....has given the settlers a
fondness for tripping, to the neglect of improving their dwellings
and their farms,n32 By opposing this tendency, the missionary effort
thus became the leading influence towards ameliorating the condition
of the native Indians and generally civilizing the whole country,
West went back to England in 1823 and did not again return to
Red River. At York Fort he had met Rev. D.T. Jones, who was coming
bout to assist him but who aétually succeeded him. The next year
Simpson wrote, "I am in great hopes that Mr. West will not return;
he would not have a single hearer., Mr, Jones fully comes up to the
opinion I had formed of him; his church is well attended and he is

33

most zealous in the discharge of his duties,.co"s”" Jones confined

his efforts to

32. West - Journal P.23

33. Pritchett, J.P. ~ The Red River Valley 1811-1849, p.23L
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the Red River Valley even though, when West failed to return, he

was appointed as Company chaplain. He proved to be a much mor symp-
thetic and understanding:pastor.than his pfedecessor, and a much
better preacher, After somevhérd feelings in the Settlement result-
ing from some uncompiimentary remarks ‘about the Scotch published by

Jones in the Missionafy Registef of December 1827, he succeeded in

winning their approval by'laying aside objectionable part of the
liturgy,and by holding extempore prayer meetings in their homes,

When West reached the Settlement on October llth 1820, he
found that it consisted of a number of huts widely scattered along
the margin of the river., "The colohists were a compoﬁnd §f individuals
of various countries. Théy weré principally Canadians, and éermans
of the Meuron regiment; who wefé moétly Catholics; There was a:
large population of Scotch emigrants also, who with some retifed
sefvants of the Hudson's Bay Company were‘mostly Proteswi‘,za.n‘bs...'."31L
Tﬁe Protéstant population received an addition in the group of Swiss
emigrants who came out in the summer of 182l,a1though man& of the *
daughsers of this group were'iost to ProtééﬁantiSm through marriage
to the®Meurons. The largest additioné fo the Protestant community came
as a result of the union of the fur companies which was accomplished
in 1821. The negotiations for the union wéré carried out principally
by Andrew Colvile ,who had playedva:Similar'role~in the Company's

arrangements for setting up the Selkirk colony, Provision had been made -

34,  West - Journal p. 21



in the Selkirk grant for retired servants of the Company to be able to

find land in the colony should they so desire., It was logical there-

fore, that with the prospect of a large number‘of superfluous officers

and servants resulting from the union, the London Committee decided
to orient the children of the two confessions around their:respective
missionaries in the Red River Settlement.,

The quiet and picturesque migration to the Colony wh ich ensued
had already begun before West left the country. Since many of the
migrants were Metis of Scotch and Ofkney,and therefore Protestant
parentage, this influx of retired employees changed the religious

picture in the colony from one of a decided Roman Catholic majority,

to that of a populatioh almost equally divided between Roman Catholics:

and Protestants. From this time onward the Protestants had a field

35

of action among these retired Hudson's Bay Company Metis.

By 182L, this influx of new colonists had already extended the
settlement northward from the locality in which West bad built his
Red River church to such an extent as to warrant the building of a
second church at Image Plain, six miles down the river. This timber
structure was opened for worship in January 1825’with a registration
of 169 in the Sunday SCh001036

About this time Jones apparently suffered a hemorrhage of>the
lungs which was attributed to thé extremely cold weather.37‘Despite

this injury to his health he continued to be an energetic Wofker.

35. Giraud - lLe Metis p. 705

36. The Nor'Wester +v.2. number 6. April 15th 1861

37. Ibid
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In October 1825,he was Jjoined by the Rev. Wm. and Mrs. Cockran,and

together they continuéd their work in the two churches for three years.
: The following spring (1826) vi tnessed the first major flood

in the history of the Seftlement. The raging waters caused heavy

damage to the scattered community and resulted in much hardship and

suffering due to the destruction of food. During the actual flood

Mr. and Mrs. Cockran spenﬁ; rty-five days living in a tent. As

the waters receded Jones ané £he Cockrans spent a busy time aiding
in the rehabilitation of the strickened settlers; It is recorded

that flood stocks became so low that Cockran had to cut a few sheaves
of green barley in order to survive until harvest time.

In the autumn of 1828 Jones went home to England for his health,
on a year'!s leave of absence. Meanwhile the steady migration to the
colony,which was continuing to extend the Settlement northward,had
steadily increased the burden of the two energetic missionaries,

During the absence of Jones in England, despite the burden of the

two churches, Cockran began preparations for extending the work still
further downstream among the new settlers., He obtained a plot of ground
at the Grand Rapids and built a log house on the west bank of the river
about fifteen miles from the Uppér Church, as West's church was begin-
ning to be called. A day or two before Jones returned with his wife

and family, from England in October 1829, Mr and Mrs. Cockran moved

to the location which was to be the base for the greatest piece of

work ever done by this most energetic missionary,




L2

The new colonists, coming as they did from the 1ife of the
fur trade, were not the best of materials from which to fashion an
agricultural settlement. In this task, undertaken by Cockran, the
work of the whole Rupert!s ILand Mission stands out very clearly., It
was an interminable struggle to raise out of barbarism, some semblance
of civilization and stability(in which the seeds of religion might
find a favorable soii in which to germinate and grow, The tasks of the
missionary were consequently many and varied. Cockran wrote of his:
work, "I am obliged to be a minister, clerk, schoolmaster, arbitrator,
agricultural director and many other things to this mixed and barbarous
people; and it is no sinecure.o..."38‘

Cockran began his work at the Grand Rapids in a log house which
served as school room, churchy and parsonage for the‘first winter., At
that time the congregation numbered a scant thirty souls. The next
summer logs were rafted down the Assiniboine and:~in October 1830,
work was begun on a church withkan inside measurement of 50 x 20 feet.
At this time the parish area contained some sixty families: thirty-six
Scots who were mostly Orkney Presbyterians, four English, and twenty
half-breed sons of Orkney men.39

On 27th February, 1831, Cockran wrote that a Day School had been
opened at the rapids with W.R. Smith as schoolmaster. 0 The registration
consisted of 17 boys and 6 girls, This period apparently marked the
beginning of a new era in the field, for on the 12th March 1831,we find
Thomas Simpson wriﬁing from Red River to Donald Ross at Norway House

that "Mr. Cochrane and Mr, Pritchard have opened schools and education,

38,  Ibid. v.2. number 10 July lst 1861
39. Gunn and Tuttle - Manitoba p 267
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it is to be hoped, will at length make some progress,"hl~

By Nov. 1831,Cockran was able to write that twenty families had
been added to the parish since he began work on the church, and he was
in hopes that many more nomads would se’c,’c,le.,l‘L2 Cockran busied himself
with teaching husbandry and carpentry to the boys,while his wife taught
the arts of housekeeping, including spinning and weaving,to the girls,
Small wonder that amidsf such a busy life,Mrs, Cockran should leave
the impression with Governor Simpson of a person who "shines only when
talking of elbow grease and the scouring of pots and pansq"h3 But de-
spite the scorn of the Governor and his Lady, the hopes of the Cockrans
were in large measure fulfilled. By 1836,they found themselves in the
midst of an industrious settlement: the swamplands had been draineds
the church school contained sixty pupils,while the congregation boasted
six hundred baptized members and seventy communicants.

Tﬁe timber church,which was begun in October 1830,was completed
and dedicated on May 1lst 1832, At the same time the rest of the Settle-
ment was also astir with building. Governof Simpson had all the stone
masons in the Colony,plqs the French architect Leblanc,at work erecting
the stone Lower Fort Garry in the neighborhood of the Grand Rapids.
Under the date of December 12th, 1831 James McMillan at the Hudson's
Bay Coppany’s:Farm at Red River wrote to James Hargrave,'"The say at
present is about churches. vThe big Bishop (Provencher) is about build—

ing a fine large stone church and the Governor, Mr, Jones and Professor

41.- B,4,B,C, ROSS LETTERS D, Hoss from Thomas Simpson March 12th, 1831
Lh2.  The Church Messenger June 1932 p. 13
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Ross for théir sects went out yesterday through the Settlement to raise
money to build a stone church for Mr. Jones.........The Settlers showed
great liberallidy this :‘Lnstance."-rhS Thomas Simpson reported that they
collected some five hundred pounds for the purpose.hé Both of these
projects however were held up until the completion of the Fort because
Zll available masons were employed in that undertaking, As a resulty
Jones had to wait another two years before work was begun on his new
church. In a letter written December 13th 1833, during the building
of %he church Thomas Simpson noted that the estimated cost of the COom~
pleted building was £900,7 The deficit was covered by grants from the
Hudsonls Bay Compan&,and the Church Missionary Society, and the building
was erected.

The corner stone bore the.record "The corner stone of this Pro-
testant Church was laid by Henry H. Berens, Esg., May 15, 1833, Wm. 1V
lith yearc"h9 The large propbrtion of Presbyterians in the congregation
made sure that the church did not display either the architecture or the
name of the Church of England., When the new church was completed,Thomas
Simpson wrote to his friend Donald Ross,"The interior of our new church;
which was opened this day week, Deceﬁbér 1st 183k is really handsome

and Jones shows to great advantage in his neW'pulpit,"so

L5, Glazebrooke, G.P., deT. - The Hargrave Correspondence 1821-18L3 p.86
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Meanwhile ,despite Donald Gunnts disparaging estimateslof‘Mr. Jones?!
concern for the welfare of the Indians’both he and Mr. Cockran were
striving constantly to break through the wall of indifference which
seemed to surround the native Redmen, In July 1826,Cockran wpote,

"T have not found any of the Indians of Red River anxious to learn the
things which bélong to their souls: the whole of their thoughts appear
to be occupied about the things of the body,."52 A spirit of iAAuiry
gradually showed itself among them, and by July 1831,Joneé wrote, "WMany
of them say they will come and settle next year, Connected with this
. feeling on their parﬁi.. a,desire of amending their temporal concerns
enters 1argelyecesssess.00.There have been pure Indians - one man and
nine women - baptized during the year, upon a long profession Ofcouses
Faith.. .. 100

Finally; on 2nd February 1832, Cockran wrote to’the Church Miss—
jonary Society that the chief of the band of Saultame: Indians whon |
John West had found encamped at Netley' Creek had at last agreed to itry
the plan,for an experimental training farm., In accepting the plan Chief
Pegwys gave as his reasons for doing so that the chase had now failed
and that the half-breeds were‘ahead of them in obtaining whatever furs

there were still to be had by hunting,5h° He might also have added

that they would not join in the buffalo hunt because that necessitated

51, Gunn and Tuttle = Manitoba p.235
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going into the territory of the Sioux ﬁho were their mortal enemies,

In this undertaking Cockran needed ald the experience which he
had gained from his work among the Metis section of'his congregation
at the Rapids. He succeeded in inducing seven families to become
mroublers of the ground" this first year, and immediately he had to
contend with the heatheﬁ superstitions of the rest of the band. June
turned out to be exceptionally wet that year with heavy rains and thunder
storms, The Indians promptly éttributed this evil to the presence of
the new farmers neaTbY?S‘When he began a Bible study group for adults
in December 1833,many refused to come because of polygamy a.‘r_ld__’_magic_‘,t
The one group knew that Christianity insistéd on‘mhnogamy;ﬁhile thé
other feared that they would lose their powers if they listened to the
Bible. The lot of those who did listen and settle was not made any
easier by the others who as yet held aloof. The trouble was that they
could not resist the temptation to plunder their brethern¢56 But real
progress was made, and by dint of untiring labor an agricultural settle~
ment was formed eventually,

While the Cockrans were absorbed in the process of colonizing,
the interests of the Joneses ranged into other fields. Socially, Jones
seems to have been asgreat a success as he was as a preacher, Com-

menting on the Hudson'!s Bay Company?!s chaplain in 1831,Thomas Simpson

55. Ibid
56,  Ibid
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noted that, "The parson gave grand parties second only to the Governor's,
before Mrs, Simpson15~illness."57

On the more serious sidg the school foﬁnded by Hohn West and in
& sense inherited by Jones, had grown and prospered. Sometime after
his return from England in 1829 he reorganized the school as a boarding
school for the sons of the Hudson's Bay Company em.ployees."M‘rs° Jones
also laid herself out in every way for the temporal and spiritual
benefits of all around hery and soon after her arrival established a
boarding school for the daughters of the higher classes of the Companyts
agents who had hitherto been without any opportunity of education."58

The first definite date which has yet come to light in connection
with the status of the school is 28th March, 1833, On that date Thomas:
Simpson wrote to Donald Ross, "I was astonished to find Mr, Jonés’
boarding school so full. Theré cannot be less than forty children.....

"59 In December of the same year he Wrote again, "I cannot speak too

hlghly in praise of the seminary, and the recent acquisitions, Mrs,
Lowman and Mr., Macallum, seem admirably qualified for their respective
charges, which now amount to about twenty of either sex, This establish-
ment will not only circulate much money, in the settlement, that would
have gone to other countries, but, what is far more important, will
prove highly instrumental in accelerating the progress of morality

60 ' :
throughout Rupert's Land! The Northern Council of the Hudsonls Bay
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Company evidently concurred iﬁ this view, The minutes of the Council,
which began at Red River on June 3rd 1835, éﬁe?k of "The very great
benefits that are likely to arise connected with the objects of morality,
religion and education not only in Red River bﬁtlthrough the Country at
large, from the highly respectable and admirably conducted Boarding
School, lately established for the instruction of the the youth of both
sexes under the management of the Rev. Mr. Jones."él Since Mr, Jones
had been put to considerable expense in erecting the necessary buildings,
and since the present rates were inadequate' to reimburse him for his
labor, the Council resolved to make him an allowance of £100 per annum
to prevent the necéssity of faising the rates, The Council also passed
a vote of thanks "ho Mr, and Mrs. Jones, for the readiness with which
they entered into the views and wishes of the Gentlemen in the Country,
when requested to undertake the formation of such an establishment..."éz
At the same time Jones?! interest in the work of evangelizing
the Indians continued to be real and active. In July 1832 he wrote:
"I have for the last eight months preached; through aniinterpreter,
to a congregation of seventy or eighty Indians..... For several years
many Cree Indian families, from between Hudsonls Bay and Cumberland
House, have been drifting to the‘Settlement, héving connections here

among the half-castes and others, Last summer brought in about ten families?éE

61. Oliver, E.H. - The Canadian North-West Its Early Development
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Tt was evidently in the interests of this group that Jones employed
Henry Budd as a school teacher in 1837.

This connection is interesting to note in view of the circumstances
surrounding the commencement of the mission at Cumberland House, "The
Indian, awakened himself, becomes acutely sensible of the necessities
of his relatives and friends, So it was with the Cumberland Indians
at Red River: they did not forget the friends they had left behind,

They communicated with them in various ways.....until....a desire for

&l

Christian instruction was awakened¥ ~ The man sent in answer to this
request in 18L0 was none other than Mr, Jones? Indian school teachef;
Henry Budd, who thus became the first Indian catechist to be so employed.
The Red River Settlement,in 1836,was shocked by.the news of‘the
death of Mrs, Jones. On February 27th Thomas Simpson wrote, "You will
lament to hear of the death of that excellent and sdmiable lady, M’rs°
Jones, who was truly the centre light of our little society and whose
benevolent offices were, through the medium of the rising generation,
felt throughout all the country. If Mr. Jones goes home with his family,
MEA11lum will no doubt continue the boys?! school, but what will be done
with the girls?! is as yet uncertain."és;The schools in question were
evidently regarded as Mr. Jones? private property. In consequence
when he actually did return with his five children to England in 1838

the schools were sold to the Hudson's Bay Company who in turn sold them to

Mr. Macallum on a sort of installment plan,

€.~ Ibid - December 1850 p. L75
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At Netley Creek the work of civilizing and christianizing the
Indians went steadily on. By 1835,sufficient wheat was grown to warrant
the building of a windmill to grind it. "In December 1836...there were
66

in the Settlement L7 Christian Indian families- comprising 260 individuals.."

The school had become too small for the congregation and so a church seat—
ing300 was built and opened on January Lth 1837,

With the growth of the settlement and she congregation, the work of
the missionary also grew. The Indians were fully aware of thié and when
David Jones departed for England in l838,he carried with him an appeal
from Chief Pegwys for another missionary., "My friends, my heart is sore
to see our praying master driven about like a slave to teach all the people
here,......You cannot know how far he has to travel.......I think you are
killing our friend......My friends, what are yoﬁ about? You should send
us another to teach us."67 Cockran himself also wrote to the Church
Missionary Society appealing for another assistant for the Indian work,

These appeals were answered by the cousin whom Florence Nightingale
was forbidden to marry, and in 1839,Rev. John Smithurst came out with
instructions to take over the Chaplaincy of the Hudson'!s Bay Company and
the care of the two Upper Churches.68'0n his way out he learned that a -
house had been built for him at the Indian Settlement., As a result he

resolved to settle there and to give up the Chaplaincy. -He preached at

66, Intelligencer Jamuary 1850 p. 21L
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the Rapids and the Indian Settlement,and Cockran took over the Upper
Churches., Smithurst was a guiet, studious man who promptly set to work
to master the Indian language. The Settlement contained é mixture of
Saupbeux, Swampy, Crees, and half-breeds, but the major language spoken
was the Cree. Accordingly, Smithurst set to work on this language
and when Bishop Anderson arrived at York Factory in 1849,he found a
letter of welcome and a Cree vocabulary awaiting him from the Red River
missionary.

On the morning of June 22nd 18L0, Smithurst was down at the boat
to bid farewell and Godspeed to Henry Budd and his wife as they set
out for Cumberland House, some 600 miles distant on the Saskatchewan
River. Almost exactly two years later, Smithurst himself arrived at
- the station to inspecﬁ the work and encourage the worker. When Budd
first arrived, he had found three families of Crees awaiting himg two
months later he had a Sunday attendance of twenty-four children and
nine adultsoég When Smithurst arrived, he found so many candidates for
baptism that he had serious misgivings as to the adequacy of their pre—
paraﬁion for it, "but a searching examination of each individaul con=~
vinced him to the contrary.......On that occasion thirty-eight adults,
together with forty-nine children and infants were baptized."yo
as a result of his experiences on this visit as well as what he had
previously seen in the Colony, he wrote a strong letter to England in
1842 "urging the necessity of a bishop and stating that there were over

!1:71
a thousand people ready for confirmation.
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This visit by Smithurst to Cumberland was made possible by the

arrival of another missionary at Red River in 1841, *"when Abraham Cowley,

a protege of the Rev., Lord Dynevor's at Fairford, Gloucestershire, was

appointed to the Mission. He was not ordained, but he was sent via

Canada, and received deacon's orders en route from the Bishop of Montreal

Dr. G. J. Mountain‘"72 Unfortunately he was unable to proceed directly to

the prairies but was forced to return to England and was just in time to
catch the annual ship to York Factory, His arrival in the Colony was a
welcome addition to the hard working group of missionaries., "™ockrants
strength and constitution had been visibly j.m.pa:i.red"’73 by his strenuocus
work at the Rapids and the Indian Settlement., As a result Cowley was
placed at the Middle Church as an assistant to Cockran, who now had
charge of the Upper Settlement.

Even with this help Cockran felt physically unable to continue
the work and in 18h2ﬁhe tendered his resignation to the Church Mission—
ary Society. Shortly afterwards the news reached Red River of the
serious financial crisis which had arisen in the affairs of the Society
during the winter of 18l1-2, This crisis affected Rupert?s Land in the
form of a call for the abandonment of the newly established work at
Partridge Crop and Cumberland House., This news so infuriated Cockran
that he not only withdrew his resignation.but also continued at the
Upper Church for two years with only the £100 salary which he received

in his capacity as chaplain of the Hudson's Bay Gompany.7h
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Tt was here that the Bishop of Montreal found him when he paid a
visit to the Colony in 18LL. In addition to écting as assistant to
Cockran, Cowley superintended the beginning of a new station in 18L2
among the Sawlteux on Manitoba Lake, at a point about 120 miles from
Red River. After he was ordained priést he ﬁéok over full charge of the
new station and in 18h5,he and his Wife took up their residence at the
Partridge Crop, as it was then called. His task proved to be very weari-
some, for, although he managed to induce some of the Indians to settle
and taught quite a number of their children at hisschook, it was not
until the visit of Bishop Anderson in 1851 that he felt any considerable
spiritual progress was being made,

The visit of the Bishop of Mpntreal in 18hh,marked a high poimb in
the 1life of the Red River missions, "From the time of his consecration
in 1836, Dr. Mountain cherished the intention of visiting this distant
branch of the Church of England, and the proposal was heartily seconded

by the &‘:‘Ocie'by»'“75

The pressure of work and an unforeseen illness in
1842 prevented him from carrying out his wish until lth,‘ Many were the
letters which must have passed to and fro between the Church at home
which cemmissioned the visit, the Society which paid the expenses, the
‘Hudsonls Bay Company who made the necessary travelling arrangements, and
the Missionaries on the spot. At length all was in readiness,and on the
13th of May 18Lk,acting "under a commission from the Bishop of London who

6
had a nominal jurisdiction over these extra diocesan regions"7 ~he left

@Quebec for the Red River.
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On Sunday morning, June 23rd, Bishop lountain reached the Indian
Settlement in time to take part in the morning service with Smithurst

and his Indians, He remained in the Colony for eighteen days,including

three Sundays,and not a moment of that time was wasted. During his visi
he increased the clerical strength of the Mission by ordaining John

Macallum both deacon and priest,and by ordaining Abraham Cowley as

priest. The necessary examination of these two candidates was a fair~
sized task in itself, but in addition he also confirmed 8L6 candidates,
preachéd 13 sermons, gave 5 lectures to confirmation candidates, spoke
to Sunday School children,and visited all the principal inhabitants. He

also wanted to go on to Cumberland,but he was told that such a trip

would be useless at that time as the Indians would be absent from the
station, Mr. Cockran did not exaggerate when he wrote that,"we feel
ourselves under lasting obligatibn to the Bishop for visiting us, and
for the great effort which he has made, during his short stay, to make
himself useful to u5977
Apparently the building boom which erected a stone church for
Mr, Jones in 1833-L was later emulated by the parishoners of the Middle
Church, The original building at Image Plain erected by Jonés in 1825
had been of timber, but in 18ll Bishop Mountain speaks of the Middle
Church as a stone building, "The Middle Church, which is not quite
completed, and which has been built by the unaided exertions of the
n 78

congregation is an edifice of stone, sixty feet long,

Macallum now took charge of the Upper Church in conjunction with
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his Red River Academy,thus allowing'Cockran to take over the Middle

and Lower churches while Coviley departed for Partridge Crop or Manitoba
Station. During the visit of Biéhop Mountain the woeful inadequacy of |
the Lower Church was painfully evident. The confirmation had to be
conducted in two services asvthe churchws too small to contain both
the candidates and the congregation at one time, Even then people
were standing in the vestibule and listening, from outside, at the
windows, Cockran therefore called a meeting of the setﬁlers in Dec-
ember 18Ll, to see what could be done, It waé decided to build a new =
stone church measuring eighty-one feetvby forty feet inside measurementss

plus a tower and a spire, "Silver and gold they had none; but stones,

lime, shingles, boards, timber, and labour, were cheerfully contributed,..

In matefials and labour above £700¢ were promised.,"29 The undertaking

proved to be too much for the resources of the parish and the building:
remained for a time in an unfinished state because of lack of funds,
& fresh impulse was given to the work bj a grant of £100 from the
Hudson's Bay Company and every effort was now made towards the com=-
pletion of the church in time for the arrival of the first Bishop of
Rupert's Land, Unfortunately they did not quite succeed and it was
not consecrated until ﬁecember 19th 18h9.80
In the sﬁmmer of 1843, Henry Budd reported that the eighty-five
baptized Indians continued to be faithful and that he had a further

: 81
fifty-eight candidates prepared to receive the sacrament. The 8tation
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obviously required the services of an ordained missionary, In 18l

the Church Missionary Society met the need by sending out Revo John

Hunter. On September 26th,18Ll, Mr. and Mrs. Hunter arrived at Cumber~
land to ‘take up duty as resident missionary. By this time the number
of candidates for baptism had risen to n&nety—two, of whom thirty-one were

adults, "There were thirty—tﬁo children in the School, nineteem of whom

could read,"ﬁzl"As yet, however, no attempt had been made to form a 1
Settlement, and very little had been done'in the way of tillage. Mr,

Smithurst, when at the station, had marked out some lots, and one Indi&ﬁ

had prepared wood, but no house had yet been built, and the Indians con-

tihued to dwell in tents, "o

With the help of Henry Budd, Mr. Hunter promptly set to work to

master the Cree language, and also to translate portions of the Bible and
Prayer Book. He was so far successful that by the time Bishop Anderson

: |
visited the Station in 1850, Hunter was able not only to talk, and read

the service in Cree, but also to preach in that language., Several of the
Indians were induced to build houses and on November l9tq,18h% Hunter
speaks of visiting seven new houses. A church was begun in 1847 and
completed in time for Bishop Anderson to open it on June 30th,18h9§
These firs£ years at Cumberland were marred by the death of Mrs,
'Hunter in the autumn of 18L7. Just under a4year later he was married

to the daughter of his friend,Chief Factor Donald Ross at Norway House,

Mr. Smithurst made the trip from Red River to Norway House expecially

for that purpose,and on July 10th,1848 performed the marriage between

Jean Ross and the Rev. James Hunter., On July 17th,18h§ Donald Ross

82  TIbid p.23L |
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wrote to Sir George Simpson, "Mr, Smithhurst arrived on the night of th
Tth and returned to Red River on the 1lth, Mr. Hunter was married on
the 10th, and is now embarking in his own boat in company with the

8L

“Athabascan Brigade, on his return to his station at the Pasl ~ The new
Mrs. Hunter proved to be a real asset to the miésionary because of her
knowledge of the Cree language. Her help to her husband included not
only assistance in learning the language but also assisténce in the
work of translation,

In the busy life of a missionary not even sickness could inter=
rupt the work of Christianizing the Indians. .In the fall of 1846 anoth
of John West's Indian pupils, James Settee, was sent, in response to
a call from the Indians fo work as a catechist at Lac la Raage some
250 miles north ffom the Pas. By July 18L7 he had labored to such good
purpose that when Mr. Hunter visited the spot he was able to baptize
some 107 individualsn85 |

| Back in the Red River Settlement a new era of prosperity was
ushered in by the arrival of a detachment of soldiers in 18L6. One
hundred and fifty of them were stationed at the Lower Fort and Smith-
urst acted as volunteer chaplain for them throughout their two years?
sojourn.

The same year which saw the coming of the troops to Red River

brought the arrival of the last addition to the little band of workers
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who greeted the new Lord Bishop in 1849, The burial and baptismal
registers of St. Andréw‘s and the Upper Church bear out the statement
of A, C. Garrioch that "the arrival of Mr. Robert James enabled Mr,
Cockrane to take a year of much needed rest, and this he spent in the
city of Toronto."t87 Evidently Mr. James took charge of St. Andrew!s
parish while Mr. Macallum retained the charge of the Upper Church.

"Cockran's health was so bad when he left the colony on June 15th 1846

that he thought that he would never return to this scene of his labours

584

388
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By 1847, however, he had so far recovered his health that when the Hudson's

Bay Company offered him a chaplaincy in connection with the Incumbency

of the Upper Church: he accepted and remained in charge there until 18$Oa"

During this Incumbency, Cockran not only superintended the building of‘
the new St. Andrew'!s Church, (where James was still in charge) but,als?
built a substantial stone house for himself nearwthe Upper Church,
The troops at the Upper Fort were served first by John Macallum
and then, upon his giving up preaching inﬁ18h7, by Mr. Cockran, dJohn
Black, a clerk at Lower Fort Garry, told of the change in a letter to 5
Donald Ross." No doubt you have heard of Rev. Mr., Cockran's return to
the Settlement, I confess I Was surprised to see him, but he seems

pleased with the change he has made, He preaches at the upper church,

89

instead of Mr. Macallum who, by the by, in leaving the pulpit has I think

87, Garrioch A.C, = First Furrows p.77

88, Tucker, Fo - Rainbow of the North p.1LO

89, Garrioch - First Furrows P77




given up the best string of his bow, He also officiates as chaplain
for the troops at the Upper Fort, much, I believe to the satisfaction
of_all°"9o

No doubt Macallum was influenced in his decision by failing health
and discipline problems in the gir)?s school. which set up a buzzing of
unfavorable rumors about the Academy, These rumors continued to plague

him from the fall of 1846 until his death in 18L9,

In addition to their ministerial and educational duties, certain
members of both the Anglican‘and the Roman Catholic clergy also served
on the Council of Assiniboi#; It is uncertain whether John West ever
actually served on the Council although it is known that he was recom—
mended for m.embership,?1 Rev, David Jones, his successorswas definitely

92

a Councillor under Governor Pelly, "However, the first record of Jones?

actual attendance was in company with his fellOW'worker,the Rev, William

|
23 at the reorganization meeting held on the 12th of February 1832

Cockran
after the Hudson's Bay Company had resumed possession and control of the |
Selkirk grant. This was Cockran's first meeting., In the minutes he was
listed as a Councillor although his appointment as such bore the date
March 20th 1839,

Another person who attended the Council for his first time at

. o
this meeting was Bishop Provencher, At this meeting he attended by

90, P,A.B.C. ROSS LETTERS D.Ross from John Black September 3rd 1847

91.  Oliver = North-West p.68
92,  Ibid p.59
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invitation,but on the 16th of June 1837;he was swern in as a member of
the Council. Curiously enocugh his appointment as Councillor bears the
date of the 20th of March 1839, From 1845 Provencher also served as al

member of the important Committee of Economy,

One other member of the Anglican clergy also served as a Councillor
’ 95
before the arrival of Bishop Anderson. The Rev, John Macallum actually

became a member of the Council in 1836, eight years before his ordination,

From the Lth of July 1845 until his death he served as coroner of the 2
Settlement. :

The field of North-Western missions was not exclusively occupied§
by the Roman Catholics and the Anglicans., The Wésléyan Methodists |
also entered the region and made a notable contribution to the work
of Indian missions. -Possibly owing to the threatened withdrawal of the
Church Missionary Society from Rupert!s Land, the Hudson's Bay Companyz
in 1840, invited the Wesleyan Methodist Church in England to establish
missions in Rupertls ILand,

The Methodists promptly responded and by mid-September 1840,

Messrs. Barnley, Mason, Rundle and Evans, were established at Moose

V4

(o}

Factory, Rainy Lake, Edmonton House and Norway House respectively.9
N j
Evans was designated as superintendent from his previous experience in
Upper Canada, While there he had begun work on a system of syllabics

which he perfected among the Crees at Norway House, In his capacity

as superintendent Evans travelled northward to Oxford House and York

950 Toid p963

96, Riddell, J, H. = Methodism in the Middle West
The First Period 184L0-185L
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Faétory, and as far west as Fort Chipewyén on Lake Athabasca. From

his headquarters at Edmonton House, where he labored for eighteen years,
Rundle visited Rocky Mountain House and travelled extensively visiting
the Cree, Stoney and Blackfeet Indians, Barnley,at Moose Factory re—
mained only eight years after which time the post was abandoned by the
Methodists,

But the most important work done by the Methodists was that ac-
complished by Evans through his invention of the Cree syllabics, The
story of his make=-shift printing press is one of the epics of mission
life, In 1843 William Mason and the Ojibway Indian catechist H.B.
Steinhauer were transferred from their post at Rainy Lake to help with
the work of translation at Norway House. Mrs. Ross, the wife of the
Hudson's Bay Factor at Norway House, and Mrs, Evans, also helped in
this part of the work, |

Like Cochran at Red River, Evans established an Indian Settlement

some ten miles from Norway House., In honor of the Hudson'!s Bay Company
Factor, who had befriended him, Evans named the Settlement, Rossville,‘
Here he labored with great fervour and like another of his predecessors,
John West, he inveighed strongly against irregﬁlar marriages, intemperance
and working on Sundays. Evans! insistance on Sabbath observance greatly
annoyed the business instinects of Sir George Simpson, particularly when
it began to interrupt the travel of the Brigades,
In addition,the Wesleyans had to meet the opposition of both the

Roman Catholic and Church of England missionaries. As early as August



15th 18&2,we find Donald Ross writing from Norway House to Sir George

Simpson, "Mr. Evans made a very extensive tour last winter, married

and baptized a great many people, but thé priests and church mission-
aries have been stirring themsalves‘actively of late and both seem eq=-
uwally hostile to the Wésleyans. Wherever they go they re-marry and
re-baptize those who had previously undergone the ceremony by Mr. Evans,
es» There will soon be as hot a religious opposition in the cpuntry as

we had formerly about the fur trade¢"97

The combined effect of these various factors was to convince
Sir George Simpson that by some means Evans must be persuaded to stop
his‘campaign for Sunday observance. Evans refused to be stopped and
Simpson brought pressure to bear which resulted in Evans?! recall in
18L6. Mason succeeded to the charge of Norway House and also to the
superintendency in 1846, He Gontinued at this blace and in this
position until 185L,when he joined the Church of England and was later

ordained by Bishop Anderson,




CHAPTER 111

THE ESTABLISHMENT OF THE DIOCESE

From the commencement of operations in Rupert's
Land by the Church of England in 1820 the esfablishment
of effective episcopal supervision became a necessity if
the work was to continué; Nevertheless twenty-four years
were to eolapse before the first Church of England Bishop
paid a flying visit to the isolated colony, and twenty-
nine years were to elapse Béfore the first resident Anglican
Bishop was receifed by the colony.
| More remarkable is the apparently notable lack of
demand for a Bishop in the colony itself, Canon Heeney
suggests that one of the reasdns for this state of affairs
was the Presbyterian influence. "A Bishop was never thought

an essential of Church government nor yet a guarantee of

loyalty to -the Crown. "L

Gaﬁ&mmh sheds some light on the situation by pointing{
out that the convinced Presbyterlians actually constituted
only that small body of Selkirk settlers brought out by Selk:

and settled in the parish of Kildonan., When the first

Presbyterian minsder arrived in 1851 the parishes of the Upper

Chﬁrch, Middle Church, and St. Andrew's remained fairly

solidly Anglican. This was accounted For by the fact that

L. Heeney, W.B. - Leaders of the Canadian Church,
third series p.3
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most of the Scots in these parishes were retired from the
Hudson's Bay Company ééfvice. While in the service they had
beeﬁ subject to the Company rule Which'reqUiredvthat all
Protestants atfthe Company posts should aséemble on Sundays
for the reading of the Church of England service. "When
these employees in the intefior leérned in this way that the
approved church of The Honburable Eudson's Bay Company was
the established Church of England, they knew what they had to
expect, when, as many of them intended, tley retired to become
settlers on the Red River . . . .2

While such a statement must be taken with a grain of
salt so far as the Scots employed by the Company are concerned,
it was probahly true that they considéred it to be the wisest.
plan for their half-breed familiesxto adhere tO«the‘Protestant
church which happened to have its ministers in the field. Tt=

is also true that many of these children were grown men and

women with families of their own when they came to Red River.
While they probably had no prejudices against episcopacy as
a mode of church government,they likewlse would know -nothing
of it, and for that reason did not feel the need for 1it.

What were brobably far more important factors were the
lack of any real need fbr a resident bishop during the first
few years, the fact that the mission was conducted under the

suspleescdf the Church Missionary Society, and the lack of

2. Garrioech - Correction Line p 137
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,édaquate financial support for a bishope. Until Cockran

began hls work at Netley Creek in 1832 no real attempts had
been made to évangelizé the Indians on any considerable

scale. HExcept for individual instances, such as that in 1825
when Governor Simpson brought two Indian boys from the Pacific
coast to Mr. Jonesivschool at Red River, the work of the mission
did not extend béyond the confines of the Red Biver'valley
until 18,0. In that year Henry Budd began work as a native
catechist at Cumberland House, while two years'later Abraham
Cowley tentatively began work at a point midway between
Partridge Crop and Leake Saint Martin. The Cumberland Station
yielded almost immediate results and large numbers of Crees,
both adults and children, were genuinely converted. CGCowley!'s
Manitoba Station, as it was eailed, found the Saulteux Indians
much less receptive and no considerable results were achieved
until after the arrival of Bishop Anderson.

The fact that this was a mission of fhe Chufch Missionary
Society must also be given due weight as a reason for the app=-
arent lack of demand for a bishop. "This is .., because there
has sometimes been among C. M. S. laymen a certain impatience

of episcopal control, and a certain desire to direct the

and the dioceesan finance

diocesan w ork smédwthevdlocesanswend
of* the Overseas Church from Salisbury Square . . . There has
been such a zeal in C. M. S. supporters, clerical and lay,

that the Soelety has had a life of its own . . ."3

3. Carpenter - Church and People p 28




Iﬁ addition Jones and Cockran had their hands more
than filled with building, settling, educating, and general
civilizing this isolated colony. As a result,it is not

-surprising that the first record of an appeal., for a bisho

to come out of the settlement waé that penned by John Smithurst

in 1842, 1In that year he "wrote a strong letter to Englan
urging the necessity of a bishop and statiﬁg that there we
over a thousand people ready for confirmation."u
Meanwhile interest in the Red River Séttlement and
its need of episcopal supervision was not lacking in other
quarters., At an early period in the history of the Red Ri
Mission the interest of Dr. G. J. Mountain was aroused.

Perhaps his interest in the Canedian North West may even d

from the proposal made to his father5 by the Church Missionary

Society in 1810 to ordain a man for work among the Ojibway
on Lake Superior.6 In any case it is éertain that "From %
time of his consecratidn in 1836, Dr, Mountain cherished t
intention of visiting this distant branch of the Church of
England, and the proposal was heartily seconded By the Boc
This‘jtatement is particularly interesting because it indi
that/gg;ent Society, if not the workers in the field, were

concerned about the need., The evidence of their concern w

Macleod - The Lamp Shines p Ll

L

Bishop Jacob Mountaih,first Bishop of Quebec
Stock - History of the C., M. 8. v.l. p 245
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Mountain - Journal p 235
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further emphasized by the fact that when Bishop G. J. Mountain
visited the Red River in 18l the expenses were paid and the
arrangements were made by the Church Missionéry Society.,

The result of Bishop Mountain's visit was a report to
the Church Missionary Society in the form of three lengthy
letters., The third of these letters concluded with a strong
appeal fof the establishment of a bishopric in Rupert's Land,
After a general survey of the condition of the tefritory and
its inhabitants he shrewdlyf%oted, "There are large tracts of
country in which the diminution of furs is already sensibly,
and by the poor Indians severely, felt. The day will arrive
when the example of the Red River Settlement must be followed
in other portions of the Territory. . .. Those vast reglons,
.... cannot be doomed to be for ever tenanted only by wild
beasts, and savages as wild: their resources of another kind
must be turned to account; and in the mean time, theré is
little fear that any effects resulting'directly or indirectly
from the exertions of the thréh will prematurely accelerate
the desertion of the huntsman's craft. . .. I feel, with an
indescribable force, the necessity of establishing a Bishép in

those Territories... A move should be made at once..."8

These letters, together with an appendix by the Socilety's
secretaries giving an account of the formation of the mission
and its progress, were published by the Church Missionary

Society in 1845 and proved to be a most effective plece of

8. Tbid p 167 and fr.



propaganda for the establishment of a bishopric in Rupert's
Land, |

G One of the main difficulties to be overcome before such
a step could be undertaken was the problem of finance.c Bishop
Mounfain recognized this fact and requested that any profits
arising from the publication of his report should be reserved
to help in the end@wmaum of a Bishopric for Rupert's Land.
More than that, in his third letter in which he pleaded for
the establishment of a Bishopric, he made a pointed appeal to
the Hudson's Bay Company to help in financing the enterprise,
"I hope that I may without impropriety suggest that the Company
.++ should be solicited to take some part, and to assume some
share, of the burthen in establishing & Bishoprie within its
own Territories."?

It was common to think of missions and the Church as a
method of establishing and maintaining law and_order, and the
Bishop was not slow to turn this argument to account. In 1839
in the interests of law and order the Company had appointed
Mr. Thom, a Canadian lawyer, as Recorder of the Red River Colony
at a salary of 700 a year., The Bishop commented, "What they
have done for the Recorder of the Red River would, in my judg-
ment, with certain aids given to him in travelling, suffice of |
itself for the maintenance of a Bishop whose Diocese should

ulO

comprise the country Bast of the Roecky Mountains. With this

9. Ibid p 16l
10. Ibid p 165
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as a starting péint he suggested that other help might be
obtained from the Church Missionary Soclety, from the recently
established (1841) Colonial Bishopric Fund, as well as from
private individuals. | _

The financial peliecy of the Church Missionary Soclety
ﬁould not allow them to undertake such a commitment, but, as
substantial contributors to the Colonial Bishopgie?s Fund, the
Society did strongly urge the project upon that 56dy. "rhe
Archbishops and Bishops who constituted the Colonial Bishoppiéfs
Committee appointed a subcommittee for the purpose of promot;

ing this object ..."1l 1In the meantime Bishop Mountain did
what he could to oversee the territory by correspondence,
‘Assistance came from private individuals, however., As anv
example of a private benefactory, the Bishop cited, "the late
Mr., Leith . . . who was a resident Factor in the Territory,
(and who) has bequeathed the sum: of £10,000, as yet, I believe
in 1i£igation, toward the propagation of the Gospel in the |
scene of his former pursuits and occupations; with the.interest
arising from which sum, it is intended, if I am correctly »
informed, to esteblish a Mission and a School in Cum.berland."l2

If he was correctly informed, it was a most interesting

observation in view of the final disposition of the bequest.,

11, Mountain, A, - Memoir of Bishop G. J. Mountain p 247

12, Mountain - Journal p 166 -



70.

The abandomment of this first plsn would suggest the powerful
influence exéfted by Bishop’Mounﬁéin's little book, particul-

" arly when it became evident that the restored financial position
of the Church Missionary Society ensured contiﬁuance.of the
work at Cumberland.

James Leith, the benefactor:referred to by Bishop
Mountain, had come to Canada at the instance of Edward Ellice.
In 1798 he joined the X Y Fur Company and was one of the six
wintering partners of that Company to. join the North-west Fuar
Company in 180l.. When the Nor!' Westers united with the Hudson's
Bay Company in 1821 he became a Chief Factor. He still held
this rank in 1830 when hé retired to Torquay, Devon, England,
where he died on June 19th, 1838,13

According to his will dated February 20th,1835, after
disposing of one half of his,estéte and paying all of his just
debts and expenses, the remainihg half was bequeathed "unto his
brother William Hay Leith and his heirs,'the Lord Bishop of
London for the time being, the Rev. the‘Dean of Westminster for
the tiﬁe being and the Governor and Deputy Governor for the
time being of the Hudson's Bay Company, Upon Trust, that they
‘shoﬁld .+s convert the whole into money... and invest the
same in their names in the public stocks or Funds of Great
Britain at Interest and « + o dispose of the ,’. . annual proc-

eeds arising therefrom in such a manner as . . . should seem

13. Encyclopedia of Canada v 1V
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most deéirable and advantagéous for the purpose of
establishing propagating and extending the Christian
Protestant Religion in and amongst the native aboriginal
Tndians in that part of American formerly called Ruperths
I;‘c':uaéu“l)‘L |
On.August 11th, 1838 this will was duly proved in the

p;qrpgative Court of the Archbishop of Cantefbury~by the two
executors appointed in the will, William Hay Leiﬁh and Patrick
Davidson. The next step in the proceedings took place on the

23rd of April 180 when Leith and Davidson filed a Bill in the
Court of Chancery against the Lord Bishop of London, Governor
Sir Henfy Pelly, Deputy Governor Andrew Colvile, the Attorney
General and others, contesting the validity of the will.

, By a decree dated 20th of March 18u8, William Hay Leith
a;qlined fo aét as one of the ékecutors'and the case was
referred to the Master of the Rolls, "to approve of and appoint
a proper person to be one of the Trustees . . o in the room of
. e .'William‘Hay Leith, and that the Trustees of.the sald
Charity should bropose a scheme for’the‘dueAadministraticﬁ of

the funds of the said Charity; and 1t was ordered that the said

1y, The Synod Office of the Diocese of Rupert's Land, Winnipeg
’ ~ (hereafter designated 5.0.R)
Copy of the Hudson's Bay Company's grant of
an annuity of £300 and a house and land as &
residence for the Bishop of Rupert's Land and
in increase of hils salary forever, dated
December 19th, 1849.



Master should state the scheme with his opinions thereon to
the Court . . "5

‘Master Férrer, the Master to whom the cause had been
referred, made his report on the l3th.of March 1849, but
because of recent events affecting the case, it was referred
back to him for further review on the 19£h'df Abril. In his
final report on the 7th of May, which was confirmed’the same
day, it was feund that the Dean of_Westmihster, the Reverend
William Buckland had filed a Deed Poll on the 5th of March
declining to act as a Trustee for the bequeet. The Venerable
William Hale Hale; Archdeacon of London;was Willing'to act and
was suggeeted as a fit person to act as a Trustee,if such an
appointment was considered neeessary,so long as Buckland should
eontinue as Dean of Westminster. Henry Hulse Berens was
suggested as a fit person to replace William Hay Leith as a
Trustee, and was accordingly appointed as such.

Mo The'said Master also found vgrious facts and
circumstances relating to the saild Hudson's Bay Territery or
Rupert's land showing the value and extent thereof, and 1its
populatioﬂ and particularly the spiritual wants and necessities
of such population, and the exertions whiech had hitherto been
made for the supply of such spirituel wante and necessities
under the directlon and superintendence of the Church  Missionary

Soclety aided by the sald Hudson's Bay Company, and that it had

15, Ibid
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been proposed to her Majéstieié Government to found a
BiShopric'forlRupert's Laﬁd provided a suitable endgﬁﬁ@ﬁﬂt in
perpetuity could be secured for the same and thét iﬁworder to
aésiSt iﬁ the foundation of such Bishoﬁrié the said Hudson's
Bay Compahy had propesed aﬁd were willing to provide a sultable
house fof'a Bishop's,residenqe with & proper and sufficient
quantity of Land, and to grant in perpetuity a stipend of £300
per annum in increase Qf the salafy of such Bishop. . . w16

The negotiations and arguments which lay behind this
reporﬁ are considerably illuminated by an amusing letter from
- a Hudson's Bay Factor on leave in England at the time. Duncan
Finlayson had actually been in London at the time the pleadings
began, but his letter 1is dated Hastings, May 29th, 1849.

N have been, for the last fortnight, so bothered with
the affairs of the Bishopric of Rupert's Land that they fairly
drove me from London., |

So here I am, out of the way =--- otherwise they would
have me swear that Rupert'stLand ls the richest, the finest,
the most popular country in the world; that it never snowed or
drifted there, that its extreme breadth is 30 degrees, and its
extreme length, from the north to south, 25 degrees, giving a

surface of 750°, and that the pppulation is 150000 souls, of
which 50000 are whites and the remainder Indians. Think ye

16.  Ibid
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of that; Neither the Governor, Deputy Governor, nor any
member 6f the Committee, could consclentiously swallow this
sweeping statement, and therefdre wished that I should do so
for them. I, howéver, declined the draught, and determined
to get myself out of their way --- so here I am . . ..

It appears that the trusteés of the Leith fund, that is,
the money left by the late Mr., Leith for the instruction and
conversion of the Indians in‘Rupert's Land, thdught that some
of it might be applled to the endowment of a Bishop's See, or
in other words, to the support of a Bishope. |

But the Master of the Rolls thought otherwise, and that
such was not the meaning of the'testator and, therefore,
vrequired some person to make Affidavit that the country was
inhabited and civilized to that extent as to require a Bishop,
and the human beings could live in it,

The matter has, however, been got over without suech an
affidavit, at least, from me;"lg .’

Here we are forced to return to the drab lega& language
of the Hudson's Bay'Company's Indenture of December 18&9. The
Trustees laid before ilic Master Farrer'a scheme for the admin-
istration of the Charity, the details of which clearly showed
the influence of Bishop Mounbtain's suggestions.,

"lst That if the consent of Her Majesty's Government should

17. P.A.B.C. ROSS LETTERS D. Ross from Duncan Finlayson
May 29th, 1849.
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be obtained to the erection of a Bishopric of the Church of
England in Rupert's Land, the income of the Funds of the said
Charity should be applied towards the Endowment of such Bishoprie
iﬁ addition to the sumdofi £300 per annum which the said Hudsont's
Bay Company had offered and agreéd to contribute towards the
endowment of a Biéhop?s See,‘prOVided'the Clergyman selected

for the Episcopal Officé should undertake the duties of one of
‘the Churches in Rupertt's Land with a District to be annexed
thereto,

2nd. That the entire Funds of the Charity should remain stand-
“1ing in the name of the Accountant General . . . until the
Trustees . . . should apply to the Court to hawer the saild

~Funds . . . transferred out of Court into their names,

3rd. That a proper Deed should be prepared to declare . . .
thet the Trustees . . . of the sald Fund should . . . pay the
Dividends and Income thereof to the order of the Bishop for the
‘time being of Rupert's Land and . . . Shatnduring any vacancy
of the See, the dividends and inecome . . . be wholly or iﬁ part
either aceumulated . . « or applied towards providing an Outfif
for the next succeeding Bishop . . . or otherwise in conformity

with the said Testater's Will. . ."18

. Lord
This report was madeby/Farrer, on the 7th of May 1849,

and was confirmed by an order of the same date, Pelly and

18.- S. 0. R. - Copy of H.B.C. grant of annuity, house,
-and land.



Colvile immediately filed a petition with the Master of the
Rolis, Lord Langdale,requesting that the scheme be put into
effect. "Whereupon all parties concerned were ordered to attend
His Lordship on the matter of the said petition . . ."%7
Apparently the consent of Her Majesty's Government was speediiy
obtained for on the 1llth of May 189, the long litigation was
at laét decided in favour of the establishment of a bishopriec.
Venerable Archdeacon William Hale Hale was appolnted as Trustee
80 long as Williem Buckland should continue as Dean of
Westminster, At some time during the long litigation,the bulk
of the money evidently had been invested in three per cent
Bank Annuals because it was in this form that Lord Langdale
now referred to the Fund., After filling up the number of
Trustees, His Lordship declared "the Trustees of the said
Charity . . . entitled to the £l3,3h3 Bank‘3 per cent Annuals
standing in the name of thevAcéountant General of this Court

,“20 subject to the Hudson's Bay Bompany ful-

in trust . . .
filling their promise in the undertaking. The Company were
therefore ordered to execute a proper Deed to secure the
promised house and lands and the annuity of £300. -
Now that the finaneial arrangements were certain, the

erection of the new See and the appointment of its first Bishop

were speedily accomplished. "Necessary changes being made,

19.  Ibid,,
20,  Ib1d ..
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the procedure, followed in the créétian of colonial bishops,
was similar to that used for the making of English bishops.
By the statute 25 Henry V11ll, c.20 the_right to nominate
bishops lies in the King, and the noﬁination is made éffective

t." 21 15 effect this meant that the

.by Letters Paten
Archbishop of @antérbury advised the Crown, and the Crown
- nominated Canteréﬁﬁr's choice., Certaiﬁly this was the case in
this particular iﬁétance;

The'evangelical Bishop John Bird Sumner had succeeded
to thé Primggy in 18,8. He wés_a-loyaltsupporter of the
'Church Missionary Society and when called upon to nominate a
bishop for a mission field staffed entirely by Church Missionary
SOGiety personnel,he naturally consulted the wishes of that
body. The‘minutes of the Society's Corresponding Committee for
.Rupért's Land dated the 7th of June,lBSh,indicate that a certain
Reverend R. Davies was the Soclety'!'s nominee. ". . . The
Corresponding Committee desire to place.enrpeennd their sorrow
at the tidings of the death of the Reﬁ. R. Davless for many
years Secretary of the Parent Séciety and Who, but for the
failure of health, was to have been the first Bishop of this

Country." 22

21. Millmen - Jacob Mountain p 17

22, S. ‘0. Re - Minutes of the Proceedings of the Corres-
ponding Committee of the Church Missionary
Society N. W. America., January 7th, 185l.
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‘The choice now reverted to Archbishop Sumner, His
selection of Anderson was the resuit of a very natural_sequence
of events.related in later years by Bishop Anderson in a letter
to his former pupil,James Ross. The Bishop first recounted
the story of his own University career at Exeter College, Oxford.
Apéarently he had been a briiliant‘student and it had been
expected that he would graduate with honors in Mathematics and
Classics and procesd to a fellowship and tutorship in his own
college. Unfortunately his health broke down and he was unable
- to sit for his'examinationé. Instead of a College career this
led him %o the activity of clerlcal llfe in a large town., He
was ordained both Deacon and Priest by J. B. Sumner who was ﬁhen
Bishop of Chester., His first appointment was in 1837 to the
seuraey of St. Andrew's Church Liverpool, followed two years later
by a similar appointment to St. George's Church in the same
veity. "Tn lBhljhe was married to the eldest daughter of James
Marsden, Esquira, of Liverpool. His wife died in 18l8 leavling
him with three sons."?3 |
| Apparently Anderson was connected with the parish of
Kilburn, Middlesex , at the time of his bereavement. 'An address
to The Right Reverend the‘Lord Bishop of Rupert's Land From the
Minister and Inhabitants of Kilburn, Mlddlesex bearlng the

date 18&9 beglns with an expression of esteem and gratitude,

23. Mockrldge, Ce Ae =~ The Bishops of the Church of England
in Canada and Newfoundland. p 127




"for your faithful and zealous ministrations among us during

a season of painful trial to ycurself."2h For six e ars from

18441-47 he acted as Vice-Principal of St. Bees College,

Cumberland, England; This was a,purely theological cocllege

founded in 1816 =as:a:sprotest againét the notable lack of

attention given to such study in the two Unlversities.
vBishop Anderson's coﬁmenté enlighten us somewhat on

this period of his existence. "It was from my appointment

Liverpool that I happened to be ordained Deacon by the then

Bp. of Chester at a small private Ordinatieén, where he saw

of me ( T was not ofaage for his public one, two months bef

I was in due course ordained Priestlby him; while holding
office at St. Bees College I was in continual correspondenc
with him, and he had never forgotteqf%hroughout,
'réised to the See of Canterbury he wrote to offer me my pre
office."gs_
At the time, when the offer of the bishopric came to
him, Anderson ecoﬁpied_the position of Perpetual Curate of
Saints Church, Derby. From another of his letters it would
appear that he underwent consliderable heart éearching beforn

he accepted the call, BShortly after his arrivael in Rupert!

2&{ Copy of an address to Bishop Anderson from the minis

and congregation of Kilburn, Middlesex, now in the

possession of Mr. William Grange of Winnipeg.

25, P.A.M. ROSS LETTERS James Ross from Bishop Anderson,
Februer y 9th, 1855,
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T.and he wrote to the Bishop of Montreal concerning that
prelate's published journal of his visit to the Red River
Settlement in iSAu} Tt was from its simple and forcible
'statements that I felt so interested,in the condition and
prospects of the Indian that I at last debermined to accept
the call to the bishopric,"26

In due course,by letters patént dated 21 May 1849 the
original Hudson's Bay Company's grant of Rupert'!'s Land was
erected into a See and David Anderson was appointed to be
consecrated its first Bishop with the title of Lord Bishop of
Rupert's Land. So far as can be ascertained he was the first
Canadian Bishop to be legally permitted to use the title of
Lord Bishop. After the usual legal definition of the poWers
of the Bishop he was given the right to choose or ersect his

own Cathedral Church in.Rupert'E Lend, This catherdral as

well as the diocese and bishop,were to be subject to the primacy

of Canterbﬁry. The final appeal from any judgments rendered
by the Bishop or any of his digﬁitaries or officlals was also

to be forCanterbury. Though his consecration, as Bishop, was

to be for 1life, provision was made for the péssible resignation

of the Bishop by means of an instrument delivered into the

hands of the Archbishop of Canterbury and by him accepted and

26, Mountain, A. - Memoir of Bishop G, J. Mountain fooiﬁote
, p 24
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registered in the 0ffice of the Viear General.

As soonfas the Patent became{known, Anderson's old

college of Exeter arrangedato confer the honorary degree of

D.D. upon its distinguished graduate.
on the 29th of May 18&9;together with fhe first Bishop of
Victoria (Hong Kong), he was consecrated in Canterbury
Cathedral, the first such.consecratidn to take place there
three centuriles, After Anderson's cbnsecration the Church
Missionary Sbciety Secretary, Henry Venn, wrote "The Bishoy
London (Blomfield) expressed himself to me in the warmest
terms of admiration at his heartiness and practical good se
The establishment of a diocese in Rupertts Land had
been a desire of the Church Misslonary Society, and now the
"their desire was fulfilled, they expressed thelr 'unfeigne
satisfaction' that tafter many years of expectatibn' a bisk
had been appointed."28 True to their word and pursuant to I

Langdale's instructions the Hudson's Bay Company entered uj

the process of drawing up a Deed to give effect to their

promise of an annuity of £300, and a house and land for the

BiShOpo

vision this‘Deed was belng drawn up reported that the task

27« Stock - History of the C. M. S. Vv. 3 p 313
28. Ibid p 31h
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‘been satisfactorily~aecomplished. The Company then gave
effect to these arrangements by an Indenture datedvthe 19th
of December 1849.

By this Indenture the Company undertook to pay to the
Trustees of the Lelth Charity "at the Royal Exchange in the
City of London one annuity or cleér yearly sum: of £300 by
equal half-yearly payments on the 5th day of.Januéry and the
S5th day of July in each and every year the first half of such
half-yearly payments to become due and be made on the 5th day
of January now next ensuing . . ,"27

Regarding the house and land the Company agreed "within
the space of three yeérs from the daté of these presents ﬂ}ojf
provide a sultable House and Land adjacent thereto and conven-
ient to be held therewith in Rupertt!s Land for the residence
and occupation of the said Bishop of the Bishopric of Rupert!'s
Land,. . «."and will at the request of the Trustees . . . and
at the Costs and Charges of the said Charity Estate by good
and sufficient conveyances, acts and deeds in Law permanéntly
annex the said House and Land to the Bishopric."30 Sueh a
Conveyance was finally carried out on the 29th of August'1865.

The newly consecrated Bishop and his party left Gravesend

- 29, 3.0.R. - Cppy of H. B. C. grant annuity, house and lami .
30.  Ibid |
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on the 9th of June aboard the annual Hudson'_'s Bay Company's
ship to York Factory, The Bishop!s party consisted of his
‘sistér, his.three'sdns, Archibald, David, and Herbert, Mr,
and Mrs. Chapman, Mr. #@nd Mrs. Hobert Hunt, and Dr. Cowan.
This year there weré sigf6 frlanjrent additional passeﬁgers together
with the Company's servants that it was decided to place them
all aboard the "Prince Rupert" whlle the "Graham" carried the
year's supplies for the trade. From the point of view of the.
trade fhis was a most unfortunate decision for while the
"Prince Rupert!" arrived safely on the 1lith of August, the "Graham"
was lost with all hands,.31

In spite of the dispatch with which the selection
appoiﬁtment and departure of Bishop Anderson was finally
accomplished Governor SimpsonIWas aware of it In plenty of time
to make adequate preparations for the Bishop's reception.
These extended not only to making ready one house at Lower
Fort Garry as & residence for the Bishop and another for his
chaplain but also making his jburney from York to Red River
as comfortable as possible. It was a season of much food
scarcity and Hargrave at York Factory had to‘beg extra supplies
from Ballenden at Red River, | Nearer at hand he sent to

Robertson at Oxford House for a supply of fresh cranberries.,

31. Macleod, Margaret - The Letitia Hargrave Correspondence
D 2




From Norway House Governor Slmpson wrote to Hargrave,
"Pray take care that there are no druken scenes at York at
any time'- - = more espe01ally when the ‘Bishop passeS. « .

‘do not let Brigades start on Sundays."3 Evidently Simpso

memories of West and Evans were sti1ll fresh and he dld not|

intend taking enyiunnecessary'chances with the new Lord Bi

The voyage was ueeventful. With Mr. Hunt acting as
chaplain the Bishop conducted regular services throughout
voyage. These were greatly helped by music from the Bisho
portable harmonium,33 the first such instrument to reach %

Red River. On the 13th of Avugust they anchored in Five-Fg
,Hole in a thick fog, and on Thursday the lﬁth they. landed,

safe and in good health. "It was a brlght and beautiful 6!

so that our first impressions of York Fort and the river were
very fevourable. We had then two days of extreme heat: the

f-mosqultoes were abundant, and yet the annoyance is not nesg

so great as we expected., This intense heat was succeeded

a thunder-storm which was follwwed by three days of delugil

3l

rain "

32, Ibid p ecxxiil

33. Rupert's Land Diocesan Archives (hereafter designated

R.L.D.A] Copy of the diary of Rev. Robert Huné,
July 29th 1849. |

3l Tntelligencer December 1849 p 176
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Before landfng, the Bishop received a letter from Si

George Simpson telliﬁg him that the news of his appointment

L

has been received from Hudson Bay House; that two boats were

at his service for the journey up; and that accommodation was

ready at the Lower Fort for him and his chaplain, The interval

before the arrival of the boats from Red River was not spend

in 1dleness. The bishop evidently had considerable discusgion

with Mr. Hergrave about the missionarles already in the country.

West and Coekran apparently stood particularly high in that

gentleman's esteem. From him the Bishop also learned of the

We%iaéns' suceess in keeping thevnatives.aanﬁnissiia~from

liéﬁér and of Evans! work on the Cree syllabies.

Oon the Saturday the Bishop baptized the thirteen moy

old daughter of ChiefiFactor and Mrs. Hargrave. On Sunday

full Morning Service was held in the large mess-room of the

Fort and the Bishop preéched his first sermon in his dioce
On Saturday and Sunday afternoons he visited some Indians
Churehill in their tents, and for the rest of the week he 3

them déily in the hall. . On Friday the 2lth, the boats arr

1th

5O o

from
me t

ived

from Red River bearing letters of welcome from Cockran, James,

and Smithurstitogether with the latter's thoughtful gift of a

copy of his own Indian vocabulary.

Sunday began with the marriage of an Indlan couple.|

85.



Morning Service was attended by the sailors of Sir John

- Richardson's overland expedition., In the afternoon a service
of baptism was held for four of the Indians whom he had been
instructing during the past week, Monday he married Mr.
Williem Christie and Miss Sinclair; Tuesday he married Mr.
Edward Pelly and Miss Clouston who had arrived on the'Prince
Rupert"; and on Wednesday the journey to Red River began.

On Wednesday morning the 3rd of October they entered
the mouth of the Red River. At two o'clock in the afternoon
the Bishop stopped for a brief period at the Indian Settlement.
Here he was greeted "not only bjymr; Smithurst but also by
Major Caldwell, the Governor of Rupert's Land, who;had come
down from the Upper Settlement to meet him;“35

By evening they were all safely at the Lower Fort where
they were met by Rev. R. Jémaslwith the news of the death of
the Rev. John Macallum that very mofning at the Upper Settle-
ment. The funeral was conducted on Friday by Mr. Cockran,
the senior Missionafy in the diocese, and attended by all Red
Rivery clergy excepting only John Smithurst who did not hear

about it in time.

35. Stock - History of the C. M. 8, v 3 p 318
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CHAPTER IV

THE WORK AT RED RIVER 1849 to 1856

From the time of Governor Christie's restrictive regulations
issued in 1844 there had been a growing opposition in the Settlement
to the existing Government of Assiniboia. The sen’cinien’cs and opinions
of Judge Adam Thdm, who had been appointed as Recorder in 1839, were
fairly well known in the Settlement by this time, and the inspiration
for the new restrictions was commonly attributed to him, Since the
regulations were designed with the object of protecting the Hudson's
Bay Company's monopoly'trade in furs they aroused the particular
opposition of the Metis who claimed that the;r Indian ancestry gave
them an inalienable right to traffic in furs, A series of epidemics
in the Settlement in 1845-46 brought an end to much of.the‘opposition.
During the years 1846 to 1848 the Settlement was both orderly and ,
prosperous owing to the presence of a detachment of British troops.

Although the troops brought prosperity and order to the Red
River they did not stop the voice of opposition from reaching the oub=
side world., The complaipts of the Metis found a willing advocate in
a young London lawyer, A.K, Isbister, "He was a native of Rupert!s
Land and had a dash of Indian blood in his veins...... In 1847
Isbister, with five other (English) half-breeds of Red River, forward-
éd to‘the Secretary of State for the Colohies, a long and able memorial
setting forth the grievances of the petitionerso"l This memorial together
with another from the French Metis eventually led to the exhaustive

inquiry by the Select Committee of the House of Commons in 1857,

1. Bryce, George = The Remarkable History of the Hudson's Bay
. ComE%Y » p 437-8.




Meanwhile, in 1848 Major Griffiths and the 6th Royal Regiment
were replaced as Governor and garrison respectively, of the Red River,
by Major Caldwell and a small group of pensioners. John Ballenden
commented, "Of the men, I hardly know what to say., Their being sent
out is experimental, and 1 fear they will not answer the purpose for
vhich they were sealr:rib‘,......"2 Their chief value to the colony seems to
havg been the money which they put into circulation by reason of their
Paye

| Ballenden!s worst fears r_eggrding the uselessness of this band

of old soldiers were soonl realized, The Metis quickly estimated their
worth as a military force, When William Sayer and three others were
arrested in the spring of 1849 for illicit trading in furs, the Metis
armed themselves and .by their at'bendance at the trial, forced the release
of their friends without punishment. In effect this meant free trade

in furs in Red River and the Company gave up all further attempts

to enforce its monopoly in the Settlement.

On the more personal sicie this mock trial and its results fur'b]&er
accentuated the opposition to Recorder Thom on the part of the disaffect-
ed portion of the population. Major Caldwell's own pompous and vain
nature had already begun %o generate a dislike for him quite mart from
the office which he held., His assocj.ation with Thom in this trial
still further demasged his popularity. In a letter written on the
seme day immediately after the trial, Caldwell himself said, "Judge

Thom and myself, the chief objects of hatred -- I for having issued

24 P.A.B.C. ROSS LETTERS - D, Ross from John Ballenden,
Decenber 11lth, 1848.
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the sumonses against the fur traders.e... 1 do not think we have

a constable who would summons a half-breed for trading in furs, nor

would his life be safe in doing so."3
i Another type of grievance was held by the Presbyterian section
of the population., Alexander Ross gives an'impreséive chronicle of
the léng series of attempts;fby the Presbyterians, to obtain the
seﬁvices of a minister of théir own persﬁaéion. Although, from

lack of any alternative,vthey and their families atfended the services
of ‘the Church of England, they still kept up their own mid-week cottage
prayer meetings. The majority of the Presbyterians belonged to the
congregation of the Upper Church, and two of their number, Alexander
Ross and Robert McBeath,'were acting as church wardens in 1849.4 .
From the days of the Rev, David Jdnes,the services here had been con-
siderably mo&ified; oult of considerstion for the Presbyterians. When
Bishop Mountain visited the Red River in 1844 he was shocked to find
that the Upper and Lower Churches had neither a communion table nor

a place reserved for one.5 This circumstance was remedied in the

new stone church at St. Andrew's, but the Upper Church remained unchanged

when Bishop Anderson arrived in 1849. This circumstance,combined with
the Presbyterian claims to the Upper Chnrch.and its property, caused
the Bishop some of his greatest amnoysnce during his first three years

in the Settlement,

3e P,A.B.C, ROSS LETTERS ~ D. Ross from Major Caldwell, May 17th, 1849.

leo P,A,M, ROSS LETTERS =~ Alexander Ross from Bishop Anderson,
: ' November 8th, 1851,

Be Mountain - Journal. ©p 8l.
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With all of these problems Bishop Anderson came into contact :
very soon after his arrival at Fort Gafry; But the matter, which
claimed his first attention. was the‘fuﬁeral of the old schoolmaster,
the Rev. John Macallum, According to the diar& of the Bishop'!s
ck’aaﬁ;lain,6 Macallum died at about seven ofclock in the morning of
the 3rd of October, the time at which the Bishop and his party were
entering fhe mouth of the Red River., By so narrow a mergin did hek
miss the fulfilment of his desire to live until the Bishop arrived.
Despite the unfavorable gossip which had’been circulating in recent
months as a result of his discipline probléms in the girls'! school,
‘the chaplain's impression of Macallum was that he "never knew a man
more generally beloved‘"7

Macallum's funeral in the Upper Church, where he had served
* throughout his entire ministry, wes the first public function in which
the Bishop took part in Red River, The-service was read by the senior
clergyman in the Settlement, the Rev. William Cockran, and atbended
by all the notables in the community. It was at the funeral that
Rev, Hunt was introduced by Rev. Robert James to Major Caldwell,
Governor'(}ifssiniboiao After the service they accompanied the Governof
o UpperéFort Garry and in.the course of their visit Hunt heard the
account of the Sayer trial. Doubtless if the Bishop had not already

. heard sbout this affair he was not long after his chaplain in doing so.

6e  BRilisDe.A. Hunt Diary Octobersdid, 1849

7 Tbid ©chober 19th, 1849,
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In any event;exactly one week later the Bishop became intimately
concerned with the results of the Sayer affair:whén he took his
place as a member of the Council of Assiniboié. On the 12th of
October a special meeting of the Council of Assinibois wés called
fogether in the court-house for the purpose of swearing in the two
new members, the Lord Bighop, and the Rev. John Smithurst.

The Bishop's first sermon in the Red River Settlement was

-preached in the wooden church at the Repids, on the 7th of October,
His chaplain's diary shoﬁs that Anderson uSed‘ﬁhe same text on this
occasion as he did for the first sermon which he préached in his_
diocese ét York Factory on the 19th of August (2 Corinthians 14).

Thé following Sunday a special communion service was held’in the same
church in thanksgiving for the safe arrival of the Bishop énd his
party°

. Somewhere about this time the contents of Macallim's will

became known, On the 19th of October, "Mr, McAllum havingAinstrucf-
ed his executors to offer the Bp. his school and house étc, his Lord-;
ship went to the upper part of‘ﬁhs Settlement to see about it."® His
Lordship evidently berceived the important role in the future of the
North-West which could be played by the Red River Academy, and he
promptly arranged to purchase it. Here was surely a wonderful
opportunity for carrying into effect the Ghu:ch Missionary Society's

desire for the training of a native ministry. The terms of purchase

8e Tbid, October 19th, 1849.
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are at present unknown., There is a note in the Gnurch Missionary

e

s a—

Intelligencer for December 18499 to the effect that %500 from the

", ..My heart was not warmed by the appearance of things in the ;

Jubilee Fund had been granted to erect the necessary buildings for anf
institution to train a native ministry. It is ?ossible that the
Bishop applied this money in the purchése of the Academye.

Since his arrival in the Settlement the Bishop had resided in |

the house provided for his use in.the Lower Fort. Educational duties?

i

required his regular presence in the Upper Settlement, Accordingly
on the 26th of October the Bishop and his family moved %o Macallum's
house near the Upper Ghufch. Here he 1iyed throughout the fifteen
years of his épiscopacy in Rupert's Land. B& Januery 1855 this
house was known as_Bishop's Court, which name it retained until its‘f
final demoli‘tion abditithe year 1900. v v §
Meanwhile on the intervening Sunday (October 2Lst) the first 5
evidences of another problem had begun to come to light. Robert Hunf

attended both services at the Indian Settlement on that date and

afterwards recorded his own feelings of uneasiness about what he.sawi

{

Services etCes.os The Indians did not appear to enjoy the afternoon%
Service any more than the morning Service, although the former was |
partly in their own language. Meny of the Indlans appear ‘to have

been injured by the political agitations ete, of the Upper Settlement..

But they appear to be returning to a better mind, "0

% Intelligencer, December 1849. P 181.

10, R.L.D.A, - Hunt Diary, October 2lst, 1849.
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Apparently the uneasy feéling,ﬁoticed by Hunt was the dying
flame of a spirit of disaffection which had arisen thal year among

certain membérs of the congregation at the Indian.Settlement.ll
The strained relationships continued 4 improve that year, however,
if we can judge from the Bishop's comments on the occasion of his
visit to the Indian Settlement at Christmas 1849, Faithful to his
promises to assist Smithu:st at his services on Christmas Day, the
Bishap arrived at the Indian Set%lement on December 24th, Mr, and
Mrs, Hunt arrived later in the day and together they all spent a
pleasant evening in talk and reminiscence, Thé Bishopt!s sense of
happiness at what he saw continuedgthroughout the next day. 4t the
conclusion of thé'evening service he could not restrain his express-
ion of pleasure and after all was finished,he told ‘them how much he
' had enjoyed the services of the day.L? |

The move to the‘Academy.seemed to mark the beginning of
Bishop Anderson's work, In his own house and school he seeméd to
feel free to think and act independently. Here he had as his neigh-
“bor, the veteran missionary Willism Cockran, who still held the charge
of the Upper Church, and the Hudson's Bay Company chaplaincy. Here,

too, was a home for his sister and his three small sons, The proximit;

to the school was a personal consideration of advantage since according

%o their ages (three, five,and seven) all three of them would soon be
enrolled as pupils.
Shortly after the move to the Academy the Bishop was apprised

of the Presbyterian claims to the Upper Church which they had helped

11, ?.A.B,C, ROSS LETTERS -~ D, Ross f;om John Smithhurst, June 4th,

12, Intelligencer, June 1850, p 325,
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%o build. Their claims rested principally on verbal promfses made by
Lord Selkirk to furnish a Preshyterien minister, and in 1817, to set
apart two lots for a school and a chﬁrch, These presumably were the
lots occupied by the Uppef Church and school, Unfortunately Lord
Selkirk failed to send the promised clergymen 'ere he died and the
hapless settlers‘petitioned in vein for many years before they finally
met with success, 4n application to the Company in 1844 on the matter
brought thevreply that, "when the colony had been re-transferred to
them by Lord Seikirk’s executors in ;836, no mention had been made of
any such stipulation as that alleged°“l3v Application was then made
to the Frée Church of Scotiand directly and by them referred to the
Présbyterian Church of Canada. By June 1849 negotiations had advancedto Such
8. pointyily that a clergyman was expected‘to arrive that summer. On
the groundé of this expectation an application was made to Gove?nor
Simpson for a trensfer of the Uppér Churéh to the Presbyterians., Sir
George however avoided the issue with the plea that such a matﬁer‘was
beyond his authority andlmust be referred to the London Gommittee.l4 |
Now the persistant Sheriff of Assiniboia began direct
negotiations with Bishop Anderson by sending himAall the correspondence
connected with the Upper Church. In connection with these claims it is
interesting to note thet the Church Missionary Intelligencer for
Jenuary 3850 states that this churéh was built in 1834 "oy the liberal

contributions of the Settlers, aided by grants from the Hudson's Bay

13. Hargrave - Red River. p 123.

e P.A.M, ROSS LETTERS - A.Ross from G.Simpson, July 7th, 1849,
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Company and the Church Missionary Societx."l5 On the 1lst of November
the Bishop sent‘Ross a most affable and sympathetic reply,thanking him
for the information and assuring him of careful consideration of the
matter,

Except for this one letter acknowledging his introduction to
the problem of possession of the Upper Church the Bishop was apparently
not bothered about it any further for the rest of the year, His energies
and attentions were amply taken up with establiéhing hinself at tﬁe
Academy, and familiarizing himself with, and arranging various
ecclesiastical matters, in the Settlement. Mr, Lumsden, Macallum's
assistant, continued to instruct the boys department under the super-
4intendence of the Bishop, while the girls department was temporarily
dispersed. Among his pupils the Bishop found Roderick and Donald Ross)
the two sons of the Chief Factor at Norway House, together with the
éldest son of the Governor of Assinibola.

For the time being the Bishop maintained the status quo so far
as the distribution of his clergy was concerned. William Coékran re-
 mained in charge of the Upper and Middle Churches,whilg Robert James
cared for the large and populous parish of St. Andrew's. It proved to
be.impossible for Hunt to proceed to Lac la Ropge uvntil the following
sunmer, so he remained al ‘the Lower Fort and assisted James by looking
after the lower section of his parish, Smithurst continued at the
Indian Settlement though afflicted much by recurring attacks of

rhevmatism,

15, Intelligencer, January 1850. p 212.
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After due consideration the Bishop had fixed the 19th of
December as the date for the consecrétion of the new St. Andrew's
Church. Great efforts were now‘put fqrth to have the building coﬁr
pleted by the appointed day. On the 9£h of November the Bishop wrote
to Donald Ross, "We are looking forwaerd with interest to the con-
secration of the new church at the Rapids. They are working very
busily at it to get it completed and it will be a most creditable
building., It will be about the 19th of December, and I hope to ordain
Mr, Chepman in it on the 23rd. He will have charge of the Middle

Church, 16

John Chapman had been a lay reader at All Saints' Church,
Derby, England, the incumbency held by Anderson at the time of his
appointment to the episcopacy.17 He had volunteered to accompany
the new bishop to his remote diocese and now after further studies,
he was to be ordained. On Wednesday, the 19th of December, St.
Andrew's was duly consecrated in the presence of a large congregation
and all of the Red River clergy., On the following Sunday Hunt "under-
took the duty at the Upper Church, in order that Mr., Cockran, who had
been.presept during Mr. Chapman!s examination, might present him for
Ordination, "8

Following this, his first ordination, the Bishop rode on to

spend a happy Christmas at the Indian Settlement with John Smithurst.

16, P.A.B.C, ROSS LETTERS - D,Ross from Bishop Anderson, November 9th, 1849.

17. Bishop Anderson - The Seal of Apostleship, an ordination sermon.

18, Intelligencer, June 1850, P 324,



On Boxing Daj he returned to his home at the Academy, where, on the
last day of the year, he was surprised and pleased to welcome the
Rev, Abraham Cowley from Manitoba Station., The Bishop immediately
decided to hold a meeting of the clergy of his diocese Sincé all
could now Be present exgepting Hunter at Cumberland House, Fortunateiy
a fairly full account of this first diocesan meebing of the clergy is |
given in the Church Missionary Intelligencer for June 1850, It was
held on the 10th of January 1850. In January 1851 John Smithurst
refers to having attended an ammual clerical meeting with the B:‘Lshop19
which would indicate that a decision was reached to hold such meetings
annually.

On Epiphany Sundéy, January 6th, the Bighop Anderson preached
a sermon in support of the Church Missionary Soqiety at St. Andrew's
Church. The collection in response was only £3,but it must be
remembered that they had just finished subscribing some £70 the day
before to fence in the burial ground, as well as pledging money to
build a new school in spring. In the afternoon he preached at the “
Middle Church and réceivedigﬁ 2s in nmoney plus forty bushels of wheat, <0

With this background in mind, the meeting of the clergy first
organized a Church Missionary Association for Rupert's Land, The
meeting was held in ST. Andrew's with Major Caldwell, an old friend
of the Society, acting as chairmen, Following the chairman's remarks
the Bishop explained something of the work and organization of the

Society. On account of the bad weather the attendance was small, but

19, P.A.B.C, ROSS LETTERS - D, Ross from John Smithurst, January 19th, 18
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after several speskers had been heard a General Branch Association

for Rupert's Land was formed. Major Caldwell was Patfon with Bishop
Anderson as President and Mr. Biack a8 Treasurer, The rest of the ‘
Committee was made up of the clergy of the diocese plus nine laymen;

The Bishop continued his appeal for support for the Society '
on the following Sunday at the Upper Church and thefGafrison Chapel,
" These co;lections,together with a contribution 6fiﬁﬂ3 from Major
Caldwell,made a total of,approximatelygIDOE all of which was spent for
educational and missionary purposes in;fhe Séttlement and in the
Diocese at large, |

After the organization of the Association the clergy éonference
concerned itself with the prospects of missionary extension in the
Diocese. In his first letter to the‘Parent Society, written just
after landing at York Factory, the Bishop had said, "to the Indiens
especially I feel that I am sént."Zl This feéling, combined with his
interest in education;.seems to have been the principal object of his
work as Bishop of Rupertts Land., Four points were suggested as likgly
places for new stations. These were Churchill, York, Moose Factory,and
Fort Pelly, with the stroﬁgést'opinion in favor of the latter.

Arrangements were evidently made at this conference for the
holding of confirmation services, during the month of May, at the four
Red River Ghurches‘ ‘Large groups were presented for the rite at each

of the churches, and at the Indian Settlement the Bishop surprised

21, Intelligencer, December 1849.. p 177
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‘and delighted them all by pronouncing the ConfirmationaService in
Cree.?? The last of the Red River Confirmatiors was held on the

ZEth at the ﬁpper Church and some two or three weeks later the Bishop
set oul for a similar service at Cumberland,

Meanwhile Bishop Anderson's time was fully teken up in
various ways. As already indicated he applied himself to learning
Cree, the most widely spoken of the Indian languages of Rupert's Land.
The practical demands of the classroom claimed much of his time since
there were only Mr., Lumsden and himself to do the teaching at the
Academy, Much discussion also teok plaée with regard tb fhe future of
the girls?! school., Since the scandals arising from Macallum's dis-
ciplinary problems in recent years,‘the gentlemen of the country"
had become much concerned about the schodl and many Suggegtions were
given to the Bishop as to its future éonduct and location.23 All seen
to have agreed as to the necessity of its continuance and the advis-
ability of separating the girls department'from that for the boys,
while keeping the whole under the superintendence of the Bishop.

Towards the end of January 18§O Anderson attended his second
meeting of the Council of Assiniboia.?4 The minutes of the meetings
at this time did not record the names of movers and seconders of
motions and for that reason the parts played by the individual members

are obscure. However,because of the presence of His Lordship, local

22,  P.A,B.C, ROSS LETTERS - D.Ross from Rev. John Hunter, June 27th, 1850,
23. P.A.B.C, ROSS LETTERS - D.Ross from John Ballenden, December 17th, 1849,
2he Oliver - North-West. p 356,
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practice was brought into harmony with current British custom and the

Governor cgased issuing marriage licenceé and turned the job over to
the Bishop., It seems likely that the Governor, as a staunch support-
er of the Church, was respénsible jointly Qith the Bishop for this
motion,

By this date Bishop Anderson had had sufficient time to
appreciate fully the infrequent nature of the mails., He not only felt
the hdmesiékness of an Englishman in a strange land, but alsc the
necessity of frequent and full communication‘with the English Societies
from which his Diocese drew the maigrity of its financial support., By
this time also he was aware of the trading ®iips to the United States
made by the various local merchants and fur traders, and of the fact
that some of them received letters by tﬁis route. In view of these
considerations and of a series of similar motions later attributed
directly to the Bishop,it seems altogether likely that the motion deal—u
ing with the mails, at this meeting, owed its origin to Bishop Anderson.
The motion proposed that owing to the growing closeness of the Imperial
connection as showh by the erection of the Diocese of Rupert!s Land it
was desirable that postal communications be improved. The method
suggested was by regularizing the mails "via St. Peter's or the nearest’
post town"25 in the United States. This motion was subsequently cancell-

ed upon the promise of Sir George Simpson to provide six mails a year

for the sum of £200, but the Bishop's proposed route eventually proved

254 Ibid.
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to be the one by which the most rapid and frequent system of commmic~
ation was fifst opened up.

On the 2lst of February, just a month after the Council meeting,
the flame of disaffection for Governor Caldwell and Recorder Thom re-
ceived fresh fuel, Ever since the Sayer case Csldwell had acted him-
self as president of the General Quarterly Court of Assiniboia, Among
other cases, he was called upon to adjudicate; was one on the above date
in which a workman.by the namesof_Matheson biought suit againstvthe
Recorder to obtain £25 in paymenf for building a verandah on Mr, Thom!s
house, The brief record of the case contained in the minutes of the
court shows that the case was nonsuited when it was shown that no
written account had ever beeﬁ rendered for the work.

Sheriff Ross, who appears to have béen a leader in this dispute,
gave a very differeﬁt account of the case to his brother, "Mr, Thom
pleaded his own case, After stamping, ramping and lecturing some two
hours, insulting the magistrate and tufning the jury out of the box, he
put on his hat and walked out of the court, sans ceremonie, leaving the
besotted president insidef"26 Despitevthe exaggeration it is evident
that the case was used by the disaffecteq party to further discredit
both Governor Caldwell and Recorder‘Thom.

The climax to the opposition,just after the Bishop returned from
Cumberland, came as a result of a case of "Defematory Conspiracy" réised
by Captain Foss, second in command of the Pensioners, against Mr. and

Mrs, Pelly and Mr, and Mrs, Davidson, Foss had been one of the principals

264 PoA.B.C, ROSS LETTERS - D.,Ross from Sheriff A. Ross, August 7th, 1850,
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in a flirtation with the wife of John Ballenden,and the Pellys and
the Davidsons had been the ring-leaders in a vicious whispering
campaign against the Captain, and Mrs, Ballenden, On the 16th of
July the Captain brought suit in order.toqclear both himself and
Mrs, Ballendeﬁ° "Summonses were’demanded. All the magistratés TE-
fused to act under Major‘Caldwell and, after various shuffles, the
Major himself had to.act."27

Summonses were issued to a<great many individuals from every
walk of life including the clergy. The case was seen to be fraught
with so many intricacies and difficulties that the Governor made
arrangements for the_colony*s legal expert, Adam Thom, to resume his
seat as judge for this occasion., Pelly objected to this on the grounds
that Thom had previously acted as attorney for the plaintiff, bub his
objection was overruled. The universally coﬁpromising nature of the
case was shown whén at one point in the proceedings Judge Thon charged
Rev.ggggkran's wife and Mrs. Black with perjury.

Foss won his case and was awarded £300 damages. "Major Caldwell,
howeverye.se..wWas so much dissatisfied with the conduct of the case that,
believing a gross miscarriage of justice had been perpetratéd, he‘address-
ed a statement of his views to the Board of the Company in London.“28

As a result Thom was demoted to clerk of court with no change of salary,

from which post he finally resigned in 1854.

7. Ibid,
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"On the tail of this impolitic, not to say disagraceful,

affair, in which the clergy have been bﬁt too deeply concerned, such
was the impulse of public feeling that a petition was immediately got
- up to set aside Major Caldwell and place the government of the colony
in the hands of Governor Colvile, <9

The Governor of Rupert's Land sent his reply to this petition
to Sheriff Ross on the 19th of August.Bo He pointed out thaet the
current impasse in the government of the colony was the result of a
refusal to co-operate on the parthf those very councillors who now
complained about their predicament. After noting that only the clergy
had continued to support Major Galdwell,‘he was forced by the exigencies
of the situation, "to assume that portion of Majér Caldwelll!s duties
comprising the Presgidency of the Couft_and Council, until the decision
of the Governor and Committee be known.“Bl The decision of the Governor
and Committee was known by the lst of May 1851 and according to the
Company rule that no person directly connected with the Company should
be involved in the government of.ﬁssiniboia, Colvile was ordered to
withdraw from both Court and Council,

Governor Colvile presided at two meetings of the Council‘of
Assiniboia held on the 5th of September and the 16th of October, At
A the second of these meetings the colony waé divided into three judicisal
districts and petty magistrates were appointed for each, This andwered

the objections of many as to the difficulty of obtaining justice in

29, P.A,B.C. ROSS LETTERS - D, Ross from Sheriff A.Ross, August 7th, 1850
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the colony, but it did not succeed in stopping thebdissension which
prevailed.

In December Bishop Anderson made an effort to try and heal the
breach. It was customary in the schools of the colony to hold the
examinations of the pupils in public at the Christmas season., The
conclusion of the examinetions was celebrated by a party at fhe home
of the schoolmaster. As proprietor of the Academy, Bishop Anderson.
éought to use the opportunity of the Christmas examination to invite
the presence of leaders on both sides of the political dispute. Un-
fortunately, for various legitimate reasons, all those who had been
invited from one faction found it impossible to be present, Judge
Thom promptly examined his own pupils and invited the opposite faction.32
Thus the Bishop's good intentions came Lo nought and his effort at
peace—makiﬁg became yet another incident in the constant process of
irritatipn and counter-irritation that developed between the rival
factions.

Apart from this effort the Bishop seemed to assume a very
passive role throughoult the dispute. He might well do so,for he was
scarcely in a.posiﬁion to be able to help his friend with the political
situation when he himself was involved in a dispute with Alexander Ross
over the possession of Upper Church property. As noted previously,
éirect negotiations between the Bishop and Alexander Ross, as spokes=

men for the Presbyterians, had begun amicably enough shortly after

326 P.A.B,C, ROSS LEITERS - D,Ross from John Smithurst,
Janvary 19th, 1851,
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Anderson's arrival in October 1849, Towards the end of June/the

Presgbyterians became apprehensive and once more appealed to Sir
George Simpson, Their letters reached him early in July and in
reply he urged them to place the matter before Eden Colvile, the
new Governor of Rupert's Land, who wﬁs expecfed to arrive at Fort
Garry in a few weeks.33 ‘

After a series of interviews Colvile worked out a four-point
compromise which was agreed to by Bishop Anderson gnd which was sub=
mitted to the Presbyterians on the R8th of Octobers 4 This compromise
proposed the evaluation of the exlsting church as old materials and
the proportionate payment of each seceder from the congregation; the
reservation of the right to be buried in the existing churchyafd; ‘the
grant of a site at Frog Plain for the building'of a Presbyﬁerian Church;
and the graﬁt of £150 towards the building of the Church., Though
these terms were apparently agreed upon before being thus formally
committed to writing, the Presbyterians replied on the 19th of
November 1850 by requesting Colvile to place‘thevwhole co;respondence

on the matter before the Governor and Committee in Londono35

33 Ross = Red River. D 354.
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Unknown to the negotiators at Red River, Sir George Simpson
had heard of the terms of the compromise and wrote to Loﬁdon statingv
that the Presbyterian claims had been settled by such‘an arrangement.,
On the 6th of December, exactly two weeks after Colvile had agreed
to refer the matter to London, a letter was being written from the
London Committee confirming the arrangement and desiring that the
land and premises be conveyed to Bishop Anderson.36 This letter reach-
ed Colvile the following &pril and on theyl5th of May 1851 the arrange-
ment was agreed to between the disputants. |

The vicious personal nature of these disputes which disrupted
the social life of this peculiarly isolated community at this time, ,
deeply disturbed the charitable ana kindly nature of Bishob Anderson.,
In mid December he wrote to Donald Ross at Norway House, "We have had
a period of trial and difficulty in the Settlement since I returned,
411 is now quiet and tranquil., I trust I have acted a straight forward
and Christian part bhroughout; whatever may be said of my conduct at
the time, I am sure that such will be the judgment of my course in
the end, I have but one desire -~ to labour in my Master!s service“

among those to whom he has sent me, and especially the poor Indians,"37

36, P.A.M, ROSS LETTERS - A, Ross from Govérnor Colvile,
April 16th, 1851.

37. P.4,B.C, ROSS LETTERS = D, Ross from Bishop Anderson,
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This particular interest in "the poor Indians" was already
finding scope for éxpressioh within the walls of the Academy, On
his return from Cumberland, the Bishop brought with him three Indians;
Henry Budd senior, his eldest son of the same name, and the eldest son
of James Settee, the Indian catechist at Lac la Ro@ge.38 The two
boys were enrolled as pupils in>the Academy and by December the Bishop
wrote that Hepry_Budd, Jjunior, was "one of the most promising boys
in tﬁe Schoolcﬁ39

Henry Budd senior had labored as a catechist since 1840 at
the Cumberlend Station. He had been educated, sﬁccessively by West,
Cockran, and Jones, as a boy and had later read various‘theological
works sent to him by his namesake in England, When Rev.ggagter arrived
in 1844,Budd continued to work at the station;With him, He was
particularly helpful to Hunter in learning Cree, and worked closely
with him in his translation of the Bible and Prayer Book. Now he was
given a further course of study by the Bishop preparatory:to ordaining
him as the first Indian clergyman of the Church of England in Rupert!s
Land.. o

There were other events which also served to encourage the
Bishop in his thorny task, The sumer of 1850 had seen the arrival of
a new teacher for the Aéademy in the person of Mr, G. Pridham, This
relieved Bishop Anderson of much of his former burden of teaching in
the Academy and freed him for such duties as the training of Henry Budd.

Probably with the suggestion and help of the Bishop, Pridham undertook

38, Intelligencer, December 1850. p 480,
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to open a young ladies! school the following summer. With this object
in viéw he purchased Mr, Cockran's new house to serve as a school, and

sent home for his fiancee to come out and act as school Inj.s’oress,,4o

What happened to this arrangement is unknown to the present writer, but
the following summer a Mrs., Mills commenced c;asses in Cockran's
former house which thereafter was known as St. Cross Ladies! School.

' The Hudson's Bay Company'!s ship fo York Factory also brought
letters from the Pérent Committee of the Church Missionary Society.
On the 28th of May 1850 that body had resolved "That the Missionaries
of the stations in North West America be formed into a Comittee to act
as a Corresponding Committee to consult_upon and advisg the Parent
Committee in the affairs of the Mission?Al Bishop Anderson was request-
ed to act as President, with Major Caldwell and Rev. W. Cockran as
members, and Rev, R. James as Secretag&; Accordingly;on the 30th of
October a ﬁeeting was held at the Red River Academy and the Correspond~
ing Committee was set up as requested. It was concerned chiefly with
financial matters and with theAextension of the missionary activities
of the C.M.S. in Rupert's Land, The minutes of its meetings constitute
a valuable record of these phases of the activities of the C.M.S, in
‘the Diocese,

- Help was also forthecoming from other quarters, "In 1850 the

Society (for the Propagation of the Gospel) responded to a request of

40, Ibid,
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~ ‘the Bishop to enter the field 4 By November 43 1850 the Rev, W.H,
Taylor, a young deacon from Newfoundland, had arrived in the golony
to take charge of a small settlement on the Assiniboine River,

| With the addition of Taylor, the Bishop's class of ordinands
now numbered three, Early in December the candidates were examined
and on the 22nd'qf December they were presented to the Bishop for
ordination in St. Andrew's Church, John Chapman who was ordained
priest at this time had been laboring at the Middle Church for the
past year, and now assumed full charge of the parish, W.H, Taylor
was also ordained priest at this‘time preparatory to taking charge
of what soon became the parish of St, James',

By far the most interesting candidate was the Indian Henry

Budd, who was ordained deacon. He was well known in The Settlement
having been brought there ss a.boy by John West in 1820, His aged
mother was present at the ordination, and afterwards at a service in
the same church at which her son preached his first sermon as a deacon,
In February 1851 Budd accompanied Bishop Anderson as far as Partridge
Crop»oﬁ Lake Manitoba and then continued on to rejoin Hunter at

Cumberland,

L2, Pascoe - 3, P,G, Digest. p 178.
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Despite these marks of progress, all did not continue to be
harmonious e%en in the Indian work of the Diocese, Some time about
the end of April 1851, shortly after Governor Colvile had received
. authority from London to proceed with his proposals for the settlement
of the Presbyterian question, the old unrest among the congregation at
the Indian Settlement came to a climax, The same group who had become
disaffected two years ago, now wrote to Bishop Anderson with complaints
against their minister, Rev, John Smithurst.?4 His Lordship promptly
went down to the scene and met the complainants in the school., At the
conclusion of a bitter two hour meeting the ailing and disheartened
Smithurst told his Bishop that he would resign, for the spirit of the
people was such as to give him no pleasure in ministering among them,

Smithurst himself believed that the trouble-makers were urged on
by William Cockran, "who, for reasons best known to himself, wishes me
aWaYesssse AL all events there has been no cordiality between him and
myself for a long time.45 As a result of Cockran's sale of his house
at the Upper Settlement rumor had got around that he was returning to
the Indian Settlement., Smithurst considered this as confirmation of
his suspicions and aadly decided to end his twelve years of ministry
at the Indian Settlement. On the 4th of June he communicated his
decision to his friend Donald Ross. '"Things are, I assure you, in a

wretched state al Red River, and I am glad enough to get away, but at

bdve PoAdB.C, ROSS LETTERS - D, Ross from Rev., John Smithurst,
‘ June 4th, 1851,
.5, Ibid.



the same time feel deep;y injured and painfully affected by the treat-’
ment I have received.“46

Smithurst evidently left Red River'soon afﬁerwards for by the
time the Corresponding Committee met again on the 9th of July, the.
station was being sgpplied by Cockran, The Bishop himself took charge
of the Upper Church,

Elsewhere in the colony W.H, Taylor was making progress
émongst his mixed congregation on the Assiniboine, During the summer,
on a spot within sight of an Indian burial ground, work was begun on a
church and rectqry; Funds were provided by the S.P.G. who alsb paid
Taylorts salary,

The Presbyterian community also made real progress at this time,
Immediately after receiving word that the Governor and Committee had
approved of Colvile's propositions, the Presbyterians held a_meeting
at which a board of managers was appointed to build a manse at Frog
Plain,4? Word was soon received from Cenada that a Presbyterian
clergyman would definitely arrive at Red River that summer, This
news so spurred on the board of managers that the spacious manse was

completed by the time that the Rev, John Black arrived on the 19th of

September.As'
L6, Ibid,
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Despite their concern with preparations for the long awaited
arrival of their own minister, ‘the Presbyterians were not too pre-
occupied to keep in close touch with the actions and intentions of
Bishop Anderson, Once the agreement was reached with the Presbyterians
on the 15th of May, the Bishop evidently considered that the conveyance
of the Upper Church and Lands tb ‘the Anglicans by the Hudson's Bay
Company was merely a matter of time, Such a conclusion was probably
justified under the ecircumstances, parﬁicularly in view of the prompt
beginning of building operations at ¥rog Plain by the Presbyterians.
By the beginning of September the Presbytefians were confidently look=
ing forward to serviees of their own in a few weeks,

At this time the Bishop made his first move towards regularizing
‘the services of the Upper Church according to the Order of the Church
of England., This he did by proposing in accordance with the first
clause of the agreement of the 15th of May, "that the Church should be
valued by arbitration or otherwise, as old materials, and a proportion-
ate amount paid to each seceder from the cong:c'eg:a.tion.“l"9 He‘did so
on the grounds that the secession of the Presbyterians was now obviously
only a matter of time, Since secession, this fall, was now certain,he
desgired té,implement the agreement, as sOon‘as possible, in order to
use what little of the bulilding season remained "bo make such alterations

as to admit of the Service being conducted in due order,"?0 In response

49 P.A,M, ROSS LETTERS - A.Ross from Bishop Anderson, September 5th, 1851,
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to his proposals the Bishtp was met with the accusation that he was

disturbing "the good harmony of t@e Congregation of the Upper Church,"sl
because no one had as yelt seceded,
' o not

With such a backgfound it was?%urprising neither that‘the
Bishop should refuse’? a request by ‘the Presbytérians to use the
Upper Church for the winter, ﬁéréthat some three hundred of them
should leave the congregation of the Upper Church when the Rev. John
~ Black began his services in the manse on the 28th of September, In
bany case the process of evaluating the church dragged on with much
umseemly haggling so that the Bishop was prevented from making the
desired alterations that year. The date of the final settlement of
this point remains uncertain but agreement as to the value of the
condemned building had not yet been reached by the 2lst of I\Tovembe_r,53

In the midst of these negotiations the Bishop complicated the
issue by talking about consecrating the church and yard as soon as he
was "in possession of the pews and the conveyance of the Governor and
Committee, "4 In his concern to bring all of the churches in his
diocese up to the standard of uniformity required by the Church of
England Bishop Anderson, wilfully or cherwise, disregarded the con-
sequences of consecration., The Presbyterians realized that‘it would

mean the abrogation of the second article of the agreement of May 15th

51.  Ibid. | |
524 P.A.M, ROSS LETTERS = A.Ross from Bishop Anderson, September 20th, 1851,
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which reserved to them the right of burial in the Upper Churchyard,
They promptly appealed to Governor Colvile who once more entered the
affair as mediaﬁor.55 His correspondence'with the Bishop on the
subject began on the 2lst of November and-conﬁinﬁed to ﬁhe end of
‘the month at which time the issue was referred to the Governor and
Comnittee, On the 12th of January 1852 the Committee gave its final
decree thalt neither the church nor the'yardmwere 1o be consecrated.
Instead, they were to be left open to all,56

This was a bitter blow to the Bishop for many reasons, He
had already begun to regard the Upper Church as his own, and planned
to make it his cathedral until he could build a more suitable one on
the same Site§57 On leaving England he had been led by the Governor
and Committee to belieye that the Upper Church would be ready to con~

58

secrate on his arrival, His whole English background made him
object strongly Yo the idea of a public cemetery at the very doors
of his proposed cathedral and he thergfore rejected the idea of con-
secrating the church without the yard, In addition to all this he
was still under obligation to pay those members who seceded from his

congregation to adhere to the new Presbyterian congregation while in

return he received nothing more than the use of a church building

554 P.A.M, ROSS LETTERS - A, Ross from Gov, .E. Colvile,
, November 21st, 1851,
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which had already been‘condemned for several years,

Two meetings of»the Corresponding Committee were held during
the course of the year, The minutes of the first, on the 9th of
July, recordéd the fact of the intended absence of Robert James
during the coming winter.59 Minutes of later meetings revealed
that he was forced to return to Englénd because of ill health and
never recovered sufficiently to return to Red Rivergéo Hunter came
in from his station at The Pas, Cumberland, and took charge of Sﬁ.
dndrew's parish for eight months from October 1851 to Jume 1852061
The loss from the diocese of James and Smithurst was more than off=-
set by the ordinations of 1849 and 1850 and by the arrival in the
fall of 1851 of the Rev, Charles Hillyer.

The year 1851 closed with the delivery of the Bishop's Primary
Charge, in St. #4ndrew!'s Church, to the clergy of his diocese. This
Charge was originally intended for delivery early in 1850 but had been
delayed in order to give the Bishop an opportunity to learn more about
his diocese, Now that he had visited all of the churches, and stationms,
with the exception of Moose Factory, occupied by the Church of England
in his diocese, Bishop Anderson felt himself justified iﬁ delivering
his first charge. In it he showed a good comprehension of the nature

of his diocese and the difficulties of the work in it, especially

59 S.0.R, - Corresponding Committee, July 9th, 1851,

60, S.0.R. = Corresponding Committee, December 10th, 1851,
June 9th, 1853,
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among the Indians, Although anything like the organization of a

synod was as yet impossible, two diocesan meetings of the clergy had
already been held and he hoped to have another the next summer as a
sort of translation committee,62 He still expressed opposition to the
use of Indian syllabics, regarding it rather as an additional obstacle
than as a help to the Indians, Several new stations had been occupied
and the number of clergy in the diocese had doubled since the arrival
of the Bishop,.

The Charge also referred enthusiastically to the Bishop's work
at the Red River Academy., "It has laid upon me more of labour, but
that labour has béen its own reward. To it in anticipation of the
future, I have given the name of St, John's Collegiate SchoolJ‘63
The Bishop envisaged the ultimate rebuilding of the school and the
establishment of a theological cqllege in comnection with it. These
were to be grouped around his own cathedral of the same name, TFor
the school and proposed college he had also selected the beautiful
motto, "In thy light we shall see light,!

Financially the diocese was still mainly supported by the
Church Missionery Soclety plus the progeeds from the Leith bequest
and the Hudson's Bay Company's annuity,which together paid the Bishop';
salary. His Lordship had brought out with him special granfs of

£300 and £500 respectively from the S,P.C.K, and the Jubilee Fund

626 Bishop Anderson - Primary Charge. P 34e
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of the C,M.Sal‘Help had alsq been received from the British and Foreign
Bible Society, and the S.P.G. hed undertaken the support of the parish
of St., Jomes'! on the Assiniboine. |

On the question 6f self=-support the Bishop seemed to be in-
clined to believe that the inhabiﬁants of his diocese weré doing all
that could reasonably be expectéd. Collections amounting to £102
and £85 had been received by the local branch of the C.M.S. during
1850 and 1851, But the great drawback in the country was lack of
money. "A little we have this year endeavoured to do in return; far
more would be done had the people ability, had they the power to con-
vert in a British market their corn into money; what they-could_give,
that I bear witness, they have given cheerfully and liberally,"éA

As a further project towards independent diocesan finance
Bishop Anderson had started what he called a Diocesan Church Society,
The object was to raise a fund which would be able 1o help various
parts of the work of the diocese at such a time as the support of
the missionary societies should be withdrawn. "It exists as yet only
in name; my chief wish is to meke it a centre for legacies, should any
from a distance wish to benefit the country permanently, or should
any who acquired wealth in it, desire, after the example of him whose
mmificent bequest founded the bishopric, to leave behind some token
of their anxiety for the welfare of those, through whose labour they

have amassed their riches."65

bhe  Ibide D bhe
654 Ibid. p 45
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The great event of 1852 was the flood which devastated the
Settlement during the month of May, A4 perusal of Bishop Anderson's
account®® quickly reveals the truth of Gunn's statement that "The

Colonial Governor, the Bishop of Rupert!s Lend, and slso the Rev,

John Black were untiring in their efforts to aid and comfort and cheer

the heartless, homeless people,o....."67 vHis Lordship's chief con-
cern was for his boys! and girls! schools. There»was not only the
matter of removing all of their immates to safety,but also fhe more
serious question of their continuance during the coming winbter in
view of the scarcity of supplied§ which must result from the
destruction caused by the flood, The Bishop succeeded in meking the
necessary arrangements and a minimum of interruption was caused in
the conduct of the schools.

At the height of the flood,the Bishop and his family were
forced to Take refugg with the Rev, W.H, Taylor in the unfinished
rectory at St. James, Mr, and Mrs, Taylor had lived with the Bishop
at the Academy ever since their arrival in 1850, and only tock
possession of thelr unfinished parsonage-house on May 7th when it be=-
came evident that the Academy buildings might have to be entirely
vacated because of the flood. The services of Sunday May 16th
witnessed the curious spectacle of Taylor and the Bishop éonducting

services in the hallway and being both visible and sudible to the

66, Bishop Anderson - Notes on the Flood 1852,

67, Gunn and Tuttle - Manitoba. p 308,
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congregation by reason of the unplastered state of the partitions
in the house.68

For a time it seemed that the demands of affairs at Red River
would prevent the Bishopts anticiﬁated trip to Moose and Albany dur-
ing the summer, But it took more then a flood to stop Bishop
Anderson, The waters had not yetb fully receded when,on the 26th of
May, he "Bropggt up Mr. Thomas Cockren that he might undergo his
ex:m:‘mattion.,“'69 Thomas Cockran was the son of William Cockran, having
been born at Red River in 1826 ,the year of the first great flood. He
was a graduate of Durham University and seems to have arrived in the
Settlement fairly recently with the intention of succeeding Pridhem
as head of the Collegiate Schgol. vOn Trinity Sunday, the 6th of
June, he was ordained deacon in St, Andrew's Church,

The following morning a meeting of the Corresponding Committee
was held to hear Mr, Cowley's report of his recent missionary tour.
On the 8th Pridham left on his way back %o England’C and the Bishop
arranged to reopen the Upper Church on the 20th, Mails received on
the 9th and 12th brought cheering news of additional workers for the
diocese. Confident that under Thomas Cockran all would be well with
the Collegiate Schopl, the Bishop once more looked forward_to his
visit to James! Bay, He set out from RedARiyer on the 28th of June

and did not return until the 15th of October,

68, Bishop Anderson - Notes on the Flood. D 42=43.

70, Ibid, p.96.
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During his absence several changes had taken place in the
Settlement, His good friend Donald Ross, who was now living in re=
tirement at St. Andrew‘s had fallen ill, and the Bishop immediately
went to visit him.,71 ﬂt St. Andrew!s he also learned of the depart=-
ure of Governor and Mrs, Colvile and of the arrival of W.W. Kirkby
as the new schoolmaster at the St, dndrew!s industrial school°72
On his departure for Moose Factory his Lordship had left his
Collegiate boys under the care of Thomas Cockran at the St. Andrewt!s
rectory. Now he found that they had returned to the Academy about two
weeks before his own return to Red River,’> This made him more than
ever anxious to reach home and his own fémily that night, so he
decided to ride the remaining distance by horse, Fortunately'fqr him
he met one of his senior pupils just as darkness was closing in, The
flood had made éuch changes in the roads that this boy had %o act as
guide to enable the Bishop to reach his destination that night in
sa:f‘e’cy..wP
B During the remainder of the year the Bishop seems to have been
occupied with parochial and educational duties at the Upper Church and
at the Academy; and with administering the affairs of his diocese from
there, Aai some time during this period he also ordained“Robert

McDonald, one of his half-breed pupils, to the diaconate,75 At the

71e Bishop Anderson - The Net in the Bay, p 291.
72 Ibid, |

73 Lbid. p 290,

The Ibid. p 292,

75« S5,0.R. - Corresponding Committee, June 9th, 1853,

Stock - History of the C,M.S. Ve3 D030,
Bishop Anderson - Notes on the Flood, p 73
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time of theaflood he had been teaching school in the vicinity of
St. James°76 Bishop Andersbn’s fir§t intention was fto take
advantage of the offer of the S,P.G. to provide a clergyman to be
stationed at York Factory, but although the S.P.G. approved of his
choice, he decided afterwards_that the post required someone with
more experience than McDonald, 77

Towards the end of December arrangements were completed
with the Rev, John Chapman, his wardens and his congregation, ‘o
consecrate the Middle Church with the name of St. Paull's. On the
‘morning of January 5th, the day set for the consecration, the Bishop
received a hasty letter from two of the members of the congregation
of the Middle Church, ijecting to the consecration, By their names,
John Sutherland and John Fraser, and by their manner of styling them-
selves as "two proprietors of the Middle Ghurch“78 they were evidently
Presbyterians who had already actually léft the church, Despite the
Bishop's answer that the consecration was being carried ou£ with the
approval of the majority of the congregation, these two claimed %o
have only just heard about it and hence their last minute objection.
The whole cofrespondence, which included s scurriloﬁs personal attack

on the Bishop, appeared to be inspired by someone else as a means of

76, Bishop Anderson - Notes on the Flood. p 80,

770 Pascoe - S,P,G, Digest. p 178,

78 P.A.M, ROSS LETTERS - Copy of Correspondence between Bishop
Anderson and two proprietors of the
Middle Church, January 5th, 1853 to
Janvary 14th, 1853.
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annoying the Bishop, In this they certainly succeeded for at the
close of the correspondence Bishob Anderson spoke of "this system of
continual annoyance" and claimed that he could not "much longer bear
up under the kind of persecution, from which I now suffer."’? The
incident terminated by the resignation of their pews on the part of
the complainants.

In July, Bishop Anderson paid his second visit to Cumberland,
While there he had a talk about the ?resbyterian objections to the
consecration‘of the Upper Church, wiﬁh Mr, Hunter; who had been in
charge of St, Andrew's during the dispute.go Apparently this was
the first time that he really understood "that there was no objection
on the part of the Presbyterian body to the Consecration of fhe
Churchyard, if only the right were reserved to them to bury in it
after their own mammer,"®l After his return to the Settlement he
broached the subject again to the Presbyterians on the 13th of
October.s2 The long series of misunderstandingscame to a happy conw=
clusion on the;28th of October 1853 when the Upper Church was con-

secrated a8 St, John'sSB, and the churchyard was consecrated with the

79.  Ibid, Jenusry 1lth, 1653,

80, P.A, M, ROSS IETTERS - A, Ross from Blshop Anderson,
' . October 13th, 1853,

8l.  Ibid.
82,  Ibid.

83, S.0.R, = Entry in the margin of the baptlsmal reglster for
Ste John‘s Church, .
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regervation on the part of the Bishop and his successors, of, "a
right for all of»the Presbyterian Communion teo bury in it after
their own manner..,.,"64
| While affairs were working out thus happily at the Upper.
Church with regard to the Presbyterians and the consecration, trouble
developea in an unlooked for quarter of the Bishop's own flock. One
Sunday about the end of October BishoP_Anderson took the morning service
at St., John's and then went déwn to 5t Andrewis° By the time of
the afternoon service, Thomas Cockran, who was left in charge, was
drunk, and the disgraceful memmer in which he conducted the service
naturally créated quite a scandal,85 The Bishop promptly suspended
him; with reinstatement dependent upon good behaviour,

By mid-December the Bishop's relationship with his late
adversary had so far improved that.Aléxander Ross paid him a persogal

86

Y?sit on a matter of private business on Saﬁurday, December 17th.
QEQZZ his arrival in the Settlement the Rev, John Black had wooed
and won the hand of the old Shgfiff‘s daughter, and hence the Bishop's
Saturday visitor, It was arranged that the Sheriff's old friend,
the Rev, William Cockran, should perform the ceremony, and in due

course the Rev, John Black was married to Miss Ross on the 2lst of

January,

8lo P.A,M, ROSS LETTERS = A. Ross from Bishop Anderson,
October 13th, 1853,

85, P.A.M, ROSS LETTERS =~ James Ross from Adam McBeath,
November 9th, 1853,

86, P.A.M, ROSS LETTERS - James Ross from Bishop Anderson,
- December 20th, 1853,



124

-On the same date the Bishop began to conduct his ordination
examinations,87 Evidently the erring Thomas Goékran had kepf his
promise of good behaviour for he was one of those writing the eiamin-‘
atidns° The other candidate was James Settee,‘the second native
catéchist to be employed, in Rupert's Land, by the Church of
England, On Ghrj.sﬁmas Day,’11853,\Bishop Anderson conducted his first
ordination in St, John's Church, James Settee became the second
Indian in the diocese to be made g deacon; while Thomas Cockran was
raised to thé priesthood, Settee went to the Indian Settlement for
the rest of the winter to help the Rev, Chas., Hillyer, while Thomas
Cockran continued his work as Master of St. John's Collegiate School,

This Christmas season was certainlj a happy one for the
Cockrans, both father and son, In his ordination sermon for the son,
the Bishop gave notice of the honor he was soon to bestow upon the
father, "The fathers and founders of our Church are mostly taken from
us; one only entitled to the name still remains, and whom that very
preeminence would mark oub as the one best fitted by years and use-

fulness for the office to which he is to be raised this week, 188

The ordination took place on Sunday, On Tuesday the Bishop held his

second triennial Visitation and delivered his second Charge. In it he

87,  Ibid.

88, Bishop Anderson - Bishop Anderson's Sermons, Children
Instead of Fathers, a Christmas
Ordination Sermon, December 25th, 1853,




announced the appoinitment of the Rev, William Cockran as Archdeacon
of Assiniboia89 and of James Hunter as A,.chdeacon of Cumberland, Such
appointments were justified by the continued increase in ‘the number
of ¢lergy in the diocesee. The current total of fifteen included the
Reve G.0., Corbett who was now in charge of a station at Headingley.
He had been sent by the Colonial and Continental Church Society in
1851 to Montreal to gaip sonme training}é;dicine, and reached Red
River some time ifi 1852,70

The Bishop's Second Charge had several other interesting
feétures. It began with a survey, of the doctrinal and legal
devélopments in ‘the Qhurch in England, which clearly showed his own
evangelical position. This section was followed by one dealing with
diocesan affairs., In the interests of more effective administration
he envisaged a tri-partite subdivision‘of his diocese: a southern
division centered at Red River; a northern division centered at
Cunmberland; and an eastern division centered at Moose Factory. The
latter division was_not yet sufficiently developed to warrant any
action at that time., The creation of the other two divisions was
signalized by the appointment of William Gockran as Archdeacon of

Assiniboia and of James Huntef as Archdeacon of Cumberland,

89. Bishop Anderson - Second Triennial Charge, December 27th, 1853,

90, Corbett, Griffith Owen - Notes on Rupeért's dmerica -
Introduction,
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The day after the Visitation a meeting of the Corresponding
Committee was held at the Bishopfs residence., It was there decided
that Mr. Cowley should come in from his long and arduous work at

Fairford and assume the permanent charge of the Indian Settlement
at Red River.91 Since the Council of Assiniboia, acting under in-
structions from London, had ceased making grants for education, the
schools at Little Britain and Sugar Point were placed on the lists of
the Church Missionary Society for support.

A minute recording a similar arrangement for the school at
Portage la Prairie indicated that a further change had occurred in
the parishes of Red River. When William Cockran moved to the Indian
Settlement in 1851 he soon discovered that the old wooden church bullt
by him in 1836 had become too small for the congregation, He decided
to rebuild in stone and began_collectingvfor the purpose. On May
23rd, 1853 the foundation of the new church was laid, but soon, "The
sum already collected was well nigh expended, and the hand and hearﬁs

of those engaged in the undertaking were beginning to grow faint...o"gz

At this point word was received that the Church Missionary Socliety
had granted £200 towards the project, With this encouragement the
building was nearly completed within the year and the veteran Cockran

moved on to found yet another church amongst a little group of former

91. S.0.R, Corresponding Commitiee, December 28th, 1853,

920 8,0.R, Corresponding Committee, June 9th, 1853,
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meMbers_of his Red River congregations who had settled at Portage la
Prairie.93

Little is known of the Bishop's activities during 1854. At the
end of Janusry he received a letter frcm James Ross, one of his former
puplls in the Academy, who had recently won a scholarship at Toronto
University., From the Bishop's reply written on Saturday, February 4th,
we learn that hg was feeling much more enéouraged, particularly about
the Indian work.?4 A library of over 200 books had just been opened
at Jacobs! School and in a fortnight he was to teke part in a serigs
. of lectures to be given there, His ouwn subjegt was o be "BookSy;;e.
tracing the various substitutes for them in past ageé--the gradval im=
provement in them, and then their mighty effect on the present

generation"95

Apart from this, his activity seemed to center in his parish
church and the Collegiate School at St. John's. In this yearAthe S5eP.Go
commenced paying the salary of Thomas Cockran as rector of St. John's
and Master of the Collegiate School.‘96 Among the pupils the Bishop
considered John Norquay and David’Tait as thg two leading boys. The
eldest of his own sons, taychy™ (éged 11 yrs.) was evidently following

in his father's footsteps by being proficient in mathematics,

93, Garrioch - First Furrows. p 79.

Qe P.A.M, ROSS LETTERS - James Ross from Bishop Anderson,
‘ February 4th, 1854.
95,  Ibid.

96, Pascoe - S,P.G. Digest. p 178,



His Lordship faithfully gttended the two meetings of the Céuncil
of Assiniboia held on June 22nd, and August 3rd, but seemé to have
taken little part in them, 4t the fugust meeting however he did
propose a motion which regularized the vexed question of the appoint-
ment of constables for the Settlement.97

Two meetings of the Corresponding Committee were held on June
9th and July 26th respectively. At the first meeting Abraham Gowley
took over the duties of Secretary. During the interval between meet-
ings the ranks of the Anglicans were strengthened by the adherence of
the veteran Wesleyan missionary, the Rev, William Mason. He was
present alt the meeting of July 26th at whiéh thé Bishop announced that
he had been appointed to York Factory., &t this meeting also, the work
of completing the church at the Indian Settlement was handed over to
its permenent incumbent, the Rev, 4. Cowley. A.chdeacon Cockran was
apparently still occupied in building a parsonage in St, Andrew's
parish98 as well as working in his own parish at Portage la Prairie,

On July 29th the Bighop received a visit from the Rev, John
Ryerson of the Canadian Methodist_Church;gg‘ He was visiting the

Wesleyan mission stations in Rupert's Land with a view to their being

taken over by the Canadian branch of the Church., He was kindly received

97. Olive# - North-West. p 403,

28, S.0.R, Corresponding Committee, Januasry 2nd, 1855,

99..  Ryerson, Rev, Jobhn - Hudson's Bay; or a Missionary Tour
in the Territory of the Hon, Hudson's
Bay Company. ©p 63,
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by the Bishop and invited to dinner., On Sunday morning he "heard
Bishop Anderson'preachva very good sermon, although it was more than
forty minutes too long..... His lordship was certainly not a very
good preacher, but he is a good man, and, I should think, very well
qualified, especially by the general blameléssness of his character,
to promote the interests of virtue and education in the bounds of
his diocese," 00

The minutes of the meeting of the Correspondipg Comnittee
held on January 2nd, 1855 recorded several other developments which
took place during the remainder of thé year, The meeting was held
as usual in the Bishop's residence which was lnown known as "Bishop!s
Court?, Governor Caldwell, the faithful friend of the C.M.S. had
received his promotioh ‘to the rank'of lieuteﬁént-colonel° W.W, Kirkby,
the industrial school féacher had been brdained deacon, vrobably
around the end of December, The St, Andrew‘s parsonage was now finish-
ed and the final accounts paid, The Rev, Charles Hillyer, having taken
uto himself a wife, was recommended for a consequent ralse in salary.
A Mr. Henry George had also arrived from Englend to undertake theo=
logical training with a view towards ordination for work in the
diocese., He had already received some medical training which would

prove a valuable asset,

Strong disagreement was shown on the matter of an Orphan Asylum,

100, Ibide D 64e
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The subject first appeared in the minutes of the meeting of December
28th, 1853, Now the building in St. Andrew's parish, had just been
fcompleted and handed over to the superintendence of the Rev, Wm,

1101 The disagreement came over the question

Kirkby, free from debt.'
of appealing to the Soclety for £50 a year to support the institution.
Apparently the Parent Committee had already refused to undertake such
a charge, Cowley knew this and also objected on the grounds that St.
ﬂndrewfs was by now, well able to pay its own way as a self-supporting
parish,

Later in January the Bishop's youngest son Herbert had a severe
case of whooping cough but he had successfully recovered by February
ch,loz On the 28th of February the Bishop attended the Council of
Asginiboia at which William Ross was appointed postmaster, and monthly
mails via Pembina were ins’citu.’ced.,lo3 The Bishop himself moved the
appointment of William‘Inkster as Public Surveyor and supported
Cockran in his motion to extend the east road. 104

On May 15th another meeting of the Corresponding Committee was
held as it was the last opportunity of doing so before the departure
of several of its members, The Bishop himself was planhing ‘to make

a second visit to Moose and Albany. This year also marked the end of

the enlistment period of the Pensioners and as a result the Colonel and

101, S.0.R, Corresponding Committee, January 2nd, 1855.

102, P.B.M, ROSS LETTERS - James Ross from Bishop Anderson,
February 9th, 1855,

103. Oliver = Northéﬂest. p 409,

104. Ibid‘ p 4404-50
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such of his men as wished to do so, were returning to England that
summer.105 William Mason had’now‘recovered his health sufficiently
to warrant his return to York,

On his journey to Moose Factory the Bishop took with him
Thomas Vincent, an Indian student at the Academy. He was a native
of the James Bay district and remained gt Moose as a school teacher.106
On his return trip the Bishop brought with hin an Esquiﬁaux boy whom
Rev, Watkins had brought from Fort George. It was the intention to
educate and train this boy for the ministry but unfortunately he
quickly sickened and died at Red River.lo7

The Bishop was back in the Settlement again by Ocltober and was
feeling apprehensive about the:winter because the departure of Colonel

Caldwell and a number of the ?ensionersolo8

His chief misgiving about
the withdrawal of the Pensioners seemed to be over the resulting drop
in the amount of money which would be circulating in the colony.
However he did not allow this to interfere with his long cherished
project of building up a library for the Gol:Legeo By the beginning of
November the collection numbered SOQ‘volumes. "About 250 are the gifts
of friends--~250 from the Xtin, Knowl. Soct.lo9 and the remainder are

my own gifto“llO

105, Hargrave - Red River. p 94
106, Bishop Anderson - Net in the Bay. p 300,

107, Ibid. p 30l.

108, P.A.M, ROSS LETTERS - James Ross from Bishop Anderson,
‘ October Ath, 1855,

109, Christian Knowledge Society.

110, P.A,M, ROSS LETTERS ~ James Ross from Bishop Anderson, November 7th, 1855,



The establishment of a library was part of a larger scheme of
. reorganigation for the College which the Bishop carried out in 1855,
A collegiate board was nominated, consisting of some of the leading
people in the country.e... The institution was called St. John's
College, and the motto.....was selected by the Bishop, 'In thyr light
shail we see light'."lll

By the end of October Archdeacon Hunter had arrived at’Ré&
River to teke over the permanent charge of St. Andrew!'s parish,lt?
Henry George, it was decided, would teke Hunter's place at Cumberland,
but as yet he was not ordained. That event toock place on New Year's
Day, 1856. At the ordination service, which took placé in St. John's
Church, Henry George was made a deacon While the Rev, James Settee
and the Rev, W.W. Kirkby became priests,

During the years which had passed since the Sayer trisl of
1849, the growing trade with the United States had‘brought into the
Settlement an ever increasing flood of bad whiskey.

Prompted by the danger of this importation and by the minor
depression which resulted in the Settlement froh the withdrawal of
Col. Caldwell and the Pensioners, the Bishop issued a proclamation
which called a public meeting at the Upper School-house on January

18th to devise ways and means of improving the social and moral

111, Hargrave - Red River. p 1l4e

112, S,0,R, Corresponding Committee, October 3lst, 1855,
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condition of the Settlement. Postmaster William Ross, a tee-totaller,
has given us a scathingraccount of this meeting which ﬁéwiggm;;;;;;;nted
as having mainly advocated thé home menufacture of whiskey;ll3 In
fairness to the Bishop however, it must be said that this was but one
of five practical suggestions made to the meeting by His Lordship,

The establishment of a local distillery seemed to be the logical way
both to ensure the quality of whiskey being consumsd in the country,
and to control the amount of it which was consumed, But other items
besides whiskey were absorbing th¢ income of the colonists by reason
of their high cost of importation. Accordingly the Bighop advocated
the home manufaéture of soap; ‘the raising of more sheep tQ permit the
establishment of a cloth factory; the establisﬁment of a local savings
bank, and the establishment of a local’tannery. Unfortunately little
seems to have come of’the meeting excepf an open division between the
l."i»re'l:s“ and the "drysh,

At the end of February the Bishop attended a meeting of the
Council at which F.G. Johnson read his commission as Governor of
Assiniboia°114 At the same meeting the Bishop moved the acceptance
of Williem Ross' report on the Post Office, plus the continuance of.
the monthly mail to Pembina and the establishment of axreceiving
officer for mail at the Rapids, He also supported the motion for the

reduction in postage rates between Pembina and the Settlement,

113, P.A.M. ROSS LEITERS - James Ross from William Ross,
February 9th, 1856,

114, Oliver - North-West. 3B 4114 February 27th, 1856,
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Exactly three months later at another meeting of the Council on
May 27th the Bishop sadly moved a vote of sympathy to the widow of
Williem Ross, and proposed William Drever to replace Ross as post-
master and Kenneth Logan to replace Ross as petty judge.ll5

The Bishopts thoughts and actions were all géverned now by
his intended visit to England. Since his first arrival at Red
River he had plamned to take a holiday at the end of seven years,
"It was now necessary to leave for a season, to place my boys at
school in England, to raise funds for the farther extension of the
work, and to seek spiritual rgfreshment.and invigoration by inter-
course with friends.oo.ooo"llé

Accordingly on the 29th"of May he held his third Visitation .
and delivered his Charge in St. John‘s‘Church. This Charge was
remarkable for its announcement of the formation of a diocesan
library for the use of the clergy who could ill=-afford, as missionaries,
to buy books, even if they had been able to obtain them in their isolated
stations. BiShop Anderson also ammounced the reorganization of the
Collegiate School and his plans for the future. They were‘noble plens
but somewhat premature for the present resources of the country. The
Bishop concluded hié Charge by appointing the senior Archdeacon,
the Venerable William Cockran, as hig coﬁmissary during hig absence,.

During the month of May the Bishop held his "Confirmations as

115, Ibid. ©p 420,

116, Bishop Anderson - Net in the Bay. p 304.



usual, the four in the Settlement--a fifth in St, James' beforehand
on the fifst Sunday after Easter March 30’011.“117 On the 30th of

May a final meebting of the Corresponding Committee was held at
Bishop's Court for the transaction of necessary business. &4 this
meelting arrangements were méde to engage an assistant for St. Andrew's
school in order to free Kirkby for the duties of superintendent of
all of the Soclety's schools.

A1l was now arranged,and there remained enly the business of
the jouxney to England, In 1849 the Bishop and his party had come
out by way ofbﬂudson's Bay as a matter of necessity. In the inter=-
vening years communications‘by way of the United States had consider=
ably increased. However because of the large size of ‘the Bishop!s
party it was decided that they should return to England by way of
Hudsonls Bay.ll8 Barly in August they left Red Riwver fpr York

Factory and on the 30th of October they reached England.ll9

117, P.A. M. ROSS LETTERS -~ James Ross from Bishop Anderson,
February 2lst, 1856,
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CHAPTER V

THE WORK AT RED RIVER 1856 to 186l

During his absence in England Bishop Anderson worked untir-
ingly in the interests of his far-flung diocese. In the spring of
1857 at his old parish church of All Saints', Derby, he ordained
T. H. Fleming as a deacon to go to Moose Factory, as an assistant to
the Fev. John Horden.l On Sunday May’3rd, His Lordship preached in
St. Paulls Cathedral London, He used the occasion to appeal for funds
for the Rupert!s Land Diocesan and Mission Fund, which he had started
years ago at Red River,2 The objects of this fund he set forth as the
building of a cathedral at a cost of approximately £4500, the ex-
tension of missions, and the promotion of education. - Before leaving
England to return to Rupert!s Land he had received in excess of the'
amount required for his cathedral,

Bishop Andersonts visit to England coincided with the meetings
of the Select Gommittee of the House 6f Commons, appointed to inguire
into the state of Rupertts Land, Thére were many reasons for the
appointment of this committee which need not be enumerated here;

As Bishop of the country, however, Bishop Anderson was a logical
pérson to whom to appeal for information, In due course, he appearéd
before the Committee and gave a most interesting picture of his dio—~
cese., He reported that his diocese was now staffed with nineteen

clergy besides himself. Of this number, fifteen were supported by

1. Bishop Anderson - Net in Bay. p 311,
20 Bishop Anderson - Sermons Britain's answer to the Nationms, a

missionary sermon preached in St.
Paults Cathedral London Sunday,
May 3rd, 1857,



the Church Missionary Society, two bj the Society for the Propoga-
tion of the Gospel, one by the Cobonial and Continental Church Society;
and one as chaplain by the Hudson's Bay Company.>
’: In the matter of finances thé C.M.S, was now spending close

| to £000 anmually on the Rupert!s Land Mj.ssion., Judging by a state-
- ment from the Society, signed by the Rev, Henry Venn as secretary;vthe
Bishop was reprimanded by the C.M.S. for not achieving a greater de-
gree of self-support in his diocese° The Society "trust that the ex~
penditure has reached its 1limit and that the native churches will
gradually become self-supporting; and that the Company and the
settlers will be ready to undertake the work of general education,

and to take a large share in the evangelizing of the remaining
heathen Indians, "

In general the Bishop gave a fagorable picture of the gover—
nment of the Hudson's Bay C ompany but he did have several constructive
criticims to off'er,5 He considered that the duties chatgedrén imports
by the Company were too high and constitutedva hindrance to progress
ﬁgin the cSettlement at Red River, At the same time he made a plea for
Some measures to be taken to curb the amount of spirituous 1iquqrs

consumed in the colony. He made a plea for improved communications

3. Report of the Select Committee on the Hudsonts Bay
Company 1657. P 231,

L Tbid p 233.

5. Tbid p 237-8.

137,
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for the Settlement, either by way of Hudson's Bay or by way df
Canada and the Great Lakes. It was his belief that the country was
fit for settlement at other piéces5 besides the Red River, axd he
urged that the country was ready for a controlled immigration. The
Bishop'!s experience of the constant, and often viciously personal
quarrels and disputes which went on in that isolated and closely |
knit community had long since taught him the need for wider interests
and freshcblood amongst the inhabitants of the Red River Settlement,

As the time for the return to Red River approaghed; His Lord-

. ship discovered that an extra two months could be spent in England if he
returned to Canada by way of the regular steamships to Quebec,

He immediately chose this course, and together with his sister, he
returned to Red River by way of Quebec, lMontreal, Toronto, Milwaukee

and 5t. Paul. 'In response to an invitation to do so, he timed his
Journey so that he would arrive in St, Paﬁl in time to preach the
opening sefmon at the Annual Convention of the Diocese of Minnesota,6
Aécording ¥o an item in the Nor'Wester this was evidently the first
such convention in the new American Diocese of Minnesota which at that
time had no bishop of its own, !

Shortly after the Boishop-returned to BiShOp‘S Court, in October,
he summoned a meeting of the Gorreéponding Committee, During his ab-
sence two meetings had been held, A new school teacher, Mr. Mayhew,
had arrived from England, and was appointed to the Rapids! School so
as to free Kirkby for his duties as superintendentvof schools and
assistant minister of St. Andrew's parish. On the 25th of August, just

a few days after the departure of Bishop Anderson, Mrs, Hillyer died,

6a Bishop Anderson - Net in Bgy p 311

Ts Nor ' Wester - v.l, mmber 15, July 28th, 1859,




"She_had long been consumptiﬁe, and death ensﬁgd on the rupture of a
blood—véssel."8 By the end of November Rev:gﬁgilyer's own health
had become so bad that he was given permission.to visit England. He
1e£t Red River during the winter and reached England on the 6th of
February°9 The Bishop brought the ﬁews, to the meeting of October 21st
1857, that Hillyer had resigned from the mission and would not again
return to Red Riverolol This meeting waé also attended by the Rev,
AE.Watkins who had made the long journey down from Fort George on the
eastern shores of James'! Bay., Because of the lateness of the season
he was appointed, for the winter, to the charge of Mapleton, a point
which had begun as a school in the StcAndrew!s district and was now
developing into an independent congregation.

‘During the absence of the Bishop from his Diocese several
changes had also taken place in the civil and social 1ife of the Colony.
When his Lordship left Rupert!s Land in 1856,the country was completely
without any garrison of troops., The arrival of a detachment of American
troops at Pembina, in the autumn of 1856, quickly brought about a re-
action on the British side of the boundary. By October 1857 a Company
of the Royal Canadian Rifles arrived at Red River;having sailed from

Canada by way of Hudson Strait to York Factory,,ll

8 Intelligencdr - December 1856 - Recent Intelligence.

e Ibid - March 1857.
10, S.0.R. - Corresponding Committee October 2lst, 1857,

11, Morton - Canadian West p 828,

139,
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Such a move served to’strengthen the bonds, of both interest and
ambition, between Canada and the Red River Colony.

An event of even greater ultimate importance to the Colony
was the visit of Captain John Palliser, and his botanist Dr. Hector,
in Jly, 1857. In connection with the inquiry of the Select Committee
of the British House of Commons, Captain Palliser was ordered, on
March 31st 1857,"t0 proceed by the Great Lakes and Fort William
| to Fort Garry and the prairie region, and to report on the country,"12
The explorations and observations of this party extended o?er a period
of several years and their final report was not completed until 1863,
Their report was the‘most accurate picture of the physical
characteristics and possibilities of ihe country to be produced
during that period.

At the same time the Canadian Govermment sent out the politica~-
1ly inspired Dawson-Hind Expedition. The object of this party was to
ascertaln the accessibility of the country, from Canada, in the
1nterests of immigration and a hoped-for annexation of the territ-
ory by Canada. As a result,one of its primary concerns was transportation
and communication. In the interests of Canada's aspirations, Hind
gave a much more optlmlstlc picture of the amount of arable land
in the country. He, himself, reached Red River in June 1858, and
durlng his visit he went to see Bishop Anderson.

The results of these explorations and reports, were to

awaken, in the outside world, a great deal of interest in Rupert's

120 Ibid. - p 833.



Land, and to 1essen, materially, the period in which the territony
could continue to enjoy the isolation in.which it had slumbered up
until this time. The effect of the fofmer was to bring to Red River
the vanguard of adventurers and speculators which preceded the

real tides of immigration throughout the west. The effect, of the
increasing connection with the outside world, was to causé a grow-
ing unrest amongst the inhabitants of the whole territory, and
particularly at Red River. Thus the improvements in communica-
tions, so much desired by Bishop Anderson in order to broaden the
mental horizons of the Settlement, now began to cause him some of
his greatest worries because of their bad effects upon the inhabita-
nts of the land.

| The trade with the United States, which had steadily in-
creased from 1849 to 1856, now began to grow with even greater

rapidity from 1856 to 1860. In the middle of the decade about

fifty Red River carts used to make the annual summer trip to St. Paul.

By 1860 some 700 or 800 carts made the journey°13 As a result, the
bad American whiskey, which had worried the Bishop in January 1856,
flowed even more freely in the colony in January 1860,

~ Bishop Anderson seems to have been particularly concerned

men :
about the youngm@ﬁ of the Settlement during the first three years

after his return to Bishop's Court., Through the St. John's Collegiate .

School and the various C.M.S. schools throughout the Settlement,he

had had contact with many of the young men who made the anmial trip

13, Intelligencer - May 1860. p 113.

1h1,
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to St, Paulls, and the obvious demoralization, which he saw coming
over themg'worried him greatly. A%t the'firsﬁ‘meeting of the
Council of Assiniboia June 23rd 1858, following his return to the
Settlement, the Bishop supported a motion by John Inkster which
sought to curb the importatioh of American Whisky by imposing a
duty of 6 shillings per gallon, but thevCouncil merely postponed
the motion to the next meeting;lh At the next meebting nothing was
heard of the postponed motion.

By the time that Professor Hind reached the Settlement in
1858 the Bishop had organized a series of adult education lectures
in the various schools with the object of providing some other diver-
sion, for the young men of the district. thgn visiﬁing the numerous
biqgor shops,‘ The chief difficulty was the lack of adequate equip-
ment for illustrative purposes. This was particularly the sase with
some lectures in astronomy given during the winter by Professor
Hindo15

During the winter of 1858~59 the Bishop and his clergy also
used their pulpits to urge their flocks to temperance and morality.
Archdeacon Hunter had left his parish of St. Andrew's to make the
'1ong Journey to Mackenzie River. In his absence,W,W.Kirkby pleaded

earnestly with his congregation to refrain from importingvliquor from

the United States.l®

1k, Oliver - North-West p L29,
15, Bishop Anderson - Charges and Sermons Fourth Triennial Charge
P 5l

16, Tntelligencer - May 1860. p 113




Ih March 1859 Bishop Anderson presented to the @ouncil of
Assiniboia one of four petitions urging the regulation of the
American liquor traffic.l7 As a result of these petitions the
Bishop found himself appointed to a committee to drgft "a system
of Laws to regulate ﬂhe importation of spirituous liguors into the
Setﬁlement,"18 This committee made ité report on May 26th and its
provisions were put into effect in July. Heavy fines were imposed
for the importation of adulteratedvliquor and for selling it to the

were
Indians, Retailers]required to pay a licence fee and to abide by

 regular hours of business.

After attending the meetings of the Select Committee of the
House of Commpns in 1857 and réading the report of their re-
commendétions,BishOp Anderson became very much concerned about the
political future of Rupert?s Land. When the Crown Colomy of
British Columbia was created in 1858, the news stirred hopes.
amongst the inhabitants of Rupert's Land, that a similar step
might be taken there. The following year Bishop Anderson and his
clergy sent a petition to the Imperial Parliament requesting that
Rupert's Land, or at least that part of it which included the
Colony of Assiniboia, be created a Crown Colony»19

By the time that the Bishop delivered his FourtB Triennial

Charge on January 6th 1860 no action had as yet been forthcoming,

17. Oliver - North-West p L38,

18. Tbid - p LLO

19, Corbett - Notes on Rupert!s America p 27.

13,
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He expressed his anxiety on the subject in the opening passages
of his Charge and stated»his hope that during the present year they
.might *become a direct colony of the Crown ..., For this, as a
body, .we have ourselves petitioned the two Houses of Parliament,
from the persuasion that the highest interests of the country may
in this way be best prcmotedu”zo |

Tn 1858 a Canadian company had been organized with.the object
of connecting Canada and the Red River settlement by an all-British
route via the Great Lakes.zl The canal at Sault Stglmarie had been
completed in 185522and the new company placed a steamer on the Creat
Lakes to ply between Collingwood and Fort William. The Canadian
Government subsidized the Company to provide a bi-monthdy mail ser-
vice in summer and a monthly service in winter., Probably by way of a
local response to this venture, Bishop Anderson gave notice to the
December 1858 meeting of the Council of Assiniboia that he proposed
to introduce at the next meeting a motion to help the Canadian ﬁail
. service, and another "to éssist in opening up communication with
Canada by the Lake of the'Woodso"z3 That season the winter mail had
t0 be discontinuéd and the summer mail proved to be unable to compete
with the service from St. Paul. As a result the Bishop's two motions
were never carried out. "After repeated éfforts, the difficulty is

found to be great to bridge over the intervening distance on each

20, Bishop Anderson - Charges and Sermons Fourth Triennial
Charge p 2~3.

21, Morton - Canadian West p 836.

22, Intelligencer - May 1861 p 102,

23, Oliver - North - West p L35.




side = to throw out branches which may connect us with our

neighbors in Canada and Columbia, and make us to be, in something

2l

more than name, the highway of the west."
In the realm of more strictly church affairs, in May 1858,
25

it was decided to build a new parsonage at the Indian Settlement,

Authorization had still not been received from the Hudson's Bay

Company for Archdeacon Hunter to make his proposed missionary journey

to Mackenzie River but it was decided that he should start out any-

26

way and hope for the best, En route he met Sir George Simpson and
the necessary authorization was quickly obtained. By the time that
the Bishop gave his Charge in 1860 Hunter was back at St. Andrew's
and Kirkby had taken up his permanent station at Fort Simpson,
Maékenzie River927

During the summer of 1859 his Lordship paid a visit to MNr.
Hunt's station in the English River district. While he was there a
party of Chipewyans waited dpon him to request that he send mission-
aries among them°28 'The gentlemen of the Maokenzie:River distfict
were also hoping to meet his Lordship at the Portage la Loche that

summer, but the Bishop decided to postpone his visit until a more

opportune timeeZ9

2l Bishop Anderson - Charges and Sermons Fourth Triemnnial
Charge p L.

25, S.0.R. - Corresponding Committee, Mat 26th, 1858,

260 Ibid. a

27, Bishop Anderson - Charges and Sermons Fourth Triennial
Charge ©p L.

28, Toid - p L2,

29, Ibid

15,



With regard to the disposition of the funds collected by
Bishop Anderson during his visit to England,very little of the
- money had as yet been used. Grants of £ldO each had been made to=-
wards the building of the churches at Mapleton, Portage la Prairie,
and Fairford.‘ Two more annual grants of £50 each had been made to-
wards the salaries of twb‘of the clergy°30

One of the main objects for which the fund was collected,
however, yet remained to be begun; that of the building of a
cathedral., The Bishop offered three main reasons for his apparent
neglects The first and most welighty reason was thé'removal of g
considerable portion of the population of the St, John!'s district
to the Assiniboine Valley. For a time it made him wonder whether
or not there would be a sufficient nﬁmber of people left to warrant
the building of a church at all,3l The second reason was simply
his own lack of time to properly superintend such an undertaking,

Lastly there was the matter of carrying out the rather difficult

plans which he had brought back with him from England. By this time,

however, he had decided to go ahead and build, and he gave warn-
ing of the amount of his time and attention which he anticipated
the task would demand.

During the period covered by this Charge the Bishop re-

ported holding nine confirmations with a total of 331 confirmed°32

30, ITbid - p L9.
31, Bishop Anderson -~ Charges and Sermons Fourth Triennial

Charge p L7.

32, Ibid - p Lh.
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These figures excluded services yet to be held at Portage la
Prairie andiat Mbose‘Factory; The total of four ordinations in-
cluded the one which he had conducted while in England. At these
services he had ordained three deacons and two priests.,33
T.H.Fleming had been ordained deacon in England in 1857, and
priest at Moose Factory on Julyvllth 1860, On the same occasion
at Moose Factory, the native Q2€$2§223§g£6mas Vincent, was or-
dained deacon.Bh The third deacon was the Indian, Henry Cochrané,
who was ordained deacon some time in 1858,35 and priest at St,
indrew's on December 27th 185936

At the beginning of his’Charge the Bishop also referred

to a number of social improvements which had occurred in recent

years; the arrival of the steamship the Anson Northup, at the forks

on May 19th 1859; the journey of Captain Palliser and Professor Hind;
and the establishment of a steam mill in the Settlement. "The

river communication has been opened up; the road over the prairies
has been travefsed; and the appliances of modern science have

37

rendered more easy the vproduction of the necessaries of life."

33, Ibid - p L5,

34k, Bishop Anderson - Sermons The Truth and the Conscience, an
Ordination sermon July 2Lst 1861,

35. Stock - History of the C.M.S. v.3. p 320.

36, Nor!' Wester - v,1l. number 1, December 28th 1859.

37. Bishop Anderson - Charges and Sermons Fourth Triennial
Charge p 2.




In addition to theée there was the establishment of the fir&t
newspaper in the settlement., The first issqe,of the Nor'Wester
appeared on December 28th 1859 and carried the announcement of the
Bishop's fourth Visitation to be‘held on Jamuary 6th 1860,38
The second issue prihted the whole of £he Bishop'!s Charge in a
special supplement.39

During 1859 Bishop Anderson took a much more.active part
in the business of the Counciliof Assiﬁiboia, Quite apart from his
work on thé committee to draft the liquor laws, he originated
several important motions on other subjects. The most important
of these was his motion that the Council meetings be held f"once
at least every three months."™O (On his fagorite subject of the
mails the Bishop moved that an extra messenger be sent to speed up

L

thé Pembina mails, In anticipation of the establishment of the

Nor*fester the Bishop further moved "that all News Papers direct
from the Publishers of Red River, be free of all postage, and also
L2

all exchange News Papers,"

38, Nor8Wester - v.1. number 1, Decemﬁer 28th, 1859,
39. Nor'Wester - v.l. number,2, Jamuary llhth, 1860,
Lo, Oliver = North-West p L35.

la. Tbid -  p LL6.

L2, Ibid.

l}_l.8°
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Since his visit to England, Bishop Anderson had evidently
started holding monthly meetings of the Red River'cler‘gy«h3
These monthly meetings were under the chairmanship of the Bishop and

L

were held at the homes of the various clergy. Co-operation of the

Protestant clergy on an interdenominational basis was evidenﬁly a

regular practice in the Settlement. The Nor!'Wester reported, as a

perfectly normal occurrence, the fact that the Rev. John Black

joined with the Anglicans in the observance of ‘a world wide week of

prayer meetings and revival services, which the Bishop had

announced would take place during the week following his Visitationah5

During this week while his clergy were already assembled,

the Bishop held a meeting of the Corresponding Committee. Thg

Rev. John Chapman was apparéntly on leave in England during this winter

for the Bishop read a letter from him bearing the déte November

3rd 1859oh6 Once again a ship had been lost in the ice of
Hudson'tsBay. This‘time it was the "Kitty", bearing the C.M.S.

| mail, publications,and supplies for the year, and great difficulty

L7

was anticipated as a result of this loss.

L3, NortWester — v.l. number 2, Jamuary 1lLth, 1860.

Ll Nor'Wester - v.2. number 2, February 15th, 1861.
L5, NortWester -~ v.l. number 2, January lhth, 1860.

Lé6. S.0.R. - Corresponding Committee January 10th, 1860,

L7. Ihid




Early in the year a party of visiting Sioux made an in-
cursion to Fort Garry and caused some apprehension in the
Settlement., In the Council_Bishop Andérson seconded the motion of
Dr. Bunn to provide £0 for the disposal of Governor Mactavish to
meet the expense of the presents expectéd by the Indians on such
visits.h8 The presence of the Canadian troops proved to be of
great service in keeping the Sioux under control%9 and the visit
passed off without incident.

Two days after the Council meeting his Lordship left St.
John!'s for Portage la Prairie, in order to conduct the intended
confirmation mentioned in his Charge. ~On Sunday, March Lth Arch-
deacon Cockran presented thirty-three candidates tohis Diocesan
for the rite of confirmationeso During this visit it was also
announced that another church was to be built between Portage la
Prairie and Headingley. For various reasons St., John's Qollegiate
School-has ceased operations;and the Rev. Thomas Cockran,adthe
Master of the school, had retired to his parents! home at Portage
la Prairie, The Assiniboine Valley between Headingley and Portage
la Prairie had recently beencsettled by families who had migrated
from St. Andrewts, St. Paulfs, and 3t. John's parishes. Here, then,
was an opportunity for work,and despite failihg health Thomas Cockran

took up the task for two years,sl In 1862 his health forced him to

L8. Oliver - North-West. p L55.

L9. Morton - Canadian West. p 829.

50, Nor'Wester - v.l. number 6, March 1llth, 1860,

51. Garrioch - First Furrows. p 12, -



152,

resign and to confine his efforts to teaching and assisting
his father at St. Mafy7s, Portage la Prairie. This he did
gratuitously52 until the end of 1863, when he went to Toronto,
where he died in 1867.53
During 1860 Bishop Anderson had two main objectives which
he wished to acqomplish. One wés to visit the Rev. John Horden at
Moose Factory, and the other was to commence‘the building of his
new cathedral. Since his journey to Moose would involve his absence
during the greater part of the building season, the Bishop was
anxious to begin operations early, before his departure, According-
iy on April 2nd a meeting was held in St. John's School to con-
sider plans for building the newclfmr.‘c:h,SLL Owing to the reduced
number of residents in the parish, as a result of recent migrations
to the Assiniboine, it was decided to reduce the plans which the
Bishop had brought back from England, and to build a smaller church
than originally intended. Satisfactory arrangements were cohplefed,
and during the absence of the Bishop the hew building was bégun.55
Two other important matters had to be looked after before
his Lordship could depart for Moose, The first of these was a
meeting of the Corresponding Committee on May 16th to make arrange-
ments and decisions in certain diocesan missionary questions, In

the interval since the last previous meeting another candidate for

52, Bishop Anderson - Charges and Sermons Fifth Triennial
Charge p 39.

53. Garrioch - First Furrows. p 126,
5l Nor'Wester - v.l. number 9, April 28th, 1860.

55, Nor'Wester = v.3. number ll;‘June 11th, 1862,
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ordination had arrived from the C.M.S. in England. Meeting on the
eve of his ordination,the Cormittee took the opportunity of wel-
coming T.T.Smith "as a fellow labourer amonﬁg"'{them."56 On May 17th
1860’Smith was ordained as deacon57 in.the;iast ordination to take
place in the old St. John's Church, The Committee decided that
he should remain in the Settlement during the coming winter, pre-
paratory to going to English River to relieve Rev. Hunt.SB

On May 28th,Bishop Anderson set out on his third and final
visit to Moose and Albany.59 By contrast with his first two journeys
by the Winnipe g River route, his Lordship travelled this ﬁime by way
of the United States, and the Great Lakes to Michipicoton jwhere he
wasvmet by canoes from Albany. On June 13th he was present at the
third annual convention of the Protestant Episcopal Church in
Minnesota whick now met for the first time with its omn bishop,
Bishop Whipple.éo By August the Bishop was back in Canada where he
enjoyed a visit with his two youngest boys who had come to Canada
for their holidays., As an official representative of Rupert!s Land,
his Lordship carried with him several addresses of welcome to

present to the Prince Consort who visited Canada during August.,

56, S.0.R. - Corresponding Committee May 16th, 1860,

57. Intelligencer - October 1860 - Recent Intelligence
58. S.0.R. - Corresponding Committee, May'léth, 1860.
59, Nor'Wester- v.l. number 11, May 28th, 1860,

60. Nor 'flester - v.l. number 15, July 28th, 1860,
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On the 26th of the month the Bishop assisted at theAroyal
service in the Montreal cathedral.él

On October 3rd Bishop Anderson arrived back in Red River.
During his absence another week of prayer had been observed in
July.62 Harly in August the Rev, John Black had been injured in a
mishap when his horse took fright and ran away with him,é3 He was
stilléonvalescing when the Bishop returned. Among the Bishopts own
clergysthe Rev, Ilr. and Mrs.ﬁﬁjonaylor had left for England on
August 22nd., Taylor had acted‘as Registrar of the Diocese since 185l
and by his labours had collected and preservéd the various vital -
statistics! registers of the se’r,tlement.&L

Shortly after his return to the Settlement another meeting
of the Corresponding Committee was held at which the Bishop reported
that béth Moose and Albany were now pefmanently occupied,65 This.was
made possible by the ordination at Moose, of the Indian catechist,
Thomas Vincent. At the same time that Vincent was ordained deacon
the Rév° T.H.Fleming was ordained priest, but owing to the precarious

state of his health he had to return almost immediately to England

where he 'died shortly afterwards.

61, Nor'Wester - v.l. mumber 19, September 28th, 1860.
62. Nor'Wester - v.l. number 1k, July 1hth, 1860,
63, NortWester - v.l, number 16, August 1llth,1860.
6l, S.0.R. - Baptismal, burial and marriage registers.

65, S.0.R. - Corresponding Committee, October 30th, 1860.
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Apart from this meeting and a sale of unsuitable
missionary goods at St. John's qonducted by the Bishop!s siSter,66
there was apparently little of interest in ecclesiastical affairé
for the remainder of the year. The year ended disastroudy for the
Roman Catholics, however, with the destruction of St. Boniface
Cathedral and the Bishop's Palace, by fire, on December 1hth,67

The new year began with a series of temperance meetings con-
ducted by the Rev. John Black, Archdeacon Hunteg and James Ross,
who had now returned from Toronto University. These meetingz were
conducted in the various parishes during January and February°68
The Corresponding Committee met at Bish0p's Court on February 8th

69

and passed the estimates for the next fiscal year.
' were held
Four meetings of the Council of Assiniboiajfduring the first
half of the year., At the first of these meetings petitions were
read criticizing and suggesting improvements in the existing code of
liquor laws and the collection and distribution of mailso7o Most
of their suggestions were tabled for future reference, but steps were

taken to licence the sale of wine and beer and to impose an lmport

duty of five shillings on all imports of spirituous liquors, whether

66. Nor'Wester - v.l. number 21, October 29th, 1860.
67. Nor!Wester - v.l. number 2l, December 17th, 1860.

68, Nor 'Wester - v.2. number 1, February 1lst, 186L.
" v.2. number 2, February 15th, 1861.

69, S.0.R. - Corresponding Committee, February 8th, 1861.

70, Oliver - North-West p L6l ff.



wines or spirits, unless directly imported from Great Britain,
In addition all distillers were henceforth forbidden to‘obtain
retail licences.

At the second meeting on March 1lith a four per cent customs
duty was imposed, with exceptions, on all imported goods, and four
district collectors providéd for itz enforcement. A further motion
was made by the Bishop of S5+t. Boniface to appoint a special
constable for the enforcement of the liguor laws. Strangely
enough, it was opposed by Bishop Anderson and Dr. Bunn, i It is
difficult to assign any logical reason for their opposition unless
it be racial and religious rivalry, for the motion was proposed by
the Bishop of St., Boniface and the man appointed to fill the position
was from the French speaking section of the popglation.

The sudden death of Dr. Bunn on May 31st,72 necessitated the
calling of an emergency meeting to f£ill the many vacancies in
official positiops which the Doctor hgd held. The meeting was
held on Saturday,June 8th;and it must have given Bishop Anderson
real satisfaction to move the appointment of his former pupil,

James Ross, to be Governor of the Gaol and Sheriff of Assiniboia.73

Ross had already been appointed postmaster early in 1859 when he

succeeded James Stewart in that office.

7l.  Ibid - p LTL.
72, Nor'Wester - v.2., number 8, June 1st,1861

73. Oliver - North-West. p L78-9.
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The:April«15th issuerof  the Nor Wester. carried a-letter
from the: Rev.:G30yCorbett of He‘:a‘ding’ley: objé.,e»tings'?at'gﬁthegg; n_ewgspap'er"
and: the! »‘;G@;uncsilf;;tqf,As‘;sini@o.ﬁxa ‘applying- the-title. "Lord! te-the
Bishop. of"'$t.Boniifdce .Th Tﬁe. objection wasi brieflyvand kindly.:
'-c_le’alctiv with byra letterifrom Bisbop Anderson:which appeared: in the
nexb: issuei o Bub Corbett wassunwilling' to"1et:ithe: matter drops '
Trvsubsequent issues he made’ use of his: original-objecton: to -
make” aceusations that:the Hidson's Bay Company and ‘the Governor:s

of Assiniboia were fostering a Roman Cathdlicrascendancy in the:

‘govermmert, ofithe Settlementy o hid

st vl aMeanwhiile: the social-1dfe of Red River:continued. dn e
‘“Et’«é‘iri’-y?“"daﬁ:rn' &‘éaiﬁéﬁ?-?oiéaefpi;; fashion. « Somelexcitement was ‘caused by
& minor flood which decurted in May.!'r The NorWester: descrlbed
‘the Bishopand his clergyas paylng stheir visits and going to
+their various services dn c‘anbest;zgi;s::fsSer’:i‘ous-’ﬂmhbu’gﬁ» it.was, this
flood did notsicase nearly as much destruction as the great
flood of11852, #By the lithiof June, bulldlng f‘opeireii?io.ns’a. had sot
farprogresséd ontthie new 'St Johnts Catlisdral that, the demolid~

78 ‘This fiust Have' beeh ‘quite’

tion of ‘the” 0ld ‘church was begun,
HURTYET 6 many i1 the ‘Settlement: for ‘the' old Bt. gohnts had
‘been* propped iip; inside and outy with wooden supports ‘and Had

‘dCtually been condermed befors ‘the' Bishop Ffirst arrived in 1849,

7. Normhester = ¥.2. ‘miber 8, June 1st; 1861,

< v.23y imber -6, April15th, 1861, 7t

76, NortWester - 'v.2, mumber 9, June'1S5th,” 1861,
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In mid-summer his Lordship held an interesting Crdina~
tion in St. Andrew!s Church., There were three candidates for
ordination; an Englishman, an English half-breed, and a Crée
Indian, The Englishman was the Rev. T.T.Smith who was ordained
priest and sent to relieve Hunt at English River, The half-
breed ﬁas Thomas Cook a former pupil at St. John's and the son of
Thomas Cook who had taught at the Indian Settlement. He was or-
dained deacon and sent to Cumberland Station. Bﬁt the Indian was
by far the most interesting candidate for he was none other than
Henry Budd, junior. The Bishop had taken him to England in 1856
and placed him in the Missionary Childrents Home at Islington

77

for further education. He was a bright student but none too

strong physically. He had returned from England in 185978 and
had since been pursuing theological studies under the Bishop.
He was now ordained deacon and remained at St. John's to
assist the Bishop.

Another small glimpse of the activities of Miss Anderson
appeared in the August 15th issue of the NorfWester,'® During
his drive td stimilate interest in intellectual pursuits Bishop
Anderson had started a reading club in 1859, His sister was

evidently a member of the club for by 1861 she had become its

president. In September she made a visit with her brother to

77 Intelligencer - December 1856 - Recent Intelligence.

78 S5.0.R. = Corresponding Committee, October 26th, 1859,

79, Nor'Wester - v.2. number 13, August 15th, 1861,
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-stone church of St. Clcment's, Mapleton,

159,

the Cockran's at Portage la Prairieoao“ In 1852 hers was the hand

which prepared the script of the Notes on the Flood for publica-

tion,81 Always she was the Bishop's willing and capable helper
and presided at Bishop'!s Court as a gracious hostess to the
countless callers who crossed its threshold,

On Sunday September Lth the Bishop went to Fort Garry
to preach a farewell sermon for the Royal Canadian Rifles.82
During the following week they departed for York Factory on their
way back to Canada, and the Red River Settlement was totally
without troops ofahy kind until after the Bishop had finally
returned to England., On thd 1lLth of September Rev, Mr. and Mrs,
W}ILTaylor_returned from their visit to England and resumed

charge of the parish of 5t. James. The Rev, Robert Macdonald,

who had taken charge of the parish during their absence,now

“returned to his own s%éfion ak Islington.83

: 1/Bishop Anderson
On Advent Sunday afternoon December lst 1861/performed

the pleasant dutx/8§ficially opening the attractive little
8l The church was

now in the charge of the Rev. Henry Cochrane and had been

built by contributions from 7England and from the Eéttlement

80. NortWester - v,2. number 16, October 1st, 1861,
81, Bishop Anderson -~ Notes on the Flood, preface.

82, Hargrave - Red River p 187,
83.  Nor'Wester - v.2, number 16, October 1lst, 1861,

8lis Nor'Wester - v,2., number 21, December 1lhth, 186L,
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at large. The next year John West's bell was brought frpm
the ngw demolished St. JOhﬁ's Church‘and put up at St. Clement!s
on November lSth.85 N |
In recent years the C.M.S. had been pressing upon
Bishop Anderson‘ever more strongly the necessity of self-
support, The good Bishop knew that most of the business in
his Diocese was done by barter and that consequently his people
had very little ready cash to offer., When he had consecrated
the new church of St. Andrew's in 1849 he had offered to bﬁy
two bells for it if the parishioners would buy a third. The
offer was gladly accepted but the accounts showed that it took
a year and a half, and 116 subscriptions, the largest of which
was 12 shillings,.befbre the debt of £28 1lhs Ld was finally
discharged,86 In 1861 the pressure from the C,M.S. was in-
creased by a notice that they were withdrawing their support
from St.Paull's Church, In its place the Bishep had succeed-
ed in soliciting the help of the Coclonial and Continental Church
Society which offered help to parishes. on condition of a pro-
portional effort on the part of the recipienfso Their plan
was designed to withdraw help gradually and so ease the step
towards self-support. - Accordingly a meeting was called by the

Bishop in St. Paul's schoolhouse on December 16th to set up a

85, Macleod = Bells of Red River. p 12,

86,  Ibid - p 28.
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local branch of the Coloniai and Continental Church and enable
St. Paults parish to fulfil their part of the bargain.87

The beginning of the new year was marked during the
second week of January by another series of united Protestant
prayer-meetings, These were held in response to a recommendation
of the European Evangelical Alliance, and the first meeting was

conducted at St. John's by Bishop Andérson.88

Following these
meetings the Bishop continued his efforts towards self-support
by preaching in support of the C.M.S.at St. Andrewts and St.
Clement's on January 26th,89 As a result of his efforts some
£50 was raised and the hope was expressed that St. Andrew's
might soon "contribute a sufficient sum to pay one Native
Pastorn"9o

During March and April the Council of Assiniboia
held three meetings at whichvit carried through a consolidation
of the laws of the Seitlemento The Civi] War,which was now
raging in the United States had, as yet, not made itself felt

in the Settlement. Friends in England were apprehensive about

‘their friends at Red River however, and the January meeting of

87. Nor 'Wiester - v,2. number 22, December 2lith, 1861,
88. Nor!'Wester - v.3. number 1, January 22nd, 1862,
89. S.0.R. Corresponding Committee, Jamary 28th, 1862,

90. Ibid,



the Corresponding Committee reassured the Parent Committee
as to their safety.9l '

On May 29th, 1862,another Red River Metis, J.A. Mackay
was ordained deacon by Bishop Anderson in St. Andrew's Church.
Not many days before, Governor G. Dallas, the new Governor of
Rupert's Land had arrived in the Settlemeﬁto92 Arrangements
were quickly made by the Bishop and on the morning of June Lth,
Dallas performed his first official act in Rupert'!s Land by lay-

ing the corner stone of St. John's()a’oheélral?3

"The main build-
ing being already completed, the south corner of the tower
ﬁas honored with the bottled memorial ci.c-~-,1;>osi’c,s¢"9lL Though the
main building was completed it was neither furnished nor painted
as yet. By the Lth of November the threeybells were hung in the
‘oower?5 and on the 25th of December 1862, the Cathedral was at
length opened for worship,

During the course of this year the Bishop!s efforts to-
wards self—supporﬁ received some seriocus setbacks. The first of

these was Governor Dallas! order, "in his capacity as head of the

trading operations," forbidding Hudson's Bay Company servants to

91, Ibid,

92, Oliver - North-West p 50l.

93. NortWester, v.3. number 11, June 1lth, 1862.

ol Tbid.

95. NortWester v.s. number November Lth, 1862,

162,



purchase country produce for casho96

This reversion td the
barter system intentionally curtailed the amount of money in
¢irculation in Rupert!s Land as a means'of striking a blow at
the operations of private traders in the ferritory. It certain-
1y did this’but in the process it inflicted real hardship on
many small farmers, and most severely cri?pled the Bishopls
efforts at inéreasing the giving of his people.

During August 1862 the Sioux massacres occurred in
Minnesota and for a time communicaiions betweén Red River and

the United States were cut off°97

By the end of October the

mail service was partially restored and together with the news

of what had happened rumors reached the Settlement that the Sioux
were going to visit the Red River next summer. In view of the
defenceless condition of the Settlement, Governor Dallas called

a special meeting of the Council of Assiniboia on October 30th

to consider what steps could be taken to meet the emergenqyn98
On the motion of Bishop Anderson it was decided that the only way
to meet the emergency was by the presence of British troopsand

that the settlers at large ought immediately to unite in a

strong and urgent appeal to the Home Govermment for the estab-

96, Hargrave - Red River p 251,
97 » Tbid - P 2)_1,8 »

98. Oliver - North-West p 511.

163,
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v lishment of a Garrison."99

Judge Black was delegated to draw
up a petition and the necessary steps were t be taken to
obtain signatures. When signed the petition was to be forward-
ed to the Home Govermment by Governor Dallas.

This petition was drawn up and soon became known as the
Council Petition. Public meetings were arranged in.various parts
of the Settlement to explain the objgcts of the petition and to
secure signaturesoloo At this sﬁage of the proceedings opposi-
tion developed in the Settlement. As usual after Council meet-
ings, a copy of the Council Petition, and of the resolutions,
passed at the last meeting, was sent to the NortWester by the
secretary, Mr. Smith. Instead of prinﬁing the petition and
the report of ﬁhe Council meeting, editor James Ross drafted a
counter-petition which he published ih place of the Council
Petition. The so-called Peoplels Petition asked for troops,
but also attacked the govermment of the Company in Rupert's
1and. It was rushed through the Settlement just ahead of the
Council Petition and so obtained a considerable number of sig-
natures. It was actively supported by the Rev. G.0.Corbett of

Headingley and the Rev. John Chapman of St. Paul*salol With the

99,  Ibid - p 513.
100, Hargrave - Red River p'253.

101, Ibid - p 256.
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exception of these two, and the  Rev. John Black, who always

maintained aﬁ attitude of strict neutrality on policital

questions, all of_the.clergy, both Protestant and Roman Catholic,

supported the Council Petition. Black himself signed the

Council Petition but refused to influence his parishioners in

either direction.lo2
The senior partner in the Nor!Wester, William Coldwell,

had come originally with his first:partnerglfrom Canada.

From its fifst issue in DPecember 1859, tﬁgipapervhadbbonsis-

tently favored a pro-Canadian pdlicy in the political affairs

of the Settlement. When Coldwell's partner, William Bucking>

ham returned to Canada in 1860, his place on the newspaper was

taken by James Ross. The latter Had just recently returned

after completing his university education in Toronto, the hotbed

of the "Canada First" group who advocated Cénadian Annexation of

Rupert's Land, As might be expected, young James had absorbed

much of their political viewpoint including their primcipal

method of pressing their claims; namely, cﬁallenging the valid-

ity of the charter by which the Hudson's Bay Company ruled in

Rupert!s Land. James Ross! sympathies therefore harmonized

very well with those of Coldwell and the only change in the policy

of the Nor'Wésteq was the renewed vigor with which it was pursued.
The leadership of the People!s Petition must have

caused Bishop Anderson a goodvdeal of embarrassment and chagrin

as well as honest disappointment. Corbett had long been in

102, Ibid - p 255
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opposition to the Hudson's Bay Company and had given
evidence unfavorable to their interests before the Select

Committee of 1857.103°

His support of local institutions
wés not encouraged when, on September 15th 1859,his complaint of
trespass was non-suited at the Quarterly Court and he had to
pay the thirty shillings! costs.loh

John Chapman was a greater disappointment to the Bishop,
for his Lordship had been responsible personally for bringing
him out to Rupert's Land. Ever since Corbettls arrival in the
country however, Chapman had been his close friend and it was
not surprising that when opporﬁunity offered, they should be
found working together as "fellow~agitators against the Companyls
government."lqS

James Ross, the ring-leader of the agitation, had also
a close personal reiationship with the Bishop. It began when
his Lordship found James as one of the senior pupils at the
Academy in 18L49. The Bishop had taken much interest and pride
in James! ability as a student and later followed his academic
caréer at Toronto University with close interest and helpful ad-
vice, It was the Bishop's motion in the Council of Assiniboia
which made the choice between James Ross and Henry McKennej for
- the appointment as Governor of the Gaol and Sheriff of Assin-

106

iboia. When Ross subsequently joined the staff of the Nort

103.  Corbett - Notes on Rupertls America - preface.

10ks  P.A.M. - Minutes of the Quarterly Court of Assiniboia p 136.
105. Hargrave - Red River p 256.

106, Oliver - North-West p L78. June 8th, 1861,



Wester,no objection was raised by the Council. Now however,
his actions while he was still’hqlding,public office could no
longer be overlooked. A special meeting of the Council was
called on Noveﬁber 25th, and a motion by Governor Mactavish re-
moving Ross from all public offices was carfied unanimously°107
To this Bishop Anderson added another motion,that becauée of the
unfair and irresponsible treatment given by the Nort!Wester to the
reports of Council meetings, no further reports should be sent
to that newspapér,108
In the midst of all this excitement events took an un-
expected turn which caused the Bishop still further pain and
embarrassment. When Corbett originally arrived at Red River
in 1852 he had already spent some time in Montreal, during the
previous winter, obtaining éome medical trgining. In 1855 he had
visited England,and on the recommendation of Bishop Anderson he
had been admitted to the medical school at King's éollege,109
On his return to the Settlement he acted as a medical mission-

ary at the direction, and with the approval, of his Bishopollo

In the midst of the rumpus over the rival petitions, rumors be-

gan flying about the Settlement that Corbett had had improper

107,  Ibid - p Sik.
108, Ibid - p 515.

109, Corbett - Notes on Rupert!s America p 88.

110,  Ibid.
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relations with Maria Thomas, his servantolll The Bishop
immediately sent for Corbett, as soon as he heard about it, but
the latter refused to come. Bishop Anderson then sent his junior
Archdeacon to inquire about the affair., Hunter in turn got
Taylor of St. James to go to see Corbett and urge him to fleéo
Iﬁ his evidence at the trial Taylor said, "I am aware that an
offer was made to Mr, Corbett to fly, but he hesitated = he
ought to have obeyed - the recommendation was unconditional -
I would rather say it was a directionoo.wo"llz

Early in December, as a result of a charge laid by the
girlts father, Corbett was arrested at his home "by authority of
a warrant granted by Mr.:Thomas'Sinclair, Je.P., on a éharge of
having made repeated attempts to procure abortion,...on the
person of Maria Thomas, a girl in his service, whom he had

113

seduced, " _ Corbett immediately began writing letters to the
Nor'Wester, Governor Tallas, and various friends, protestingr
his innocence and objecting to the ingustice of his imprisonment.,
On December 6th a group of his friends made an attempt to
liberate Corbett by force, but were restrained by the timely

arrival of Governor Dallas. In his letters to the Nor'Wester

Corbett claimed that the whole affair was instigated by the

-111, P.AM. - Minutes of the Quarterly Court p 266.
112, P.AM. - Minutes of the Quarterly Court p 288,

113. Hargrave - Red River p 266,
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Company for political reasons because of his known opposition
to their government.
‘For a time it was debated whether or nét to hold a
special court to try the cése immediately. However upon the
‘medical advice that the girl would probably be well enough in a
few weeks to attend the court it was decided to free Corbett on
bail., On December léth’Corbett was fréed on two securities of
£100 each and his own assurance of a further 200,
In due course Corbett was brought to trial on February

19th 1863, when a "Grand Jury returned a true Bill of Indictment
" against Rev., Griffith Owen Cor~be1’ft;."ll5 The trial dragged on
throughout the whole of February, and on March lst Corbett was
‘found guilty. as charged, and sentenced to six months' imprison-
ment without labour or confiscation of property. According to

the evidence the girl,on her own admission;appeared to be little
better than a slut and it is‘difficultlto see that the conflicting
evidence really sustained the charge of immorality on Gofbett!s
f'part, On the other h&nd the guilt of his indiscretion in
attempting an abortion on the girl was all too evident.

Corbettls defence was conducted at the trial by his

political ally, James Ross. Despite the claims, which appeared

in the columns of the NbrVWeSter, that the charges were instiga-

ted by the Company for political reasons, no evidence was pro-

11k, Ibid - p 24..

115, P.AM. DMinutes of the Quarterly Court p 2ll.
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duced in support of these claims at the trial, The evidence
however did show collusion on the part of the girlts family,

In view of th&sefact;and the frequeﬁcy ofrillegitimate births

in the $ettlement, at this time, it seems not unlikely that
Thomas was prompted by others in instituting proceedings against
Corbett.

| Meanwhile on December 28th,a party of Sioux made their
appearance at Fort Garry and were lodged temporarily in the

116

court room, Fortunately none of them had been implicated

in the Minnesota massacre and their visit passed in peace.
"During their stay they visited Bishop Anderson, who received
them with all proper considerationvand showed them his new
cathedral of St. John.o.p"ll7 On the last day of the year after
receiving a present of pemmican, the band quietly left ﬁhe
Settlement and the inhabitants breathed easier again. But the
country generally was thoroughly alarmed about possible future
visits to the undefended Settlement. By the beginnimg of March a
large band of Sioux had collected in the vicinity of St. Joseph.
Rumor had it that the Crees were also threatening to attack the
Settlement in the spring., As a result, on the 11th of March a

petition bearing the date March 2nd was read to the Council ur-

116,  Hargrave - Red River p 2066,

117.  Tbid.



ging the formation, and arming, of a voluntary cavalry corps,
to defend the Settlement until tﬁe expected arrival of British
troops._.118 The Council decided that since the expense of such
an undertaking would be greater than "evenffhe Petitioners
might be either able of willing to bear", and that since
British troops were expected-tq'arrive in the spring in response
to their recent application for them, the best thing to do was
to forward the present petition immediately to England,ll9
For the moment the Sioux scare was over, and the Corbeft
case resumed the centre of attention° From his gacl cell Corbett
continued to write letters to the Nor'Wéster,‘the Bishop, and his
friends, all of which proved unavailihg. .On April 9th a petitién
was presented t§ tﬁe Council praying for the remissidn of the
unifulfilled portion of Corbett's sentence,lgo The Counecil how—‘
ever, claimed no jurisdiction in the matter,ahd referred the
petition to Governor Dallas, who refused the'request. After the
failufe of this effort the sponsors of the petition decided to
éttempt the liberation of their friend by force, Following the
Petty Court session on April 20th,a group of men led by James

Stewart, the schoolmaster from . James'!, overawed the jailor ard

freed Corbett. In his turn, Stewart was arrested and jailed on

118,  Oliver - North-West p 516,
119. Ibid - p 517..

120, Ibid - p 522.
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April 21st and forcibly freed the next day by an armed band
led by'William Ha1létt and John Bourke.lzl In an effort to stop
this flagrant breach of law and order "The Governor of Rupert‘
lLand and Assiniboia and the Blshop of Hipert!s Land, who, al-
though, a man of pesce, showed no symptoms of shirking the fray,
along with three of the more influential magistrates formed a
temporary council."?? But it was/no avail; the English half-
breeds under Hallett threatened violence and rather than risk
bloodshed, by restraining them forcefully, it was decideé toléllaN
the group to break into the jail aﬁd to free Stewart,123

During the summer Bishop Anderson begén making prepara -
tions forvhis departure for England the next year. When he re-
turned to Red Rivér in 1857 it had been his intention to remain
for a further period of sevenyears and then to "take some rest
and repose."l2h As on the previous occasion, of his absence in
England, so now he was anxious to leave all the clergy in his
diocese fully ordained. Consequently during the summer of 1863 he

held an Ordination at which four candidates were made priests.

It was a notable Ordination for two of the candidates, Thomas

121, Hargrave - Red River p 285-8.
122, Ibid - p 286,
123, Oliver - North-West p 522,

12L,  Bishop Anderson - Charges and Sermons Fifth Triennial Charge
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Vincent and Henry Budd junior'were full-blooded Indians, and the
other two, Thomas Cook and J.A. Mackay were haif—breeds. The
latter had been made.a deacon on May 29th 1862, |
In the autumn of 1863 the expected visit of the Sioux took

place, and about five hundred of them encamped»at Sturgeon Creekol25
In the absence of any troops in the Settlement, Governor Dallas

did what he could by direct negotiations with them, "He found

fhem for the most part in a state of utmost destitu‘oion"l26

and after receiving the authorization of the Council of Assin-~
iboia, finally succeeded in getting themAto move away by supplying
them with provisions and the means of transportation.

On January 6th 186&;Bishop Anderson held his fifth and

final Visitétion; The Bishop delivered his Charge in the new
Cathedral of St, John!s. Apparently it was not yet entirely
completed for in reference to 1t he said that he thanked God
.that it mas so far completed as to admit of worship in it.127

Apart from his visit to Moose and another short visit to Fairford,
the building of the Cathedral had occupied the majority of his
time during the past three years. The Diocesan library had

been steadily increased however, and now numbered some 1,00

volumes including most of the standard works on theology,,’128

125, Oliver - North-West p 530.

126,  Ibid.

127. Bishop Anderson ~ Charges and Sermong Fifth Triennial
Charge p 30

128, Ibid - p 3L,
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~ Because of the great variation in size and popﬁlation of the
parishes and stations of the Diocese, which precluded any common
system of representation, he did not’feel that‘they were yet
ready for synodical action.129 He felt that such a time could
not be far distant‘however, and referred to the recent purchase of
the Hudson's Bay Company by the Intefnational-Finance Company

in June 1863 as one more indication that a period of rapid growth
in population was not far distant for Rupert!s Land.

The number of clefgy in the Tiocese now stood at twenty-
three, all of whom were in priests orders, with two more expected
to arrive soon.130 Nine confirmations had been held at W ich 307
candidates had been confirmed. At the close of his Charge the
Bishop referred to his coming departure for England., "In a very
few months T shall have completed fifteenggsxzrin the Episcopate,
at which time I had always intended to take some rest and repose.
In leaving you again, it is we muét all feel, with greater un-
certainty as to the future as years roll on. As on the former
occasion I left the senior, so now I leave the junior Archdeacon
in charge,"13l |

"Although it was by no means certain that his lordship
would not return to the country, the belief that such was the

132

case Was general and strong." The result was that as the

130, Ibid - p L0

131. Ibid

132, Hargrave - Red River p 330,
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time of his departure drew near the Bishop and his sister were
deluged‘with a long series of addresses from every section of

the community. These public addfesses and the replies to them
filled the columns of the Nor! WesSter for several issues and bore
witness to the high esteem with which his Lordship was regarded by
the whole population of the Settlement,

Hundreds of people gatheredAat the Fferry on May 3lst to
witness the departure of éhe Bishop and his sister. In recog-
nition of the progress of civilization which had taken place dur-
 ing the fifteen years of his episcopate, the Bishop who had
originally arrived at-Red River by the most direct route which then
lay by way of Hudson‘s Bay, now returned to England by way of
St. Paul,

When the Bishop's Charge was printed in England in August
it bore a few additional remarks as a preface. "The apprehension
of which I had some foreboding in the delivery of this Charge,
has now become a reality. Circumstances preclude my return to
the country which has occupied my thoughts and energies for
fifteen years."l33 A brief notice appearing in the Qolonial

Church Chronicle dated October 14t 186l announced his appoint-
13k

ment as Incumbent of Clifton, Bristol,England.

133. Bishop Anderson - Charges and Sermons Fifth Triennial
Charge, preface.

134. The Colonial Church Chronicle, October 1st, 186l,
p 350C. '




CHAPTER V1
THE WORK OF EXTENSION AND EDUCATION

A_- EXTENSION

When Bishop Anderson arrived in his Diocese in October 1849 the
number of clergy under his jurisdiction totalled five, of whom three
were engaged in purely Indian work. The Eév. John Smithurst vas in
charge of the Indian Settlement at Netley Creek begun by William Cockran
in 1832, The Rev. Abraham Cowley vas still at work among the Saulbenx
at the Partridge Crop where he hgd begﬁn a mission station in 1844, This
particular station was still a most discouraging one, for the Saulbenx
apparently turned an indifferent ear to Christianity., At Cumberland
staticn,.begun by the native Henry Buddplin 1840, the story was far
different, There the Creés reédily embraced the new faith and a consid=
erable number wére baptized by the Rev., Jobn Smithurst when he visited
the station in 1842, and by the Révo John Hunter when he arrived as
resident missionary in 1844. | |

Although the S, P. G. had been iﬁvited by the Hudson's Bay Company
in 1822 to take part in the work in Rupert's Land, they had been unable
to do so at that time, The Anmnual Report of the S.P.G. for 1848 finally
recorded the decision of that society to send out a clergyman to Rupert!s

Land% but it was not until 3850 that the first S. P. G. clergyman

1. Report_of the Incorporated Society for the Propagation of the
Gospel in Foreign Parts for the year 1848 p xxxix



arrived at Red River, When the Bishop arrived in 1849 ﬁis Diocese

was entirely staffed by clergy and catechists supported by the C, M, S.
This Society had a.strong, highly centralized organization which directed
the work of its world ﬁide missions from a central committee in London .
The effieiency of their organization enabled them to carry on their var-
ious missions wifh vigor, but in cases such as Rnpert's‘Land it 4id not
tend to eohesion in the work as a whole, Each station was independently
responsible to a far away committee, and it was difficult to feel that

any real plan was being followed in the development of the:work. The
appointment of Bishop Anderson was therefere welcomed by both the C, M, S.
and the clergy of the Diocese.as providing the necessary co-ordinating
and directing force for the”work.

In response to appeals fr§ﬁ the Rev, James Hunter, the Rev, and
M&watmmcmemmwﬁh%eﬁﬂ%inmw,mmtmiMmﬁm
of becoming the resident missionaries‘ét Lac la Ronge. The Roman
Catholics had a station at Ile a' la Crosse from which place they were
able to dominate easily the Indians of the English River district,

Hunder was much disturbed to see the Indians falling under the ?ugy of
Roma, and in 1846 he sent out the pative Indian catechist, Egmes Settee,

to start a station at Iac la Range.z

By the time of the arrival of the
Hunts in 1849,Settee had not yet succeeded in preparing accomodation for

them and as a result they spent the winter at the Red River Settlement,

2, Intelligenéer - June 1851 p 134

177,
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‘ Bishop Anderson had long been familiar with the operations and
methods of the C, M, S. In those methods,the many small contributions
 6fvworking class people,Athreughfthe local branch associations of the
Society, played a very large.pgft,'_fhe broad basis provided by this
klocal organization proved to be a great strength to several of thzk
missionary societies, and the idea was being urged upon the missions
thémSelves as a means of still further extending the work, Bishop
Anderson was awareof the wishes of the Parent Committee of the C., M. S,
in this:matter and soon took steps to carry those wishes intoheffeet.
On Epiphany Sundey, January 6th, 18£ﬁi‘he éreached sermonsvin aid'cf the
C. M, S.lét Sﬁ. Andrew's Church and at fhe Middle Church, and on.the
following Sundéy at the Upper Church and at the Garrison Chapel,

The results of the collections at these services provided a useful
illustration of the difficulties wﬁich faced the Bishop in any efforts
at self-support throughout his entire episcopacy in Rupert's Land. The
collections at each of the churches where the Bishop preached amounted
to £3, £9 2s., £15 5s8., and and £2 28 respectively. In addition forty
bushelsvof wheat.were given at the/Middle Church, and sixty=-four bushels
6f wheat and twelve yards of homespun cloth were givén at the Upper
'Church.B His Lordship accounted for the smsll contribution of St. Andrew's
by the fact that they had just recently finished their néw church and
subsceribed £70 for the building of a stone fence around the churchyard,
But this 1aét figure represented chiefly contributions in kind and not

in cash,

3. Intelligencer - June 1850 p 326
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The greatest weélth of Rupert's Land still day in its furs, the
trade in which was the monopody of the Hudson's Bay Goﬁpany. Besides
this thévRed River distriet was principally an agricultural area and not
a fur producing area, The peculiar1y isola£ed state of the Red River
Settlement, énd indeed of the whole of Rupert's Land, meant that the
costs of transportation were so high that they prevented the profitable
exportation of any products of the country excepting furs, However
wealthy the farmers méy have been in crops and livestock the only market
in which they eould convert this wealth into cash was that which supplied
the Hudson's Bay Company's servanits with their supplies of foodstuffs,
Even at its best this was a very limited market and because of the
abundant supplies the prices were low, The Company paid for its supplies
with its own currency which was redeemable at Par in London, England,

Apart from this source; the main sources of cash in the country
vere from the missionarieg amd from the troops which happened to be
stationed there from time to time. Thus it came about that the Red River
‘Settlement enjoyed one of its greatest periods of prosperity from 1846
to 1848 during the period in which a regiment of the Sixth Royals were
stationed there, By contrast the biow was doubly severe in 1862 when,
at a time when there were no tropps in the Settlement, Governor Dallas
sought to protect the Company's monopcly in furs by reverting to a

barter system for the purchase of farm prbduce.4

bo Morton - Canadian West p 857
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The only other source of money in the country was frow the
savings and small pensions of retired Company employees who could live
quite comfortably on their incomes in a land where the basic requirements
of 1life could be obtained for little mom than the effort of producing
them,

From the poin§ of view of missionary enterprise all of this meant
that missions could never become self-supporting so long as such conditions
prevailed, The Red River Colony was the only considerable setilement in
the whole of his Diocese when Bishop Anderson arrived in 1849, and to the
end of his episcopate in 1864 it remained the mnsﬁ prosperous community
as well, But despite its relatiye prosperity;the Séttlement was literally
‘unable to entirely support even its own clergy, let alon® contribute
towards the Indian mission work of the Diocese. That the Presbyterian
congregation at Red River were able ﬁo_support themselves was the result
of the fact that they were a compact community made up almest wholly of
industrious Scotch farmers and retired Company employees., Their per capita
income was thus atreasonable level while the expenses of their minister
were at a minimmum,

Throughout his episcopate Bishop Anderson continued his efforts
towards self-support, During the week which followed his first sermons
in support of the C. M. S,.,the Bishop called a meeting at St. Andrew's
Church at which he organized g!Geméral Branch Association of the C. M. S.,

for Rupert!s Land.” At the invitation of the Bishop, Governor Caldwell

54 Intelligencer - June 1850 p 326
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acted as chairmam of this meeting and made a subseription of £50 to
the work of the C, M, S, He hal been a member of the C. M, S.

Committee of Correspondence in England, from 1834 to 1836,6

and throughout
his term of office in Rupert's Land he remained a loyal supporter of the
Society's work there. When the local Cdrresponding Committee of the
C. M. S, for Rupert's land was formed he served ﬁpon it faithfully &nd-41id not
missed a single meetling throughout his fesidence in the Settlement,
On the last day of the old year the Rew, Abraham Cowley arrived
in the Settlement from his station at Partridgé Crop. The Bishop
immediately decided to take advantage of having all but one of his clergy
" collected in one placeyand following the formation of the C, M. S.
Association he held a clergy conference, The main question on which he
sought information was the most likely areas for further expansion of the
Indian missions, They suggested York Factory, Churchill, Moose Factorys
and Fort Pelly as offering the most favorable opportunities at-present.7
The strengest opinion favored the latter place as the Indians from there
had recently sent a deputation to Mr. James asking for a missionary.8
In a letter dated January 22nd 1850,the Bishop communicated the
results of these meetings to the Parent Committee of the C. M. S, and

!

appealed for helﬁ.9

6. Intelligencer - April 1862 p 87
7e Intelligencer - June 1850 p 326-7

8o Ibid

9.  Imid p 3%
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The Pafentlcammittee responded by offering to send out another
missionary,and by directing the clergy of the Diocese to form themselves
into‘a corresponding Committee; undef the presidency of the Bishop, with
Major Caldwell as a lay member and the Rev, Robert Jameslas sécretary.lo
This resolution was passed on May 28th 1850, On October 30th at a

meebing held at the Academy, Réd Rivef, the wisheS of the Committee were
carried into effect.ll

After forming themselves into avCorrespohding Committee, they
welcomed the news that another missionary was to be sent out to the
Diocese, They then delfberatéd as to where the new worker ought to be
located and finally recorded their decision, "That the Committee recommend
Moose as the most suitable locstion for the Missionary coming out, having
been given up by the H, Hudson's Bay Coy. with its Ghufeh for that
purpose, and pofsefsing the advantageé of its connexion with East Main,
Rupert's House and Albany whither a sloop annually proceeds." /

The work of Mooée Factory was begun iﬁ 1840 by the English Methodists
at the invitation of the Hudson's Bay Company.l3 In that year Moose
Factory was occupied, as a mission station, by the Rev, George Barnley
who remained there for eight years,until the station was abandoned by the
Methodists}4 At his first Visitation in December 1851 Bishop Andersen

announced that Moose Factory and Swan River "were offered to me by the

10, S. 0. R, - Minutes of the Corresponding Committee
Copy of the Resolution of the Parent Committee,
May 28th, 1850.

11, S. 0. R, - Minutes of the Corresponding Committee , October 30th,
1850, '

12, Ibid
13. Rid@éll - Methodism in the Middle West ,p 33
e Ibid p 34




Honorable Gompanyﬂ15 as. locations for new Church of Englandbstations,
but having no one ﬁo serd to Swan River hé was obligea io forego that
-place, ‘, |

On the 26th of August 1851,a»youﬁg C. M. S. schoolteacher and his

wife, Mri and Mrs, John Horden; arrived at Moose Factory to begin the

Anglican vork in the area until an ordained missionary could be supplied.l6

They were kindly received by Robert Miles, the Hudson's Bay Factor at
Moose, and Horden quickly won the respect and affection of the Swampy
Crees who frequented the distriet, The yéung‘schoolteaeher goon fournd
that the Roman Catholics were in the habit of sending priests into the
distriet everj summer from Génada. In the face of such oppasitién he vas
painfully aware of the great disadvantage under which he labored as an
unordained Categhist,and appealed to Robert Miles to write to the Bishop |
suggesting that he ordain Horden on his visit the next suﬁner.l7 Although
Miles felt that it was not proper for him to interfere,anddtheref@re did
not write to the Bishop, Horden's desire was in fact fulfilled.

Biéhop Anderson set out on his first visit to Moose and Albany
on June 28th 1852,shortiy after the waters of the great flood had sub-
sided; He went withAthe intentioﬁ of leaving the station in charge of
the ordained missionary, who was due to come oul that summer, and of
taking Horden-back to Red River to prepare for ordination., When he saw

| how well-read Horden was in thedogy,and how proficient he was in the Cree

15. Bishop Anderson - Charges and Sefmons - Primary Charge p 40

16. Intelligencer - November 1851 p 264

17. P.A.B.C, ROSS LETTERS D. Ross from R. Miles, January 6th,1852
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'language,the Bishop decided to ordain him bofoh deacon and priest and

| to leave him in charge of the statioﬁ.ls

‘The Rev. E. A, Watkins, who arrived on Augus?t 151‘21, was then sent
on to form a mew station at Fort George on the eastern shores of James
Bay.19 It was hoped that from this station contact might be made with
the Esquimaux,but they did not come so far eet?.th in any numbers., Fort
George was loea'ﬁed within the barren land.e .and the procurement of food
was so uncertain that when the Hudson's Bay Company abandoned the Fort
in 1857, Watkins was compelled to leave with them.20 Another attempt to
reach the Esquimaux in this direction was made by the Rev, T. A, Fleming
in the winter of 1859, At Little Whale River he met about 350 'Esquimaux
some of whom he taught to read the syllabic charac’oers and supplied with
printed portions ef seripture., But Fleming's success was achieved at
the price of his healtho When Bishop Anderson again visited Moose in the
summer of 1860 he found Fleming in a very weakened condition on aceount
of a Eaemorrhaée which he had suffered in the spring.m' Fleming was
compelled to return to England on Sep_temlaer 9th and twe years later he

died.

Moose Factory,at the mouth ef the Moose River, was situated on the

edge of the Hudson's Bay coastal plain which exten@éﬁ nox_'th of the forest

belt from Moose Factory to a little north of York Factory. The more

12, Bishop Anderson - Net in Bay p 119
19. Ibid p 163
20.  Stock - Higtory of the G, M. S, v.3 p 321

21. Bishop Anderson - Net in Bay P 319
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kindly conditions of this érea made i& the home of a considerable number
of Swampy Crees amongst whom}Horden lébored successfully until his’death
in 1892. Hordem was a tireleés worker and an excellent student of the
Cree language. Iﬁ 1853 a printing-press and a fount of syllgbic type was
gent out to him by the C, M, 8. to assist in his work of translation.22
He also travelled extensively over a wide area and conducted his work at
the inland posts of Osnaburgh and Lac Seul, as well as at Moose and
Albany on the coast, In response to Horden's appeal far help, Bishop
Anderson brought with himsin 1855 one of his Indian students at St, John's,
Thomas Vincent, who was a Cree from the James' Bay district.23 He acted
a8 ecatechist and schoolteacher until the Bishop's third visit in 1860 when
he was ordaihed deadon.24

Bishop Anderson maintained his interest in Rupert's Land and the
work at Moose Factory long after he left the Diocese, On December 15th
1872 he had the privilege of taking part in the econsecration in Westminster
&bbey, of John Horden as the first Bishop of Moosonee. #To myself the

consecration of December 1872 more than realizes and fulﬁilé every daye

dream of 1852."25

At a point intermediate between Red River and Moose Factory another

26
station was begun by the Rév., Robert James in June 1851, The site

22. Intelligencer - March 1853 - footnote p 71
23. Bishop Amierson - Net in Bay p 300

24. Ibid p 319

25, Ibid p 328

26, Intelligencer - March 1852 p 62
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selected was one fermerly occupied by & Roman Catholic mission attempted
some years previously by Fathef Bélcourt.A It was located on the Winnipeg
Rivér, about 100 miles ffom Fort Alexander, at a place called White Dog.
At thezrequeét of a benefactor in England, who furnished the money used
to establish this station, the name ﬁas changed to Islington. An Indian
catechist, Peter Kennedy, was left in charge ofbthe station for several
years but ibs stony ground mgde it unproductive from both an agricultural
and a spiritual point of view. The half-breed Rev. Robert McDénald was
appointed to the station in 1853 and remained there until 1360 when,
because of the ill health,he was movedAto St, James' parish fer a year
during the absence of Mr, and Mrs, Taylor in England.27 McDonald actually
resigned his station at Islington and the Corresponding Committee
nominated the Rev, J. P. Gardiner to the temporary charge of the district,
with the recommendation that he meove the site of the station to the more
favorable country around Fort Alexandera28 However after a year at
8t, James', McDonald apparently recevered,hisAhealth sufficiently to
return to his station, The headquartefs of the statioﬁ was finally moved
to Fort Alexander in 186/ when the Rev, quert Phair was appointed to
the charge of_the station.zg

The @evelopment of the Cumberland distriet had already begun before
the Bishop arrived in Rupert's Laﬁdiin 1849. Hunter was an apt student
of the Cree language and with the helf of his second wife, Jean Ross,

who had been brought up in the country,and of Henry Budd, he carried out

27. Nor' Wester v 2. number 1B, October 1lst, 1861
28, S. 0. R, Minu$e8 of the Corresponding Committee, October 30th, 1860.

29. S. 0. R, Mimites of the Corresponding Committee, May 2nd, 1864.
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Ronge had already grown to sufficient importance as an out-station under
James Setee that the Rev, Rdbért Hunt was sent out with the Bishop to
become the resident missionary there.

Mr. and Mrs, Hunt arrived at their remote statipn on'Jﬁly 30th
185030 and began a difficull period of work in that rocky country., After
‘two discouragihg years at Lac la Romge Hunt moved thé location of the
station to a site on the English River which he named Stanley.31 Here,
on the boundary between the Chipewyans and the Wood Crees,he labored
successfully until he returned to England in 1863, Before he left he
had built a rectory and school, and a church was nearing completion,
The school vas a boarding school with 30 regular and 40 occasional students
as well as evehing classes of adults.BZ The work had increased to such
an extent that a second ordained missionary was sent to the stgtion in
“August 1861 when the Rev, T. T. Smith set out for Stanley.33 Because of
its location on the edge of the Chipewyan country, Stanley station acted
as a starting point for the work among Chipewyan Indians,

At Cumberland itself the Rev. John Hunﬁer labored with good results
from 1844 ﬁntil 1855 when he moved to the charge of St, Anirew's parish,

He built a parsonage and a churech at Cumberland, completing the latter

30. R. L. D, A, Hunt Diary, July 30th, 1850
31. S. 0. R. Minutes of the Corresponding Committee, June 9th, 1853
32,  Nor' Wester v 2, number 4j,May:15th;:1861::7

33. Nor' Wester v 2,'number 12, August 1lst 1861



just in time for the Bishop to consecrate it, with the name'of Christ
Chprch} on June 30th 1850, Afﬁéf successfully launching the new stétion
to the north, Hunter looked arouﬁd for another likely spot for an out-
station, With the consent and supﬁert of Bishop Anderson, he sent out
an Indian catechist, John Hum.phible,34 on August 19th 1850.to begin an

out~gtation at Moose Lake,35

about 100 miles south east of Cumberland.
In the summer of 1851 the Rey. Henry Budd made a tentative visit to
Népowewin,'about 300 miles west of Cumberland, a little beléw the
bjunction of the North and South Saskafchswan Rivers.36 The following
year he began work there as a resident missionary and continued to be
connected with this station throughout the episcopaby-of Bishop Anderson,
At Cumberland,the Rev, Henry George suceeeded Archdeacon Hunter for two
years from 1855 to 185737 when ihn turn,he was succeeded by the Rev,
A. E, Watkins, The latter remained for just over five yearsi?&hich time
he returned to England, and waé succeeded by the Rgv. J. A, Mackay38 in .
1863,

The work &t Fairford was begun in 1844 by the Rev. Abraham Cowley
who remained in charge of the station until 1853 when he moved to the

Indian Settlemént at Red R:I.ver.39 The Fairford station suffered a

34 '~ Also spelled Umpherville or Umferville

35. vIntelligencer' December 1850 p 480

'36. 3. 0. R, Minutes of the Corresponding Committee, December 10th, 1851
37. S. 0. R, Minutes of the Corresponding Committes, October 3lst, 1855
38, 8. 0. R. Minutes of the Corresponding Committee, December 2%4th, 1863

39. S. 0. R. Minutes of the Corresponding Committee, December 28th, 1853
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serious setback during the winter of 1852-1853 when a flood destroyed
.the paréonage and school.40 By this time however a considerable
mmber of Indians were living around the mission and the ruined buildings
were replaced with their help, Cowley was succeeded at Fairford by Rev.
Mr, and Mrs, W, Stagg who remained in charge of the mission at the time
of the Bishop's departure in 1864,

Dﬁring the season of 1851-1852'Cowley mode 2 missionary tour te
Berens River, Shosl River and Fort Pelly.4lVSchools were subsequently
started on BerengRiver andvshoai River, but the former was apparently given
up when Stagg moved té Fairford, and the latter was moved in 1859 to a
more favorable location at Duck‘Bay.42

Westward along the valleylof the Assiniboine the parish of St.
James' was begun in 1850 by: the Rev. W, H. Taylor, and the parish of
Headingley by the Rev, G. é. Corbett in 1852, In the following year under
the leadership of Archdeacon Coekraﬁ,a settlgggpt was begun at Poriage
la Prairie, and in the years which followed‘the interverning space between
Headingley ané Portage la Prairie steadily filled up with families who
migrated from the Red River,

In 1850 ,the same year that Philip Kennmedy and John Humphible
began their work at Islington and Moose lake, another Indian catechi®di,

Charles Pratt, began‘a station at Fort Pelly on the upper waters of the

40. S. 0. R, Minutes of the Corresponding Committee, June 9th, 1853
41, S. 0. R. Minutes of the Corresponding Committee, June 7th, 1852

42, 8. 0, R, Mimtes of the Corresponding Committee, Jammary 10th, 1860



Assiniboine.43 "Two years later the Rev;'Charles Hillyer was associated,
with Pratt, in this effort to approach the Indians .of the plains., Fbore
several years he did valuable work among them by accompanying them on
buffalo hunts and visiting them in their tents.44 After the death of
his wife in August 1856,Hillyer returned to England and withdrew from
the Diocese.45'

- Hillyer's place in the Fort Peily distriet was taken,in 1857, by
the Rev, Henry George in association with Archdeacon Cockran at Portage
46 '

la Prairie. The:Rev, James Settee was moved from Re& Beer'é River to
Fort Pelly and Mr, George étarted a new station on the White Mud River

_ at a place afterwards called Westbourne, in honor of John West. As the
result of this location of the Rev, George so near Portage la Prairie, the
Fort Pelly station was transferred back to the superintendence df the
Falrford station under the Rev.‘Mr. Stagg.47 In 1863 Stagg and Settee
made a journey westward to investigate.the possibilities of a further
extension of missionary effort in that direction "but the incessant fight-

ing between the Crees and the Blackfeet had driven them back.“48

This
condition,plus the large amounts of liquor which were inereasingly used
in the Indien trade, in those southern regions, made the work more and
more difficult, ard in 1863 Settee abandoned Fort Pelly ard moved

northward to Swan Lake.49

43. Intelligencer November 1851 - p 255

blee S. 0. R, Minutes of the Correspondlng Committee, June 7th, 1852,
July 26th, 1854.

45, S, 0. R, Minutes of the Corresponding Commitiee, October 21st, 1857
L6, Ibid
47, S, 0. R. Minutes of the Corresponding Committee, February 8th, 1861

48,  Stock - History of the G, M, 8. v.3 p 330

49. S. 0. R. Minutes of the Cérresponding Committee, January 12th, 1864
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In the summer of 1861 an attempt was made to begin a mission
dtation at the Roseau River near Pembina, The operation was attempted
at the invitation of the Indians of the region,and a Mr. Barnard was
appointed to the task.50 By August however,the attempt had been

- abandoned because of the hostility of'me neighbaring Indians.sl

The port of entry for Rupért's Land, on Hnﬁson's Bay, was at

laﬁgth suﬁplied with an Anglican missionary in 1854 when the Rev. William

52

Mason was appointed to York Factory. He had come to Rupert's Land

originally, in 1840, as an English_Wesleyan missionary and Joined the
Church of England in 1854 The following winter the poor state of his
health forced him to seek rest and medical care at Red Rivér,but by the
summer of 1855 he was on his_way back to York again, Mason was a valuable
asset to the Anglican work because of his familiarity with the Indians

of the Hudson's Bay region. He wa;?competent Cree scholar and durlng the
years 1858 to 1862 he was recalled to England %o complete the translation-
and printing of the Bible in Cree.53» in 1862 Mason.returnéd to York and
throﬁgh the beneficence of an English laymen,Mf. Gardiner was able to be
placed at Churchill, For one brief year all four stations on Hudson's
Bay and James' Bay were filled, but on September 17th 18635,4 Gardiner

55
returned to England and was not expeeted back until 1865.

50. S, 0. R. Minutes of the Corresponding Committee, Februaryi8th, 1861
51, Nor! Wester v 2 number 13, August 15th, 1861
524 8. 0, R, Mimutes of the Corresponding Committee, July 26th, 1854

53 S. O, R. Minutes of the Correspending Cemmittee, October 21st, 1857,
May 16th, 1869,



When Bishop Anderson returned to Engiand'in 1864 it was hoped
that Mr, Masoﬁ might come in to fill the duty at St. Jehn's,but owing to
a severe illness he was unable to 1eave York. In this situation the
Rev. T. T. Smith was called iﬁ from English River leaving that station
and the Cumberland district unter the joint care of the Rev, Henry Budd
senior, ard the Rev, J. A, Mackasy.

Perhaps the most spectacular extension of the»missionary work in
Rupert's Land was that undertaken by Archdeacon Hunter in 1858. During
his period of service at Cumberland,Hunter had been acutely aware of the
need for the extensionﬂ of Protestant missions to the north and.west from
his station. In 1851 he wrote to the Parent Committee of the C. M. S.
urging the need for such a step.

"Indiens from Isle-a-la-Crosse and Athabasea are still crying to
us to come and help them . o  The Church of Rome has her agents zealously
at work amidst these promising Indians ., . . The priests are before us
pre-oceupying the ground . . o May God . .‘give us men and means to cérry
the sound of the Gospel, not only to Athabasca, but down the mighty
McKenzie, and again up the Saskatchewan, among the vast tribes of the

plains!”56

S5he Intelligencer November 1863 - Recent Intelligencef

55. S. 0. R, Minutes of the Corresponding Committee, May 2nd, 1864

56, Intelligencer November 1851 p 256
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In 1857 Hunter again proposed an advance to the Mackenzie River
area, and this time with the.full'suppért of his Bishop. By some
mischance, Sir George Simpson failed to send the necessary autheorization
to Red River to enable Hunter to proceed to Mackenéie River with the
Portage la loche brigade, Nevertheless, Hunter set out with them on
Sunday JuneAéth 1858 with only the assurance of transportation as far as
Norway Honse.57 This was particularly annoying whgn authorizétion had
been granted for two Roman Catholie priests to proceed by the same

brigade to the same area.58

However on the first afternoon of his
journey Hunter's brigade met Sir George Simpson who vérhélly authorized
the Archdeacon's trip and assured him that he would find written authority
at Norway House,

Hunter spent the winter of 1858-1859 at Fort Simpson, Mackenzie
River, In September he visited Fort Liard,and the following spring he
went on to Fort Norman and Fort Good Hope. Archdeacon Hunter returned
to Red River in the summer of 1859‘and his place was taken, as previously

arranged, by the Rev, W. W, Kirkby.59

With his wife and family Kirkby
"took up his residence at Fort Simpson, Mackenzie River, as his permanent
station, Three years later he was Jjoined by the Rev, Robert McDonald,

and together they travelled throughout the whole of the Mackenzie River

57. Intelligencer - September 1859 p 208

58, S. 0. R, Minutes of the Corresponding Committee, May 26th, 1858

59 Stock - History of the C, M, 8, v 3 p 324
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area.6o _

Apart from the British and Foreign Bible Society and the
.S. P. C. K,, which supplied textbooks amd éopies.of the scriptures, the
only other Anglican missionary society which took part in the work of
Indian missions was the S, P, G, In 1862 they unde;took to pay for the
work of the Rev, Thomas Cook who éstablished a station at Fert Ellice or
Beaver Creek,él During the summer of 1850 the Rev., William Cockran had
paid a visit to this spot in an effort to establish a C., M, S. mission
tut he had met with no sucecess, In the succeeding years a few settlers
had begun to appear in the distriect and the Metis, Rev, T, Cook, was
appoinbed to minister to the Iﬁdians, half-breeds, and the few English
of the district,>? | | |

In all of this missionary extension Bishop Anderson played an
essential role a8 the guiding force and the suppert;withoui which the
.efferts of individuals would fail, Throughout his episcopate the Indian
missi;ns were the work nearest to his heért. In his first letter to the
C. M. 8. from Rupert's Land he had said that, "to the Indians especially
I feel that'I'am_sent."63 His subsequent interest in, and work for
them, bore out the truth of this assertion,

At the first meeting of the Corﬁeéponding Committee conducted by

Bishop Anderson's successor, Robert Machray, a minute was passed recording

60. Ibid p 325
6l. Pascoe - S, P. G, Digest p 179
62, Ibid

63, Intelligencer December 1849 p 177



‘their %ecognition of Bishop Anderson's contributiqn te the work of
Indian missions, :

#The Committee desire to place on record their deep sense of the
devotion with which the late Bishop of Rupert's Land laboured for the
cause of Christ in this Diocese, But more specially they wish to express
gratitude for the warm interest he took in the Missions of this Society
and for the untiring love with which he exerted himself on their behalf.
Mainly by his efforts the Society has been induced to extén& their

Missions till they'have reached their preseni;Magnitudeo-“é4
B _~ FDUCATION

When the Rey, David Jones established the Red River Academy in 1833
there existed in Rupert's Land what could be described as a backlog of
students for such an institutionm. Moreover the isolation of the
Settlement served as a guarantee that prospective students in the country
were not likely to go elsewhere unless their parents could afford to
accompany them. As the years progressed however, the supply of students
began to diminish. This was so becsuse the initial baeklog of pupils
was soon drained off,and also because of the lack of suitable openings
in the territory which required people with the type of higher education
offered by the Academy.

At the same time, that income was falling, expenses were gradually
rising and in March 3848 John Macallum made a dismal forecast for the
future of his school. "Even at present the receipts border so closely

on the line of expenditure, that I recently predicted to my friend,

-

6. S. 0. Ry Minutes of thelcorresponding Committee, December 28th,
1865.
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Mi». Finlayson, that 1849 would probablj toll the funeral knmell of the
establishment ,#03

October 5th 1849 tolled the funeral knell, if not of the
establishment, at least of its proprietor, According to his wishes
Macallum's executors offered the establishment first of all to Bishop
Arderson who felt impelled to accept. In his first Charge delivered on
December 27th 1851 the Bishop referred to his acquisition with obvious
enthusiasm, "To it in anticipation of the future, I have given the
name of St. John's Collegiate Scheol. . o after the apostle of whom we
think today.“66

Under Mr. and Mrs, Macallum the boys% and girls'! departments had
been conducted conjointly at the Academy, Owing to the suggestions of
parents: an@ the diseiplinary problems experienced, in recent years with
the girls' department, Bishop Anderson decided to temporarily suspend ite
operation until such time as he could arrange to set it up as a separate
institution, During the interval at least two of the girls were senl out
to board and pursue their studies elsewhere.k On Ocbober 26th the Rev,
Reobert Hunt wrote in higs diary that his wife was going to "recelve two
young ladies into our house to board and instruct them at the Bishop'!s
request, they having been at Mr, McAllum's school and his Lordship not
knowing what else to do with them,"®7
With the help of Macallum's former assistant, Mr, Lumsden, the

Bishop carried on the boys' department until the arrival ef Mr, Pridhanm

65, P, A, B, C, ROSS LETTERS D. Ross from Rev, J., Macallum, Mareh 15th,
1848

66, Bishop Anderson Charges and Sermons - Primary Charge p 42

67. R. L. D. &, - Hunt Diary, October 26th, 1849.
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in 1850. He‘then acquired the large stone house which the Rev,
William Cockran had built at St, John's and in it in the following year,
with Mrs, Mills as headmistress, he eéened St. Cross Ladies' Schoeol,

The Bishop pursued a vigorous poligy with regard to édueation in
his fwo schoéls and taught many classes himself, He offered scholerships
and collected a Diocesan library in comnection with 8t. John's. Just
before his visit to England he organized a board of Trustees for St. John's
as guardians of the propsrty and the Biocesan'library.68 But all his
efforts were in vain apd the institutions steadily diminished in size amd
strength,

As the colony steadily emergéd from its former isolation those who
could afford to séﬁﬁ their children to sﬁch schools as St, John's and St,
Cross, began to take advantage of the improving means of commnication |
Aénd sént their children to better equipped schools in Ganada.69 At
the same time the fur trade was waning in the territory and the opportun-
ities of employment for educated people werellessening with it,
Unconscliously er otherwise, the Bishop also aggraﬁated the situation by
making St, John's into a C. M. S..School. Probably with the best of
intentions he introduced annual C, M, S. scholarships into the schooi and
admitted Metis and Indian students to St. John's for both academic and
theological training., But whken Johes had established the school one of

the reasons for its immediate success had been his recognition of the

68, Bishop Anderson - Charges and Sermons -~ Third Charge p 44

69, Bishop Anderson - Charges and Sermons - Fourth Charge =p 49
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class prejudices and distinctions which existed in the country. In his
proposals to Governor vSimps'en, Jones specifically stated that the school
vas to be completely independent of the C., M. S. and. open for the sons
of the gentlemen of the fur‘ tral.de,.’m. Since Jones mde the proposals
at the instigation of the gentlemen af ‘Fert Garry it was evident that
these were reasons why many of them refuged to patronise the mixed school
begun by West., It was noﬁ likely that these ﬁnejudices had died cut‘ by
the time that Bishop Anderson assumed the proprietorship of the Academy.
| The combination of these factors with the opening of river navigation
by the Angon Northup in 1859 resulted in the closing of 8t, John's for
the remainder of the Bishop‘s epiéeopat_e.
With regard to the other schools of t-he Settlement, they were
operated on the model of the English parish schools. The textbooks
"were published by the S. P. C. K., and were the same as those used inm
England at that time."7l These schools offered an elementary instruetion
in"the thi'ee r'e" to which were added copious amounts of the Bible ami
the Ghur.cﬁ Gatqchism. The majority of these schools received considerable
support from the C. M. S., but even with this help, such education,
because of the scattered nature of the Settlements was more expensive
than it ought to have been,
_ ‘Bishop Anderson summed up the situation very well in his Primary
Charge. "To the schools of the settlement I bear willing and conscientious

testimony, They are very numerous, more so than the population would

70. P, A&, M. Copy of a letter from Rev, D. Jones to George Simpson Bsq.,
May 8th, 1832

71. Garrioch - First Furrows p 129
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require, were it not that the houses are built only on the bank of;\ the
river and chiefly on one side. 4 sélid, substantial, and scriptural
education is thus affordéd. There is no excuse for any child growing up
without instrﬁction as in each school there is a properiion of free
scholars, through the liberality of the Church Missionary Society. w’?
This situation contimmed to be substanﬁially true throughout the
entire period in which the church parish \schodl' system was in vogue in

the eountry and Bishop Anderson did nothing to disturb it.

T2 Bishop Anderson - Charges and Sermons - Primary Charge p 41
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| CONCLUSION

Bishop!s Anderson's work as the first Lord Bishop of
Rupert!s Land was not spectacular, but 1t was constructive and
1aid a sound basis for his successors., Under his guidance the
various parish records of vital statistics were collected and
filed, and the church services and buildings of the Diocese
were regularized according to the laws of the Qhurch of England,
On the vexed question of the Presbyterian claims to the Upper
Church and property, he bore the brunt of the battle for the
Anglicans and finally succeeded in hammering out a compromisé°
Amidst many difficulties and discouragements he succeeded in
erecting Rupert!s Land!s first Cathedral of}St. John, Due.
largely to his driving energy the missionary efforts of his
Church were extended until they reached the Arctic Circles
The Diocese which contained five clergy when he arrived was
left with twenty-three, the majority of whom were engaged in
the work of Indian Missions.

In thé realm of self=-support, despite his earnest efforts,
he was less successful. With the Indian missions self-support
was obviously impossible for the Indian had to be supplied with
everything when he decided to offer himself as a candidate for
civilization, Bub whether in the Indian mission or the Red
River parish, the missiqnary simply did not have time to both
produce his livelihood by labour and carry out his spiritual

duties as a clergyman. To make up for the latk of the former he
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required money wherewith to purchase his supplies. At this
time there was very little money circulating in the country
and it was scarcely possible or practical to transport con-
tributions &n kind from a Red River parish to an Indian
mission.

Then Bishop Anderson entered the Red River in 1849
Rupert's Land's only institution of higher learning was about to
close ité doors. Due almost entirely to the efforts of his
Lordship the Academy was revived as St. John's Collegiate
School and St. Cross Ladies School, and did useful work in
the country for another ten years., To encourage education he
enlarged the number of subjects studied at 3t. John's by the
addition of various languages, and several branches of higher
mathematics. He offered two scholarships anmually and urged‘
his brighter pupils to go abroad and to.take university train-
ing if possible., He formed a reading club and began the for-
mation of a library which was originally intended as a collége
library, But all was in vain. Even the formation of a Board
of Trustees for St. John's failed to create a broad enough
basis of desire and interest and in 18869 St. John'é closed
its doors for the first time.

In the social 1ife of the colony the Bishop played
the role of a man of peace., This did not mean that he shrank
from danger or force but that he believed more in the use of

. reason and understanding. In matters of morality he crusaded

strongly against the excessive importation of liquor from the



United States. But at the same time he did not allow the
fact of such importation to blind him to the great value of the
rapid communications which were possible by that route. 1In the
Council he was a consistent supporter of the use of the United
States route for mailé° |

The limitations under which he labored were much more
those of time and place than those of personal abilities or
shortcomings. When he reached the Settlement in 18L9 he found
a community almost completely cut off from the rest of the
" world, The arts and crafts of civilization were not yet
essential for exisience and in consequence they had but lightly
touched many éf the inhabitants of the land. The buffalo con~
tinued to roam the plains and squatters! rights were thé order

of the day. By 186l North-West America was a world wide topic

of interest, a place to be visited by scientists and adventurers.

International Financiers were speculating on the possibilities
of its development. The railway race across the country was
inevitable to the minds of inquiring observers, The fifteen

years of Bishop Andersont's episcopate covered the greater part

of the period of transition from the virtual end of the fur trade

monopoly in 18L9, to the entry of the Province of Manitoba in-

to Confederation. That Bishop Anderson could plgy a constructive

role during such a period of change and instability was a mark

of his true stature as a man.
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When he left Red River in 186l hundreds of people were
present to bid him farewell, Had the Rev, Robert Hutst witnessed
the occasion and heard the comments he might wéil have made
another entry in his diary similar to that which he made about
John Macallum in 18L9: "I never knéw a man more generally

beloved, "
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APPENDIX B

DEACONS AND PRIESTS

ORDAINED BY BISHOP DAVID ANDERSON 1849 - €4

~ Deacon

Priest. .

JOHN CHAPMAN

December 23,‘18h9‘

St., Andrewls Church

December 22, 1850
St. Andrew!s Church

HENRY BUDD (Sr.)

December 22, 1850
St. Andrew’ls Church

July 10, 1853 »
Christ Church,Cimberland

W. H. TAYLOR

December 22, 1850
S$t. Andrew?!s Church

THOMAS COCKRAN

June 6, 1852
St. Andrew!s Church

December 25, 1853
St. John's Church

JOHN HORDEN

August 22, 1852
Moose Factory

August 2L, 1852
Moose Factory

ROBERT McDONALD

December 19, 1852
' 8t., Andrew's Church

June 5, 1853
8t., Andrewl!s Church

JAMES SETTEE December 25, 1853 January 1, 1856
St. John's Church St., John's Church
WILLIAM MASON June 29, 1854 July 25, 185k,
St. John's Church St. John's Church
WILLIAM STAGG June 29, 185k December 2k, 1854,
St. John's Church St. John!s Church
W. W. KIRKBY December 2k, 1854 January 1, 1856
St. John!s Church "St., John!s Church
HENRY GEORGE January 1, 1856 June 1, 1856

St. John's Church

St. John!s Church
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APPENDIX B

DEACONS AND PRIESTS

ORDAINED BY BISHOP DAVID ANDERSON 1849 - 64

Deacon

Priest

T. H. FLEMING

1857
A1l Saints?! Derby,Eng.

July 11, 1860
Moose Factory

HENRY COCHRANE

August 1, 1858
St. John's Church

December 27, 1859
St. Andrew!s Church

JOSEPH PHELPS
GARDINER

August, 1, 1858,
St. John's Church

August 8, 1858,
St. John!s Church

THOMAS VINCENT

July 11, 1860
Moose Factory

May 26, 1863
St. John's Cathedral

T. T. SMITH May 17, 1860. July 21, 1861
St. John's Church St. Andrewls Church
July 21, 1861 May 26, 1863

THOMAS COOK

St. Andrew!s Church

St. Johnts Cathedral

" HENRY BUDD ( JR )

July 21, 1861
St. Andrew!s Church

May 26, 1863
St, Johnls Cathedral

J. A. MACKAY

May 29, 1862
St. Paulls

1864

ROBERT PHAIR

1864
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